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Sales Network
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An Extensive Network Capturing Growing Opportunities In China

The Group's sales points span the whole nation, with footprints in all major cities such as Beijing, Shanghai,
Chongqing, Tianjin, Guangzhou, Hong Kong and Macau. The extensive network enables the Group to efficiently
respond fo customer needs and deepen its market penefration in China.

As at 31 December 2024, the Group had a total of 811 refail outlets, comprising 671 concessionary counters and
140 refail shops in the Chinese Mainland, Hong Kong and Macau.
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Financial Highlights
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Corporate Information
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Directors and Board Committees

Directors

Executive Directors

NGOK Ming Chu (Chairman)

CHENG Pik Ho Lliza (Chief Executive Officer)
CHENG Chuen Chuen

LU Qun

Independent Non-Executive Directors

CHAN Chi On (alias, Derek Chan)
LAU Siu Ki (alias, Kevin Lau)

LEE Kwan Hung (alias, Eddie Lee)
EET. S. (olias, Lee Tiensheng)

Board Committees

Audit Committee

LAU Siu Ki (alias, Kevin Lau) (Chairman)
CHAN Chi On (alias, Derek Chan)
EET. S. (olias, Lee Tiensheng)

Remuneration Committee

LEE Kwan Hung (alias, Eddie lee) (Chairman)
CHENG Pik Ho liza

LAU Siu Ki (alias, Kevin Lau)

EET. S. (alias, Lee Tien-sheng)

Nomination Commitiee

LEET. S. (alias, Lee Tiensheng) (Chairman)
CHENG Pik Ho Lliza

LAU Siu Ki (alias, Kevin Lau)

LEE Kwan Hung (alics, Eddie Lee)

Compliance Officer
CHUNG King Yeung

Company Secretary
SO Ka Man

Registered Office

Cricket Square

Hutchins Drive

P. O. Box 2681

Crand Cayman KY1-1111
Cayman lIslands

Head Office And Principal Place

of Business
7th Floor, VWyler Centre |l
200 Tai Lin Pai Road
Kwai Chung, New Territories
Hong Kong
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Corporate Information (Continued)
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Principal Bankers

Hang Seng Bank Limited

Hang Seng Bank (China) Limited

Nanyang Commercial Bank, Limited

The Hongkong and Shanghai Banking Corporation Limited
HSBC Bank (China) Company Limited

Bank of China Limited

China Construction Bank Corporation

China Merchants Bank Co., lid.

Legal Advisers

As to Hong Kong law:
Chiu & Partners

As to PRC law:

GFE Law Office
Grandall Law Firm (Jinan)
Zhong Lun Law Firm

Auditor

Ernst & Young
Certified Public Accountants and
Registered Public Inferest Entity Auditor

Share Registrars

Principal Share Registrar and Transfer Office in the Cayman Islands
Suntera (Cayman) Limited

Suite 3204, Unit 2A

Block 3, Building D

P.O. Box 1586

Gardenia Court

Camana Bay

Grand Cayman KY1-1100

Cayman Islands

Branch Share Registrar and Transfer Office in Hong Kong
Tricor Investor Services Limited

17/F, Far East Finance Centre

16 Harcourt Road

Hong Kong

Investor Relations
iPR Ogilvy Limited

Website

www.embrygroup.com

Stock Code
1388
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Optimise sales network and step up efforts in
rationalising retail outlets to enhance

operational efficiency
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Chairman’s Statement
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Cautiously respond to market changes and continue to adopt

a diverse, anda multi-platform

promotional strategy, gradually
enhancing consumer awareness of

our brands
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To All Shareholders,

On behalf of the Board of Directors of Embry Holdings Limited, |
hereby present the audited annual results for the year ended 31

December 2024 ("the Current Year”).

The year 2024 presented an infricately complex international
landscape, characterised by subdued momentum in global
economic growth, escalating geopolitical conflicts, and  infensifying
frade protectionism. The world economy remained enfrenched in a
cyclical adjustment phase. We saw insufficient effective demand
domestically, transitional challenges in the shift between traditional
and emerging growth drivers and operational difficulties faced by
cerfain enterprises. Confronted with the complexity of increasing
external pressures and infernal challenges, the Chinese government
proactively implemented a coordinated suite of policies, resulting in
a susfained overall stable economic performance. According to the
National Bureau of Stafistics, China’s gross domestic product (GDP)
increased by 5.0% in 2024. Although China’s GDP fulfilled the

official economic growth target driven by export growth and stimulus
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Chairman’s Statement (Continued)
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NGOK Ming Chu
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Chairman of the Group
TEEXE

measures, the issue of uneven economic development remained
severe. Domestic consumption and real estate market continued to
weaken, slowing the overall economic recovery. Due fo insufficient
internal consumption momentum, which has posed considerable
impact on the operating environment for retailers of sub-essential
underwear products.

The Group cautiously responded to market changes and continued
fo adopt a diverse, and multi-platform promotional strategy in 2024,
gradually enhancing consumer awareness of its brands. During the
Current Year, the Group precisely allocated resources, focusing
on the in-depth operation of social media channels. This approach
achieved high-frequency brand exposure across major social
media platforms. The Group maintained its celebrity endorsement
strategy, leveraging celebrity influence fo atfract younger consumer
demographics through collaborations with youthful brand
spokespersons. To complement its multi-channel marketing efforts,
the Group actively organised themed pop-up events offline and
livestreaming campaigns online, which further promoted the brand
image, elevated brand reputation, and ultimately boosted product
sales.
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Chairman’s Statement (Continued)

5 A E o)

bhb

=)

At the same time, the Group has strengthened the positioning of
its brands to target different segmented markets to fulfil the needs
and preferences of varying cusfomer groups. The Group operates
a total of seven brands, including flagship brand EMBRY FORM,
young and energetic brand FANDECIE, functional brand COMFIT,
online brand E-BRA, men’s underwear brand IVU, offline wholesale
brand IADORE and luxury brand LIZA CHENG. In line with the trend
of the continuous market demand for sustainable green concepts
and China Chic products, the Group has confinued fo optimise ifs
production technology and product designs to meet the changing
needs of the market and consumers.

In 2024, the Group continued fo opfimise and enhance ifs sales
network, and stepped up efforts in rationalising retail outlefs to
enhance operational efficiency. By capitalising on the growth
opportunities in online sales, the Group actively expanded its online
shopping presence fo enhance the overall operational efficiency of
the sales network. The Group strategically adjusted its store network
and appropriately integrated the proportion of online and offline
sales fo achieve opfimal sales channel coverage. There was a nef
decrease of 196 retail outlets for the Current Year, with the network
covering a number of key provinces and cities across China, and
811 refail outlets with better sales performance were retained.

For Current Year, the Group recorded revenue of HK$1,152,570,000
and loss aftributable to owners of the Company of approximately
HK$373,435,000. Excluding the nonecurring, unrealised, and non-
cash items of the Group totalling approximately HK$245,612,000,
the operating loss before tax for the Current Year amounted to
approximately HK$122,924,000.

The board of directors has resolved not to recommend the payment
of a final dividend in view of the uncerfain economic outlook. The
Company believes that this measure is a prudent and responsible
means of preserving cash for the longterm financial health of the
Group.

Llooking ahead to 2025, the global economy is expected to remain
under adjustment pressures. The sluggish property market of China,
coupled with uncerfain economic prospects, confinues fo weigh on
consumer confidence, while broader macroeconomic weakness is
anticipated to persist. Therefore, the Group maintains a conservative
outlook towards the overall economic situation in the Chinese
Mainland and predicts that the growth rafe of the underwear indusiry
in general will be limited in 2025.
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Chairman’s Statement (Continued)
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Since 2024, a rafional approach to consumption has become an
enduring market norm. Moving forward, the Group will adopt a
prudent approach and pay close affention to market frends in terms
of product designs, production technology, marketing and sales
channels so as to align itself with consumers’ rational approach
fo consumption, with emphases placed on quality, functions and
appearance, and green and sustainable consumption. The Group
will press on with the existing multi-brand strategy, continue fo
explore different market segments, actively implement the sales
strategy cenfred on consumers and market demand, closely follow
the pace of changes in domestic consumption patterns, adjust the
number of offline stores in a timely manner, save costs to vigorously
develop online sales channels, step up interactive publicity on
social media, actively promote fraffic monetization, and capitalise
on the e-<commerce trend to drive the online sales of its brands.
Through its youth-oriented spokesperson brand strategy, the Group
aims fo broaden its consumer base and further increase product
sales volumes. In terms of production, the Group will leverage the
advantages of resource deployment through ifs self-production and
self-distribution model as well as the ancillary logistics facilities of
infelligent warehouses for finished goods and materials to enhance
production and logistics efficiency, and actively optimise its supply
chain. Adhering to the commitment to quality, the Group will
continue to adopt a flexible and effective multi-brand strategy to
respond tfo the everchanging market, and strive o create long-term
value for shareholders through the prudent and effective allocation of
resources.

| would like to take this opportunity to thank the Board of Directors
and all our employees for their contribution and efforts made during
this challenging year and continuing to walk hand in hand with the
Group. | would also like to express my gratitude to our shareholders
and business pariners for their trust and support. In order to thank
shareholders for their trust in us, the Group will continue to make
its best endeavours to creafe greater values for its shareholders,
customers, employees and business pariners, stepping forward fo a
brighter future together.

Ngok Ming Chu

Chairman

28 March 2025
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Develop
new patented
products,

optimise the diversity,
adaptability and cost-
performance of products to
cater to increasingly diversified
consumer demands
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Management Discussion and Analysis

BB W e B

Business and Operations Review

The year 2024 presented an infricately complex international
landscape, characterised by subdued momentum in global
economic growth, escalating geopolitical conflicts, and infensifying
frade protectionism. The world economy remained enfrenched in a
cyclical adjustment phase. We saw insufficient effective demand
domestically, transitional challenges in the shift between traditional
and emerging growth drivers, and operational difficulties faced by
certain entferprises. Confronted with the complexity of increasing
external pressures and infernal challenges, the Chinese government
proactively implemented a coordinated suite of policies, resulting in
a sustained overall stable economic performance. According fo the
National Bureau of Stafistics, China’s gross domestic product (GDP)
increased by 5.0% vyear on year in 2024, achieving the official
economic growth farget.
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Management Discussion and Analysis (Continued)

Although China's GDP delivered strong performance driven by
export growth and stimulus measures, the issue of uneven economic
development remained severe. Domestic consumption and real estate
market continued to weaken, slowing the overall economic recovery.
In 2024, the tofal retail sales increased by 3.7% year on year. While
the consumption recovery trend stabilised, it progressed more slowly
than market expectations. In terms of goods consumption, the second
half of the year saw notable boosts from policy effects. However,
under economic downward pressure, retail formats became distinctly
divided. Traditional physical department sfores and brand specialty
stores did not benefit from this trend, with their retail sales declining
by 2.4% and 0.4% year on year, respectively. Due to insufficient
infernal consumption momentum, consumers remained conservative
in their spending, leading to more rational spending behaviour. The
concept of "good yet affordable” — a new valueformoney standard
— haos become cenfral to purchasing decisions, which has posed
considerable impact on the operating environment for retailers of sub-
essential underwear products.

For the year ended 31 December 2024 (the "Current Year"),
the Group's revenue amounted to HK$1,152,570,000 (2023:
HK$1,281,753,000), and loss attributable to owners of the
Company amounted to approximately HK$373,435,000 (2023:
HK$72,168,000). Excluding non-recurring, unrealised, and non-
cash items of the Group, including, among others, provision for
impairment of property, plant and equipment, changes in fair value
of properties, impairment of other assets, provision for impairment
of right-of-use assets totalling approximately HK$245,612,000,
the operating loss before tax of the Company for the Current
Year amounted to approximately HK$122,924,000 (2023:
HK$88,104,000). loss per share was HK88.40 cents (2023:
HK17.08 cents).

The board of directors has resolved not fo recommend the payment
of a final dividend in view of the uncertain economic outlook. The
Company believes that this measure is a prudent and responsible
means of preserving cash for the longterm financial health of the
Group.
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Management Discussion and Analysis (Continued)

Brand management

In 2024, the Group continued to make good use of the advantages
of its multi-brand strategy and adjusted marketing arrangements in
response to market demand for its seven brands, namely EMBRY
FORM, FANDECIE, COMFIT, E-BRA, IVU, IADORE, and LIZA
CHENG. The Group caters to the segmented market by highlighting
its brands' unique personalities to meet the needs and preferences
of various customer groups. The Group enhanced its brand
competitiveness and expanded its market share while consolidating
its flagship brand, EMBRY FORM, which contributed the maijority of

sales.

In terms of brand promotion, the Group continued to adopt a
diverse, multi-platform promotional strategy in 2024, gradually
enhancing consumer awareness of its brands. During the Current
Year, the Group precisely allocated resources, focusing on the
in-depth operation of social media channels. This approach
achieved high-requency brand exposure across major social media
platforms. The Group also maintained ifs celebrity endorsement
strategy, leveraging celebrity influence fo attract younger consumer
demographics through collaborations with youthful brand
spokespersons. To complement its multi-channel marketing efforts, the
Group actively organised “Elegance Through Time (B 42 BB )"
themed pop-up events offline and livestreaming campaigns online,
which further promoted the brand image, elevated brand reputation,
and ultimately boosted product sales.

In support of China’s strategy to achieve the goals of “carbon
peaking” and “carbon neutrality”, and to demonstrate its green and
healthy brand image, the Group organised multiple “Blue Ribbon
Salon livestream (E&44T5/DBEEHE)" events during the year. These
evenfs aimed fo raise awareness of women's health and solidify
its positioning as the “preferred brand for green, healthy, and
high-quality underwear (4 BREESmELS KB ERME)".
In addition, remaining frue to its original mission and upholding
the “green, low carbon” and “sustainable” brand concepts, the
Group hosted the 22nd Eco Month activities and launched the
Eco Month product series, taking concrete actions fo promote
energy conservation and emission reduction. Meanwhile, the
Group initiated the “Butterfly Habitat (4 2 # 8 #h)" conservation
campaign, encouraging consumers fo reduce carbon emissions,
reinforcing the brand’s commitment to environmental and health-
conscious values.
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Management Discussion and Analysis (Continued)

Amid the consumer wave of the new era, China Chic has risen as
a pivotal market force with unstoppable momentum, showcasing
the unique charm of Chinese culture and igniting consumption
enthusiasm among younger generations. In alignment with this trend,
the Group reintroduced ifs “Xi le Jia An (88442 % )" product series
inspired by the fraditions of Chinese fesfivals and weddings. By
combining high-quality products with traditional oriental aesthetics,
the Group created the brand value of EMBRY FORM in a China

Chic style, resulting in strong market resonance.

Sales network

In 2024, the Group continued to optimise its sales network, and
stepped up its efforts in rationalising retail outlets to enhance
operational efficiency. As of 31 December 2024, the Group had
811 refail outlets in total, including 671 concessionary counters and
140 retail stores, representing a net decrease of 196 retail outlets
as compared fo the end of 2023. The Group seized the opportunity
in online sales, and actively explored and developed the online
shopping market fo improve the overall operational efficiency of its
sales network. The Group strategically adjusted its sfore network and
appropriately integrated the proportion of online and offline sales o
achieve optimal sales channel coverage.

During the Current Year, the Group continued to operate online
mirror sfores with product information synchronised with the physical
refail stores, achieving mutual empowerment of online and offline
channels to drive traffic. This approach eliminated competition
between physical and online stores, and also provided a convenient
alternative consumption channel. The closed loop operation
helped optimise the deployment of store inventory and inventory
management.
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Management Discussion and Analysis (Continued)

Product design, research and development

The Group has always been committed to excellent product quality
and comfortable wearing experience. To meet consumer demand
for environmentally friendly and lightweight underwear products, the
Group continued to upgrade product designs and source suitable
materials while ensuring a comfortable fit and design. The Group
has also continued fo use green, environmentally friendly, and non-
polluting raw materials, committing fo sustainable development at
the source of production.

Due to shifts in market conditions, the Group further intensified
the development of products for online shopping during the year
by optimising the diversity, adaptability and cost-performance of
products, thereby tapping info younger consumers market and
driving steady growth in ecommerce sales. To cater to increasingly
diversified consumer demands, the Group exfensively developed
functional fabrics for product applications, keeping on the
development of new patented core competitive products. In the
increasingly refined segments of the underwear market, the Group
strived fo maintain its leading position in the highly competitive
market.

During the Current Year, the Group launched a full range of popular
new collections, including: EMBRY FORM's “Miss Embry 2024" and
"Peace Year after Year (%22 )"; FANDECIE's "Cat and Bowknot
(SHELMIURAS )" and “Super lucky (BBARATIE)"; COMFITs "Elegant
(FE4L)": LIZA CHENG's "Glamourous Radiance (828 & 7t ¥ )" and
“Luminous Softness (FFt )" E-BRA’s "Oriental Affection (B =
87" IADORE's "Cloud Comfort (EREEETF)": and IVU's "U-Choice
for Business Travellers (F Ak UEE)".

Meanwhile, the Group advocates for environmentally sound
production processes while prioritising the health, comfort, and eco-
friendliness of its products for women. The Group has continued to
strengthen the research and development of its green products, and
launched new collections during the Current Year, with bio-based,
environmentally friendly materials used for underwear shoulder
straps, as well as zerocarbon fabrics and bamboo fibers. These
materials reduced the use of the byproducts from petroleum refining,
indirectly contributing fo lower carbon dioxide emissions associated
with the refining process. The product series also demonstrated the
Group's commitment fo low-carbon, environmental practices.
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Management Discussion and Analysis (Continued)

i

o F

In 2024, the Group obtfained 24 new patents in China, including
14 uility model patents, @ design patents, and 1 invention patent.
As at 31 December 2024, the Group had a fofal of 138 patents,
including 82 utility model patents, 13 invention patents and 43
design patents.

Production capacity

The Group operates its own production bases in Jinan, Shandong
Province, and Changzhou, Jiangsu Province, with the Shandong
plant equipped with intelligent warehouses for finished goods
and materials. In response to market changes, the Group carefully
analysed sales data and market trends to adjust production volume,
maximising production efficiency and enhancing supply chain
responsiveness.

To achieve sustainable development, the Group’s Shandong
Industrial Park prioritises low-carbon operations and environmental
responsibility at the source. The industrial park utilises geothermal
energy fo fap the renewable energy, and adopts energy efficient
features such as thermal insulation, energy-saving walls, and natural
lighting to further reduce the environmental impact. Besides, the
Group's proprietary packaging machines use degradable plastic
products fo minimise pollution.

Human resources

The Group understands that employees are one of the cornerstones
of the Group's operations. It not only trained its employees and
improved their welfare, but also reviewed the infernal management
culture from time fo time to enhance the sense of belonging among
the employees. Meanwhile, the Group also actively improved
production technology together with the ufilisation of automated
logistics system, improved the workflow of employees, and raised
production efficiency, so as to mitigate the pressure of overall cost
increase and improve operational efficiency.

As at 31 December 2024, the number of employees of the Group
was approximately 3,949 (2023: approximately 4,390). Total
staff cost (including wages and basic salaries, commissions,
bonuses, contributions to the retirement benefits scheme and share
option scheme but excluding directors” and chief executive's
remunerations) for the Current Year was HK$4 12,426,000 (2023:
HK$455,603,000).
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Management Discussion and Analysis (Continued)
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Financial Review

Revenue

During the Current Year, revenue was HK$1,152,570,000,
representing a decrease of 10.1% from that for the year ended 31
December 2023 (the “Prior Year”), and the Group's revenue from
Chinese Mainland market decreased by approximately 8.2% from
the Prior Year af constant exchange rates.

Revenue from retail sales for the Current Year was
HK$720,169,000, representing a decrease of 17.7% from the
Prior Year, accounting for 62.5% of the Group's total revenue. The
Group recorded an increase in sales on e-commerce platforms,
which increased by 8.6% year on year to HK$400,423,000 in
2024. lts contribution to total revenue rose from 28.8% in the Prior
Year to 34.7%. The increase was primarily driven by the Group's
enhanced e-commerce operations and improved supply chain
management. These improvements enabled the Group to rapidly
fulfil online orders, affracting and retaining customers effectively,
which resulted in revenue growth from internet sales.

The Chinese Mainland market is the main source of income for the
Group. During the Current Year, revenue from the mainland market
was HK$1,112,562,000, accounting for 96.5% of the Group's

total revenue.

Among the seven brands operated by the Group, EMBRY FORM, the
flagship brand, is the main source of income for the Group and its
contribution to the total revenue accounted for 61.9%. Revenue from
EMBRY FORM cmounted to HK$713,673,000, up by 0.6% from
that for the Prior Year. The combined revenues from other brands
FANDECIE, E-BRA, COMFIT, IVU, IADORE, and LIZA CHENG for
the Current Year amounted to HK$432,845,000, accounting for
37.6% of the total revenue.

Llingerie continues to be the core product line of the Group.
During the Current Year, sales of underwear amounted to
HK$983,396,000, representing 85.3% of the revenue of the
Group. Sales of sleepwear amounted to HK$ 124,780,000,
accounting for 10.8% of the revenue of the Group, while sales of
swimwear amounted to HK$22,384,000, accounting for 1.9% of
the revenue of the Group.
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Management Discussion and Analysis (Continued)
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Gross profit

During the Current Year, the Group recorded a gross profit of
approximately HK$848,674,000 (2023: HK$956,103,000),
representing a decrease of 11.2% from that for the Prior Year. This
decline was mainly affributable to a decrease of approximately
10.1% in the Group's revenue compared fo the Prior Year.
Consumers’ lack of confidence in the macroeconomic environment
resulted in depressed consumer senfiment and a cautious approach
fo spending. In the underwear segment, which is considered sub-
essential, various brands addressed market needs by offering
relatively large discounts. This led fo pressure on the average price,
resulting in a decrease in the unit price of sales as compared fo that
for the Prior Year. In the face of the decline in the average price,
the Group effectively controlled its production costs through various
measures, partially offsetting the negative impact of the decline in
the average price. As a result, the overall gross profit margin was
slightly down by 1 percentage point to 73.6% as compared fo that
in 2023.

Operating expenses

During the Current Year, the selling and distribution expenses
decreased by 7.7% year on year to HK$813,910,000 (2023:
HK$881,430,000), accounting for 70.6% (2023: 68.8%) of the
Croup's revenue. The decrease in expenses was mainly due fo
the decrease in the number of concessionary counters and retail
stores, resulting in a decrease in the related rental costs and wages
of sales staff. Nevertheless, the Group allocated more resources to
sales and marketing during the Current Year, namely by engaging
a spokesperson and organising promotional activities, with the aim
of enhancing the Group's brand awareness and driving the Group's
overall sales. In addition, the rafio of the selling and disfribution
expenses fo the overall sales increased during the Current Year due
to the lower sales performance.

Administrative expenses amounted to HK$159,813,000 (2023:
HK$175,268,000), representing a decrease of 8.8% from that for
the Prior Year, accounting for 13.9% (2023: 13.7%) of the Group's
revenue.

Other income

During the Current Year, the Group recorded other income of
approximately HK$21,840,000 (2023: HK$31,635,000), which
was mainly due to the decrease in government subsidy income fo

HK$2,636,000 (2023: HK$11,052,000).
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Management Discussion and Analysis (Continued)
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Impairment of property, plant and equipment

The Group has recorded a decline in revenue and losses for several
consecutive years due fo the domestic consumer sentiment and
fierce market competition in recent years. It is expected that the
intense market competition may persist for some time. The Group
adopted a conservative and cautious approach in assessing the
impairment of ifs property, plant and equipment and recognized an
impairment of its property, plant and equipment of approximately

HK$118,699,000 for the Current Year (2023 nil).

Changes in fair value of investment properties and impairment of other asset
Due fo the sluggish property markets in the Chinese Mainland and
Hong Kong in 2024 and with reference to the market price changes
of surrounding properties, there was a decrease in fair value of the
Group's investment properties located in two areas in the Chinese
Mainland, namely Shanghai and Changzhou; and Hong Kong with
an amount of approximately HK$69,380,000 for the Current Year
(2023: fair value gain of HK$889,000). In addition, the Group
also recognised an impairment of approximately HK$39,457,000
(2023: nil) with respect o the Group'’s other assef in Shenzhen,
the PRC, which is the right to receive the new properties due to the
relocation arangement in 2017.

Impairment of right-of-use assets and other expenses

The Group made provisions for impairment of right-of-use assets
in refail stores and concessionary counters of approximately
HK$18,076,000 for the Current Year (2023: HK$6,040,000).
Other expenses amounted to HK$1,415,000 (2023:
HK$4,697,000).
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Income tax

The Group recorded an income tax of approximately
HK$4,899,000 for the Current Year (2023: income tax credit
HK$21,087,000). In view of the domestic consumer sentiment and
fierce market competition in recent years as mentioned above, the
Group reversed the deferred tax assets associated with tax losses
recognised in previous years, expecting that it may not be probable
to utilise the tax losses carried forward in the near future. Therefore,
the Group reversed the deferred tax assets recognized in prior
years of approximately HK$28,000,000 during the Current Year,
resulting in a significant increase in income tax.

Loss

Loss affributable to owners of the Company was HK$373,435,000
for the Current Year (2023: HK$72,168,000). The increase in loss
was mainly due fo the aforementioned non-recurring, unrealised, and
non-cash ifems. However, these items do not have a direct impact
on the Company'’s cash flow and daily operations.

Excluding these items, which are provision for impairment of
property, plant and equipment, changes in fair value of properties,
impairment of other assets and provision for impairment of right-
of-use assets totalling approximately HK$245,612,000, the
Group recorded an operating loss before tax of approximately
HK$122,924,000 (2023: HK$88,104,000). This was attributable
fo a decrease in revenue of approximately 10.1% from that for the
Prior Year, a decrease in gross profit of HK$107,429,000, and
a decline in operating expenses that was less than the decrease in
revenue.

Liquidity and financial resources

The Group finances its operations mainly with infernally generated
cash flows. Financial position of the Group remained healthy during
the Current Year. As at 31 December 2024, the Group's cash and
cash equivalents amounted to approximately HK$ 163,434,000
(2023: HK$283,610,000). As at 31 December 2024, the
Group's interest-bearing bank and other borrowings amounted
fo HK$323,253,000 (2023: HK$288,312,000). As at 31
December 2024, equity atfributable to owners of the Company was
HK$1,722,552,000 (2023: HK$2,158,382,000). The gearing
ratio of the Group was approximately 18.8% (2023: 13.4%).
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Capital expenditure

During the Current Year, the capital expenditure of the Group
amounted fo HK$8,325,000 (2023: HK$27,660,000), which
was mainly used for external waterproofing renovation of the plant
in Shandong Province. As at 31 December 2024, the capital
commitments of the Group amounted to HK$102,346,000 (2023:
HK$105,725,000), which were contracted but not provided for in
the financial statements.

Charge on the Group's assets

As at 31 December 2024, the Group pledged Hong Kong
investment properties, buildings, and right-of-use assets with
net book values of HK$79,000,000, HK$2,310,000, and
HK$ 10,800,000, respectively, to banks to obtain loans.

Capital structure

As at 31 December 2024, the total issued share capital of
the Company was HK$4,224,000 (2023: HK$4,224,000),
comprising 422,416,638 (2023: 422,416,638) ordinary shares
of the par value of HK$0.01 each.

Significant investment held, material acquisitions and disposals of subsidiaries
and associate companies

During the Current Year, the Group was neither involved in any
significant investment, nor any material acquisitions or disposals of
any subsidiaries or associafe companies.

Foreign currency exposure

The Group carries out ifs fransactions mainly in Hong Kong dollars
and the Renminbi. The Group does not use derivative financial
instruments to protect against the volatility associated with foreign
currency transactions and other financial assets and liabilities
created in the ordinary course of the business.

Contingent liabilities

As at 31 December 2024, bank guarantees given in lieu of the
Croup's property rental deposits and utility deposits amounted fo
HK$646,000 (2024: HK$646,000). Save as disclosed above,
the Group had no other significant contingent liabilities, nor any
litigation or arbitration of material importance.
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PROSPECT

Llooking ahead to 2025, the global economy is expected to remain
under adjustment pressures, driven by elevated costs, high debt
levels, and rising profectionism. According to the World Economic
Outlook 2025, a report published by the International Monetfary
Fund (IMF), global economic growth is projected to remain subdued
at 2.6%. The postrecovery momentum of the global economy has
been weaker than anticipated, while the macroeconomic and policy
impacts of the new U.S. administration remain unclear, contributing
fo heightened policy uncertainty. Concurrently, ongoing global trade
fensions continue fo impose pressure on China’s economic revival.
Against this backdrop and in the absence of large-scale stimulus
measures, overall consumption in 2025 is expected fo experience
subdued growth.

While domestic consumption in Chinese Mainland may achieve
gradual recovery with policy support, the ongoing sluggish real
estate market and uncertain economic prospects have dampened
consumer confidence. The broader macroeconomic weakness
is likely to persist, resulting in an expected modest recovery
trajectory for consumption in 2025. Therefore, the Group adopts
a prudent outlook towards the underwear industry and maintains
a conservative outlook towards the overall economic landscape
in the Chinese Mainland in 2025. The Group will closely monitor
policy developments, capitalise on emerging policy benefits, and
adjust its strategic priorities flexibly fo strengthen resilience amid a
complicated and volatile economic environment.

Since 2024, a rational approach fo consumption has become an
enduring market norm. Moving forward, the Group will continve
to closely monitor market trends and holistically address consumer
demands for quality, functionality, aesthetics, and green sustainable
consumption across product design, production technologies,
marketing strategies, and sales channels. In 2025, the Group will
further intensify research and development of products exclusively for
online shopping, enhance market adaptability of the products, and
deepen collaborations with suppliers of low-carbon and ecofriendly
materials to advance the development of environmentally conscious
product lines. The Group aims to confinuously strengthen product
competitiveness with consumer demand and needs at the core
of its business. leveraging its decades-deep brand influence and
market expertise in China’s lingerie sector, the Group is confident in
navigating the current economic climate with agility and maintaining
its leading position in the indusiry.
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Management Discussion and Analysis (Continued)
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As consumer demands become increasingly diversified and
personalised, the Group expects the underwear market fo further
refine its market segments in 2025, necessitating greater investment
in product development and innovation to meet these diversified
needs. To this end, the Group will steadfastly implement its multi-
brand strategy, deepen its presence in distinct markef segments, and
actively execute consumer demand-driven sales strategies. Aligning
with evolving domestic consumption patterns, the Group will timely
optimise offline sfore networks to reduce operational costs, while
aggressively expanding online sales channels. Efforts will focus
on enhancing social media engagement, improving the quality of
digital content, and actively driving traffic monetisation to capitalise
on e-commerce platform advantages, thereby driving online sales
growth. Through its youth-oriented spokesperson brand strategy,
the Group aims to broaden its consumer base and further increase
product sales volumes. In terms of supply chain management, the
Group will further leverage the strengths of its self-production and
selfdistribution model. Supported by infelligent warehousing and
logistics systems, it will enhance production efficiency and order
fulfilment capabilities, continuously refine supply chain operations,
and mainfain agile responsiveness to market demands.

Adhering to its commitment to quality, the Group will continue to
adopt a flexible and effective multi-brand strategy to respond to
the everchanging market and strive to creafe long-term value for
shareholders through prudent and effective allocation of resources.
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Awards
A% JH
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According tfo the national retail consumption survey results released by the China National Commercial Information
Centre in 2024, EMBRY FORM lingerie ranked top three in 2023 in terms of composite market share in similar
products in the industry as well as with respect to group sales

Embry (China) Garments Ltd. was granted the award of National (Shenzhen) Excellent Enterprises with Foreign
Investment - Excellent Tax-Payment and Turnover (2023) by the China Association of Enferprises with Foreign
Investment and Shenzhen Association of Enferprises with Foreign Investment

Embry (China) Garments Ltd. was honoured as o Star Enterprise of High-quality Development in Luohu District
(2023-2024) by the People’s Government of Luohu District, Shenzhen

Embry (China) Garments Ltd. was awarded certificates of Leading Enterprise of Quality in National Garment
Industry, Leading Brand of Quality in National Garment Industry and Quality and Integrity Advocating
Enterprise by the China Association for Quality Inspection

Embry (China) Garments Ltd. was awarded a Certificate of Honour by the National Technical Committee on
Garment Standardisation in China as a Leading Entity of Standardisation Work in 2024
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Awards (Continued)
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4 Embry (China) Garments Ltd. was awarded a plaque of recognition by the Knitwear Branch of National Technical
Committee on Textile Standardisation and the Sportswear Branch of National Technical Committee on Sports Goods
Standardisation in China as a Leading Entity of Standardisation Work in 2024

4 Embry (Shandong) Garments Limited was listed by the Department of Industry and Information Technology of
Shandong Province as a Specialised, Advanced and Innovative Enterprise, Green Supply Chain Management
Enterprise and a Provincial Industrial Design Centre of Shandong Province in 2024

4 Embry (Shandong) Garments Limited was granted the awards of Outstanding Contribution Enterprise 2023, Top
Ten Taxpaying Enterprises in 2023 and Leading Entity in Production Safety 2023 by the Shengjing Sub-district
Party Committee of the Communist Party of China

4 EMBRY FORM received the Hong Kong Top Brand (2007-2024) award from the Hong Kong Brand Development
Council and The Chinese Manufacturers’ Association of Hong Kong

4 EMBRY FORM was awarded the Quality Tourism Services Scheme Certification Mark by the Hong Kong Tourism
Board

4 Embry (H.K.) Limited was accredited by the Mandatory Provident Fund Schemes Authority as o Good MPF
Employer
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Directors and Senior Management
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Executive Directors

Madam Ngok Ming Chu, aged 88, is the Chairman, an Executive
Director and a director of cerfain subsidiaries of the Company.
Madam Ngok served as Chairman of the Company from March
2014 1o August 2018 and has been reappointed as Chairman of
the Company since March 2022. Madam Ngok is in charge of the
Group's business planning. She joined the Group in 1980 and has
over 44 years of experience in the lingerie industry. Madam Ngok
graduated from and is currently an Honorary Professor of Beijing
Agricultural Engineering University [now known as China Agricultural
University). She is also a shareholder and a director of Teamway
Holdings Limited (a substantial shareholder of the Company) and
a director of Harmonious World Limited (a substantial shareholder
of the Company), the spouse of the late Mr. Cheng Man Tai (a
substantial shareholder of the Company), the mother of Ms. Cheng
Pik Ho Liza (the Chief Executive Officer and an Executive Director of
the Company) and the step-mother of Mr. Cheng Chuen Chuen (an
Executive Director of the Company).

Ms. Cheng Pik Ho Liza, aged 62, is the Chief Executive Officer,
an Executive Director and a member of both the Remuneration
Committee and Nomination Committee of the Company. She is
also a director of cerfain subsidiaries of the Company. Ms. Cheng
is responsible for the dayfo-day management of the businesses of
the Group. Ms. Cheng joined the Group in 1993 and has over
32 vyears of experience in the lingerie industry. She obtained a
Bachelor's degree in Business Administration from the University
of Southern California and a Master of Business Administration
(Executive) degree from the City University of Hong Kong. Ms.
Cheng was awarded the prize for Young Industrialist in Hong Kong
in 1999 and obtained the World Outstanding Chinese Award in
March 2009. Furthermore, Ms. Cheng was elected as the Honorary
Lifetime President of Shenzhen Underwear Association in March
2021. She is currently a member of the Yangpu Committee of the
Chinese People's Political Consultative Conference in Shanghai, a
member of the China National Textile and Apparel Council, a Vice
Chairman of China Knitting Industrial Association, a Vice President
of the China Association for Quality Inspection, an Executive
Council Member of China National Garment Association, a Vice
Chairman of Shanghai Garment Trade Association, a Vice President
of Shenzhen Garment Industry Association, and a Vice Chairman of
The Hong Kong General Chamber of Textiles Limited. Ms. Cheng
is also a director of Teamway Holdings Limited and Harmonious
World Limited (substantial shareholders of the Company), the
daughter of the late Mr. Cheng Man Tai (a substantial shareholder
of the Company) and Madam Ngok Ming Chu (the Chairman and
an Executive Director of the Company), and the younger sister of
Mr. Cheng Chuen Chuen [an Executive Director of the Company).
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Mr. Cheng Chuen Chuen, aged 75, is an Executive Director of the
Company and currently the Assistant General Manager (Research
and Development) of Embry (China) Garments Ltd. He first joined the
Group in May 2005 and has rejoined the Group since April 2017
He is in charge of the research and development centre of the
Group and is responsible for innovations of fechnologies, processes
and equipment for the production of products. Mr. Cheng has over
28 years of experience in technological research and development
in the manufacturing of display furniture, display dummies and also
garment processing. Mr. Cheng is the son of the late Mr. Cheng
Man Tai (a substantial shareholder of the Company), the step-son of
Madam Ngok Ming Chu (the Chairman and an Executive Director
of the Company| and an elder brother of Ms. Cheng Pik Ho Liza (the
Chief Executive Officer and an Executive Director of the Company).

Ms. Lu Qun, aged 71, is an Executive Director of the Company and
currently the Assistant General Manager (Strategic Management) of
Embry (China) Garments Lid. and the General Manager of Embry
(Shandong) Garments Limited. She is also a director of cerfain
subsidiaries of the Company. Ms. Lu is responsible for the funcfions
of strategic management and project management in the Chinese
Mainland. She joined the Group in April 2003 and has over 45
years of experience in management and administration. Ms. Lu
obtained a Master's degree in Business Administration from Beihang
University (previously known as Beijing University of Aeronautics and
Astronautics), the People’s Republic of China (the “PRC”), in 2001.
She has also obtfained an undergraduate diploma in international
trade from the University of International Business and Economics,
the PRC, in 1992. Ms. Lu completed a senior managers’
human resources management fraining course held by Tsinghua
University, the PRC, in 2006. She obtained the Infernational Project
Management Professional Certificate in 2002 and has been
accredited as a Certified Senior Project Manager (IPMA Level B)
since 2018. She was also qualified as a Professional of Carbon
Emission Management in the PRC in 2022.
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Independent Non-Executive Directors

Mr. Chan Chi On, dlias, Derek Chan, aged 61, is an Independent
Non-Executive Director and a member of the Audit Committee of
the Company. Mr. Chan has over 31 years of experience in the
financial services industry and is a co-author of a book on listing
procedures and securities rules and regulations in Hong Kong. Mr.
Chan graduated from the Hong Kong University of Science and
Technology with a Master's degree in Business Administration in
1994 and from The University of Hong Kong with a Bachelor's
degree in Social Sciences (majoring in Economics) in 1985.
Mr. Chan is currently the chairman of Halcyon Capital Limited
and Haleyon Securities Limited, which are principally engaged
in corporate finance and securities businesses in Hong Kong
respectively. He worked for The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong
Limited (the "Stock Exchange”) from 1989 to 1996 and was an
executive director of Haitong International Securities Group Limited
(the shares of which were delisted on the Stock Exchange in January
2024) and had been the head of its corporate finance division
for 16 years until the end of 2012. Mr. Chan is currently serving
as an independent non-executive director of Yuexiu REIT Asset
Management Limited (manager of Yuexiu Real Estate Investment
Trust, which is listed on the Stock Exchange). Mr. Chan is also an
independent non-executive director of Longfor Group Holdings
Limited and China Conch Venture Holdings Limited, the shares of
which are both listed on the Stock Exchange. Mr. Chan joined the
Company in May 2023.
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Mr. Lau Siu Ki, alias, Kevin Lau, aged 66, is an Independent
Non-Executive Director, the Chairman of the Audit Committee and
a member of both the Remuneration Commitlee and Nomination
Committee of the Company. Mr. Lau is currently running his own
management consultancy firm, Hin Yan Consultants Limited. Mr. Lau
has previously worked at an international accounting firm for over
15 years. He graduated from the Hong Kong Polytechnic (now
known as the Hong Kong Polytechnic University) in 1981. Mr. Lau
is a fellow member of both the Association of Chartered Certified
Accountants ["ACCA”") and the Hong Kong Institute of Certified
Public Accountants. He was a member of the worldwide Council of
ACCA from May 2002 to September 201 1. Mr. Lau is currently
the company secrefary of Yeebo (International Holdings) Limited,
Hung Fook Tong Group Holdings Limited and Expert Systems
Holdings Limited, and an independent non-executive director of
Binhai Investment Company Llimited, FIH Mobile limited and TCL
Electronics Holdings Limited, the shares of which are listed on
the Stock Exchange. He had been an independent non-executive
director of Comba Telecom Systems Holdings Limited and IVD
Medical Holding Limited, the shares of which are listed on the Stock
Exchange, until his resignation on 29 December 2023 and 28
March 2024 respectively. He had also been an independent non-
executive director of Samson Holding ltd, the listing of which was
withdrawn from the Stock Exchange from the close of business on 7
November 2024 and his resignation took effect on 31 December
2024. Mr. lau joined the Company in November 2006.

Mr. Lee Kwan Hung, dlias, Eddie Lee, aged 59, is an Independent
Non-Executive Director, the Chairman of the Remuneration
Committee and a member of the Nomination Committee of the
Company. Mr. lee is a consultant of Howse Williams. He received
his LL.B (Honours) degree and Postgraduate Cerfificate in Laws from
the University of Hong Kong in 1988 and 1989 respectively. He
was then admitted as a solicitor in Hong Kong in 1991 and in
England and Wales in 1997. Mr. lee is currently an independent
non-executive director of NetDragon Websoft Holdings Limited,
Newton Resources ltd, Tenfu (Cayman) Holdings Company Limited,
FSE Lifestyle Services Limited and Ten Pao Group Holdings Limited,
the shares of these companies are listed on the Stock Exchange. He
had been an independent non-executive director of Renze Harvest
Infernational Limited (formerly known as Glory Sun Financial Group
Limited) and Red Star Macalline Group Corporation lid., the shares
of which are listed on the Stock Exchange, until his resignation or
cessation of directorship on 17 July 2022 and 15 August 2023
respectively. Mr. Lee joined the Company in November 2006.
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Prof. Lee T. S., dlias, Lee Tien-sheng, aged 76, is an Independent
Non-Executive Director, the Chairman of the Nomination Committee
and a member of both the Audit Committee and Remuneration
Committee of the Company. Prof. lee is currently the Professor
Emeritus of the Department of Supply Chain and Information
Management of Hang Seng University of Hong Kong. He was
the Dean of the Faculty of Business Administration of The Chinese
University of Hong Kong from 2002 to 2008, Vice-President
(Academic & Research) of Hang Seng Management College from
2009 to 2014, the Head and Professor of the Department of Supply
Chain and Information Management of Hang Seng Management
College from 2009 to 2015 and a Chair Professor of Feng Chia
University, Taiwan from December 2015 to January 2019. Prof. lee
obtained his PhD in Business Administration and Master’s degree
in Business Administration from the University of Missouri-Columbia,
the United States in 1982 and 1978 respecfively. He also holds o
Master's degree in Management Science and a Bachelor's degree
in Electronic Engineering from the National Chiao Tung University
of Taiwan. Prof. lee’s research and teaching inferests include supply
chain management, quality management and business process
reengineering. He has published his research in many academic
journals. Prof. lee joined the Company in November 2006.

Senior Management

Ms. Law Yuk Ying, aged 45, is the Group Financial Confroller.
Ms. law is responsible for the supervision and management of the
Group's overall financial matters and invesfor relations. She joined
the Group in 2008 as the Group Accounting Manager and was
appointed fo the present position in 2019. Ms. law obtained a
Bachelor’s degree in Accountancy from The Hong Kong Polytechnic
University. She is a member of the Association of Chartered Certified
Accountants and Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants.
Ms. law previously worked at an international accounting firm and
has over 22 years of experience in auditing, financial accounting,
corporate investment and financing, as well as management.

Mr. Chung King Yeung, aged 58, is the Group Assistant Internal
Audit Director and is in charge of the internal audit functions of
the Group. Mr. Chung joined the Group in 2021 and has over
32 vears of experience in external audit, financial analysis and
internal audit. He obtained a Bachelor’'s degree in Economics from
la Trobe University, Australia, a Master’s degree in Business from
Monash University, Australia, and a Juris Doctor degree from The
Chinese University of Hong Kong. Mr. Chung is a CPA member of
the Certified Practising Accountants Australia and the Hong Kong
Institute of Certified Public Accountants.
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Corporate Governance Report

(o RRTE:

The Board and the management of the Company are committed
fo the maintenance of good corporate governance practices and
procedures. The Company believes that good corporate governance
provides a framework that is essential for effective management,
a healthy corporate culture, sustainable business growth and
enhancing shareholders’ value.

The Company has adopted the Corporate Governance Code (the
"CG Code") as contained in Appendix C1 to the Rules Governing
the Listing of Securities on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong
Limited (the “Stock Exchange”) (the “Listing Rules”) as its own code of
corporate governance practices.

In the opinion of the Directors, the Company had complied with all
code provisions under the CG Code so far as they are applicable
and a maijority of the recommended best practices under the CG
Code throughout the year ended 31 December 2024 (the “Review
Period”).

Corporate Culture

A healthy corporate culture set up by the Company, including
integrity and accountability, is vital for the Company to achieve its
vision and mission fowards sustainable growth. All Directors must
act with infegrity. It is the Board's role to lead by example, foster
and promote a corporate culture with core principles to guide the
behaviours of its employees, and ensure that the Company’s vision,
values and business strategies are aligned fo it.

Integrity underpins the behaviours of the Group’s employees in
working with each other and conducting business activities with
business partners. The Group’s Code of Ethics and Conduct has
defined the behavioural guidelines for its employees fo reinforce the
Group's values of acting lawfully, ethically and responsibly.

The culture of accountability begins from the strong leadership of the
Board, with delegation of authorities to its Board Committees, the
Chief Executive Officer, the management of the respective business
units, to every individual employee throughout the Group. With clear
objectives and goals set in business plans, budgets and forecast
authorised by the Board, augmented by open communication and
fair staff performance evaluation mechanisms, the management and
employees are committed to and accountable for achieving the
targets for the longterm success of the Company.
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Strategic Planning

The Board carries out ongoing comprehensive review of the
Group's formulation of business strategies and policies, which cover
positioning in major markefs and product lines, leading drivers of
change in the industry and markets, and development sirategies o
seize growth opportunities in the long run. Details of the Company’s
strategic priorities are available in the Chairman’s Statement and the
Management Discussion and Analysis sectfions of this Annual Report.
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GOVERNANCE STRUCTURE

BIRRM

Board of Directors
(4 Executive Directors
and 4 Independent
Non-Executive Directors)

Es=g
(MERITEER
MEBBIIFRITESE)

Remuneration Committee
(1 Executive Director
and 3 Independent

Non-Executive Directors)

eI
(—BRTEER
= BBIIFRTES)

Audit Committee
(3 Independent
Non-Executive Directors)

BEZZEY
(ZRBUFNTES)

Audit Centre
(Assistant Director — Infernal Audi)

Fitehd
(BB 5T BIAEER )
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Directors

Board Composition

The Directors place great emphasis on the fiduciary nature of
the Board's responsibilities and strive to be accountable to the
shareholders of the Company as a whole.

The Board currently comprises four Executive Directors, namely
Madam Ngok Ming Chu [Chairman), Ms. Cheng Pik Ho liza (Chief
Executive Officer], Mr. Cheng Chuen Chuen and Ms. lu Qun; and
four Independent Non-Executive Directors, namely Mr. Chan Chi
On, Mr. lau Siu Ki, Mr. lee Kwan Hung and Prof. lee T. S. The
number of Independent Non-Executive Directors represents half of
the Board. The biographical details of and relationships among
the members of the Board are disclosed under the section headed
"Directors and Senior Management” on pages 30 to 34 of this
annual report.

The Directors believe that the composition of the Board reflects the
necessary balance of skills and experience appropriate for the
requirements of the business development of the Group and for
effective leadership as all the Executive Direcfors possess exfensive
experience in management and the research and development,
design, production and marketing of underwear products while
the four Independent Non-Executive Directors possess professional
knowledge and broad experience in corporate finance, accounting,
law and management respectively. The Directors are of the opinion
that the present structure of the Board can ensure the independence
and objectivity of the Board and provide a system of checks and
balances to safeguard the interests of the shareholders and the
Company.

Board Diversity

A board diversity policy has been formulated by the Board setting
out the approach to maintaining a Board with a diversity of
directors. The Company recognises the benefits of diversity at the
Board level as an essential element in supporting its sustainable
development. All Board appointments will continue to be based
on meritocracy with due regard for the benefits of diversity on the
Board. Selection of candidates will be based on a range of diversity
perspectives, including but not limited to gender, age, cultural and
educational background, ethnicity, professional experience, skills,
knowledge and length of service. The ultimate decision will be
based on merits and contribution that the selected candidates will
bring to the Board.
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For the purpose of implementation of the board diversity policy, the
following measurable objectives were adopted:

e atfleast two members of the Board shall be female;

® at least one-third of the members of the Board shall be
Independent Non-Executive Directors;

®  af least one of the members of the Board shall have obtained
accounting or financial management related professional
qualifications and experience; and

*  af least 80% of the members of the Board shall have more than
20 vyears of experience in the industry he/she is specialised
in.

The Board is committed to further improving the diversity of the
Board as when suitable candidates are identified.

The Board has reviewed the implementation and effectiveness of the
board diversity policy and considered it to be effective for the year

ended 31 December 2024.

Gender Diversity

The Company values gender diversity across all levels of the Group.
The following table sefs out the gender ratio in the workforce of the
Group, including the Board and senior management as at the date
of this annual report:
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Female Male

g 5%

Board ==y 37.5% (3) 62.5% (5)

Senior Management ShEIEE 50% (1) 50% (1)

Other employees HEigs 02.9% (3,688) 7.1%1(282)

Overall workforce 2HEET 92.8% (3,692) 7.2% (288)
Further details on the workforce of the Group by gender can be  ZA&EERM BB D E THIE—FSHEHN LA

found in the Environmental, Social and Governance Report of the
Company.
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Appointment, Re-election and Removal of Directors

Article TO8[A) of the articles of association of the Company provides
that one-third of the Directors for the time being, or, if their number is
not three or multiple of three, then the number nearest to but not less
than onethird shall refire from office by rofation provided that every
Director shall be subject to retirement at least once every three years
at the Company’s annual general meeting and shall be eligible
for re-election. Under Arficle 105, the office of a Director of the
Company is liable to be vacated in certain circumstances and the
Company may remove any Director of the Company by an ordinary
resolution at a general meefing as prescribed in Arficle 114.

The appointment of new Directors and nomination of Direcfors for
re-election at annual general meetings are first considered by the
Nomination Committee. The recommendations of the Nomination
Committee will then be put to the Board for decision. New Directors
appointed by the Board are subject fo reelection by shareholders
at the next following annual general meetfing pursuant to the articles
of association of the Company. In considering the appointment of
new Directors, the Nomination Committee will assess the candidate
according fo the criteria set out in Rules 3.08 and 3.09 of the Listing
Rules. In the case of a candidate for an Independent Non-Executive
Director, he/she should also meet the independence criteria sef out
in Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules.

Newly appointed Director should receive induction and legal advice
on the first occasion of his/her appointment to ensure appropriate
understanding of the business and operation of the Company and
full awareness of Director's responsibilities and obligations under the
Listing Rules and relevant statutory requirements.

Each of the Executive Directors has respectively entered info a
service agreement with the Company for a fixed term of two years.
Each Executive Director is entifled fo a discretionary management
bonus provided that the aggregate amount of the bonuses payable
to all the Executive Directors for any financial year of the Company
shall not exceed 8% of the audited consolidated net profit of the
Group (affer taxation and non-controlling interests and payment of
such bonuses) for that financial year of the Company. An Executive
Director shall not vote on any resolution of the Directors regarding
the amount of the management bonus payable o him/her.

Each of the Independent Non-Executive Directors was appointed for
a ferm of two years with a formal letter of appointment setting out the
key terms and conditions of his appointment. Save for the directors’
fees and the share options granted under the Share Option Scheme
(as defined on page 65 of this annual report] to each of them, none
of the Independent Non-Executive Directors is expected fo receive
any other remuneration for holding his office as an Independent
Non-Executive Director.
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Board Independence

The Company has established mechanisms fo ensure independent
views and input are available to the Board and conducted a review
of such mechanisms on an annual basis.

All Directors are entitled to seek, at the Company's expense,
independent professional advice reasonably necessary for
discharging their dufies as Direcfors.

The Nomination Committee annually assesses the independence
of each Independent Non-Executive Director during his term of
appointment. In February 2025, the Company received from each
of the Independent Non-Executive Directors a written confirmation of
his independence with reference to the factors set out in Rule 3.13
of the Listing Rules. Based on such confirmations and the report of
the Nomination Committee, the Company considers that all the
Independent Non-Executive Directors continue to demonstrate strong
independence and all remain independent.

The Board has reviewed the implementation and effectiveness of the
mechanisms and considered them to be effective for the year ended

31 December 2024.

Proceedings of Board Meetings and Board Committee Meetings

The Board considers that all meetings should be legally and properly
convened. The Chairman of the Board takes the lead to ensure
that Board meetings and Board committee meetings are convened
in accordance with the requirements set out in the articles of
association of the Company, the ferms of reference of the respective
Board committees and the Listing Rules.

In convening Board meetings, the Chairman is responsible for
drawing up and approving the agenda for each meeting after
consulfation with all the Directors and the Company Secrefary. Prior
nofice of each regular Board meeting is given fo all the Directors at
least 14 days in advance and the Direcfors are invited fo include
matters for discussion in the agenda. Agenda and accompanying
Board papers are sent to all the Directors af least 3 days (or such
other period as agreed) prior to meetings.

Board meetings are held af least four times a year at approximately
quarterly intervals. In addition, special Board meetings are
held when necessary. Such Board meetings involve the active
participation, either in person or through other electronic means of
communication, of all the Directors.

Dates of regular Board meetings are scheduled in advance to

provide sufficient notice to give all the Directors an opportunity to
aftend. For special Board meetings, reasonable notice is given.
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The Directors have access to the advice and services of the
Company Secrefary fo ensure that Board procedures and all
applicable rules and regulations are followed.

The minutes of Board meetings record in sufficient detail the matters
considered by the Board, including all concerns raised by the
Directors and dissenting views expressed. The minutes of all Board
meetings and Board committee meetings are available for inspection
by any Director, auditor or any relevant eligible parties who can
have access fo such minutes.

Directors’ Attendance Records

The record of attfendance of individual Directors at the Board
meetings, Board committee meetings and annual general meeting
held during 2024 is set out in the following table:
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Number of Meetings Attended/Held

ERHERYBTRY
Annudl
Audit  Nomination Remuneration General
Board  Committee = Committee ~ Committee Meeting
Directors EE B
EEE EBKEET RRYZET FMEST BEXE
Executive Directors WTES
Ngok Ming Chu (Chairman) &BBEk (F/E) 6/6 N/ATRER N/ATRER N/ATEH 1/1
Cheng Pik Ho Liza BREE (TTEE L)

(Chief Executive Officer) 6/6 N/ATBER 2/2 2/2 1/1
Cheng Chuen Chuen BEE 6/6 N/ATER N/ATER N/ATER 1/1
lu Qun exid 6/6 N/ATER N/ATER N/ATEH 1/1
Independent Non-Executive JBIZIEITEE

Directors
Chan Chi On REZ 6/6 3/3 N/ATRER N/ATER 1/1
Lau Siu Ki 2BE 6/6 3/3 2/2 2/2 1/1
lee Kwan Hung sl 6/6 N/A FEH 2/2 2/2 1/1
leeT. S =P Ne 6/6 3/3 2/2 2/2 1/1
Average Attendance Rate 3G FESE 100% 100% 100% 100% 100%

In addition, the Chairman met once with the Independent Non-

Executive Directors without the presence of other Directors.
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Directors’ and Officers’ Liability Insurance

The Company has subscribed an insurance policy with an aim
to indemnify its Directors and senior executives from any losses,
claims, damages, liabilities and expenses arising from, including
but not limited to, any proceedings brought against them during
the performance of their dufies pursuant fo their respective service
agreements entered info with the Company.

Securities Transactions by Directors

The Company has adopted the Model Code for Securities
Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers [“Model Code”) (with
certain modifications but on terms no less exacting than the required
standard sef ouf in the Model Code) as sef out in Appendix C3
fo the listing Rules as its own code ("Securities Dealing Code”) to
regulate the securities dealings by all the Directors and relevant
employees of the Group.

The Company made specific enquiry of all the Directors and
members of the senior management who confirmed that they
complied with the Securities Dealing Code during the Review
Period.

Continuous Professional Development

Pursuant to the CG Code, all directors should participate in
continuous professional development to develop and refresh their
knowledge and skills. This is to ensure that their contribution to the
board remains informed and relevant.

During the Review Period, all Directors received regular briefings
and updates on the Group's business, operations, internal confrols
and corporate governance matters. Relevant reading materials were
provided to the Directors. They also attended courses and seminars
organised by external professional bodies on topics relevant to the
duties and responsibilities of a director during the Review Period. Al
Directors have provided the Company with their respective fraining
records pursuant fo the CG Code.

Procedure for Seeking Independent Professional Advice by Directors

There is a written procedure agreed by the Board to enable
Directors, upon reasonable request, to seek and be provided with
independent professional advice in appropriafe circumstances, at
the Company’s expense in order to assist them fo discharge their
duties to the Company.
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Functions of The Board

Distinctive Roles of the Chairman and the Chief Executive Officer

To avoid concentration of power in any one individual, a clear
division of responsibilities between the Chairman and the Chief
Executive Officer is crucial to the effective running of the Board
and the dayto-day management of the Group's businesses. During
the Review Period, the positions of the Chairman and the Chief
Executive Officer of the Company are held by two different Executive
Directors, namely Madam Ngok Ming Chu and Ms. Cheng Pik Ho
Liza respectively. Their roles and duties are segregated, with a clear
division of responsibilities. Madam Ngok Ming Chu, the Chairman,
is to provide leadership for the Board and ensure that the Board
works effectively while Ms. Cheng Pik Ho liza, the Chief Executive
Officer, is answerable to the Board for the operations of the Group.
Madam Ngok is the mother of Ms. Cheng.

Distinctive Roles of the Board and the Management

While at all times the Board retains full responsibility for guiding and
monitoring the operations of the Group, in discharging ifs duties,
certain responsibilities are delegated to:

*  the standing Board committees of the Company namely:
the Audit Committee, the Nomination Committee and the
Remuneration Committee. Each committee’s constitution,
powers and duties are clearly defined by ifs ferms of reference,
and the committees are accountable to the Board. Ad hoc
Board committees may also be established as required from
fime fo time by the Board;

e the Chief Executive Officer, being delegated with the day-
to-day management of the businesses of the Group, is
accountable to the Board; and

*  the management team of the Group, being delegated with
the responsibilities to deal with daily operational functions, is
answerable fo the Executive Direcors.
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The Board believes that effective delegation of authority can ensure
that the Board is provided with sufficient and timely information
of the Group's businesses which is, in particular, relevant to the
Group's performance, financial position and operating results, in
order that the Board is able to make an informed assessment of
matters put before the Board for approval. During the Review Period,
each Executive Director had frequent meetings with operational
managers in order to maintain an effective feedback system and
enable the Company to react to changes or problems quickly and
effectively. The management also provided monthly updates to the
Directors.

The functions reserved to the Board are formalized in writing and
include:

® any matters relating to the formulation of the Company's
strategy and direction;

®  any mafters relating to financial controls, compliance and risk
management,

® any changes in corporate structure such as the changes
relating to the Company’s capital structure, including share
buy-back or issue of new securities;

®  major appointments such as appointments to the Board, affer
taking info account the recommendations of the Nomination
Committee; the appointment of the Chairman and the Chief
Executive Officer; recommendations to the shareholders on the
appointment or removal of external auditor after taking info
consideration the recommendations of the Audit Committee;
and the appointment or removal of the Group Financial
Controller and the Company Secretary;

®  any matters defermined by the Board to be material, including
dividend policy, significant changes in accounting policies,
material contracts, major financing arrangements and major
investments; and

e the corporate governance functions set out in the code
provision A.2.1 of the CG Code.
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With respect fo the corporate governance functions, the Board has
reviewed and monitored the Company's corporate governance
policies and practices, the training and continuous professional
development of directors and senior management, the Company's
policies and practices on compliance with legal and regulatory
requirements, and the Company’s compliance with the CG Code
and disclosure in this Corporate Governance Report.

The Board regularly reviews its arrangement for delegation of
authority to ensure that such delegation is appropriate in view of the
Company's prevailing circumstances and that appropriate reporting
systems are in place.

Board Committees

A total of three Board committees, namely the Audit Committee,
the Nomination Committee and the Remuneration Committee, have
been formed, each of which is delegated with specific roles and
responsibilities by the Board. All the Board committees follow the
same principles and procedures as those of the Board. The Board
receives the minutes of each commitiee meeting on a regular basis,
including their decisions and recommendations.

Audit Committee
At present, the Audit Committee consists of three Independent Non-
Executive Direcfors, namely:

Mr. Lau Siu Ki (Chairman)
Mr. Chan Chi On
Prof. lee T. S.

Members of the Audit Committee are appointed by the Board
among the Independent Non-Executive Directors and the committee
consisfs of not less than three members. The Board considers that
each Audit Committee member has broad commercial experience
and together form a suitable mix of expertise in the fields of
corporate finance, accounting and management, and that the
composition and members of the Audit Committee comply with the
requirements under Rule 3.21 of the Listing Rules. The Board, affer
consultation with the chairman of the Audit Committee, provides
sufficient resources to the Audit Committee to enable it to discharge
its duties.
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The Audit Committee has the responsibilities and powers set forth
in its ferms of reference. To maintain its independence, the Audit
Comnmittee is required fo have at least one meetfing with the external
auditor without the presence of Executive Directors within a financial
year. The function of the committee is fo provide assistance fo
the Board in fulfilling its oversight responsibilities to shareholders,
potential shareholders, the investment community and other
stakeholders relating fo:

e the infegrity of accounts and financial reporting process of the
Company;

*  the assessment of the external auditor’s qualifications and
independence;

e the performance of the Company's infernal audit function and
the performance of the external auditor; and

° the effectiveness of the risk management and infernal control
systems of the Company.

The terms of reference of the Audit Committee are available on the
Company’s website and the Stock Exchange’s website.

During the Review Period, the Audit Committee held three meetings
including one meeting with the external auditor without the presence
of the Executive Directors and the management. The record of
attendance of individual Directors af the committee meetings is sef
out on page 41 of this annual report.

The following is o summary of the work performed by the Audit
Committee during the Review Period:

(] review of the annual report and results announcement of the
Company for the year ended 31 December 2023, with a
recommendation to the Board for approval;

(i)  review of the external auditor's independence and their report,
with a recommendation to the Board for the re-appointment of
the external auditor by the shareholders of the Company at its

2024 annual general meeting;

(iii)  review of confinuing connected fransactions;
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(iv] review of the interim report and results announcement of the
Company for the six months ended 30 June 2024, with a
recommendation fo the Board for approval;

(v]  review of monthly financial reports of the Company prepared
by the Finance Division;

(vi)  consideration of audit and non-audit services provided by the
external auditor;

(vii) review of the effectiveness of the risk management and infermnal
control systfems of the Company and ifs subsidiaries;

(viii) review of periodic reports prepared by the Audit Centre;

(ix) review of the adequacy of resources, qualifications and
experience of staff of the Company’s accounting, internal

audit and financial reporting functions, and their training
programmes and budget; and

(x]  review of the audit fees payable to the external auditor for the
year ended 31 December 2024, with a recommendation to
the Board for approval.

Auditor's Remuneration
The Audit Committee has reviewed the remuneration paid/payable
to Emnst & Young, the external auditor of the Company, for the

(iv)

v)

(Vi)

(vii)

(viii)

(ix)

(x)
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following services provided during the Review Period: B BT REBIENE -
Remuneration
Paid/Payable
Services Rendered FRig (AR 7% 2t FETiE
Audit services BIZIRFS HK$2,000,000 %7t
Non-audit services* JEEZIRFS * HK$453,000 % 7T

Total:

HK$2,453,000 %7t

* non-audit services include tax compliance and advisory, review and

other reporting services.

The Audit Committee has expressed its views fo the Board that the
level of fees paid/payable to the Company’s external auditor is
reasonable. There has been no major disagreement between the
auditor and the management of the Company during the Review
Period.
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Nomination Committee

At present, the Nomination Committee has four members comprising
one Executive Director and three Independent Non-Executive
Directors, namely:

Prof. lee T. S. (Chairman)
Ms. Cheng Pik Ho liza
Mr. Lau Siu Ki

Mr. Llee Kwan Hung

The main functions of the Nomination Committiee are fo review the
structure, size and composition of the Board, to idenfify individuals
who are suitably qualified to become Directors, and to assess the
independence of the Independent Non-Executive Directors. After
considering the independence and qualifications of nominees,
the Nomination Committee makes recommendations to the Board
so as to ensure that all nominations are fair and transparent.
The Nomination Committee is also responsible for reviewing the
succession planning of Directors, in particular the Chairman and
the Chief Executive Officer. The Board, after consultation with the
chairman of the Nomination Commitiee, provides sufficient resources
to the Nomination Commitiee to enable if to discharge its duties.

The Nomination Committee held two meetings in 2024. The record
of attendance of individual Direcfors at the committee meefing is set

out on page 41 of this annual report.

The following is a summary of the work performed by the
Nomination Committee during the Review Period:

()  assessment of the independence of the Independent Non-
Executive Directors;

[i)  recommendation to the Board on the re-election of Directors:

i)  review of the existing sfructure, size and composition of the
Board:;

(iv)] recommendation to the Board on the re-appointment of
Executive Directors; and

[v]  recommendation to the Board on the re-appointment of
Independent Non-Executive Directors.
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In evaluating and selecting any candidate for directorship, the
following maijor criteria set out in the Company's director nomination
policy had been considered by the Nomination Commitiee:

e characfer and infegrity;

e qualifications including professional qualifications, skills,
knowledge and experience relevant to the Company’s business
and strategy, and diversity aspects under the board diversity
policy of the Company;

*  requirement for the Board to have independent directors in
accordance with the Listing Rules and whether the candidate
would be considered independent with reference to the
independence guidelines sef out in the Listing Rules;

e willingness and ability to devote adequate time fo discharge
duties as a member of the Board and/or Board committeels)
of the Company; and

e the overall ability to exercise good judgement and to provide
valuable insights and diverse perspective fo the Board.

The Nomination Committee, upon receipt of the proposal on
appointment of new director and the biographical information of the
candidate, had evaluated such candidate based on the criteria as
set out above to defermine whether such candidate was qualified for
directorship and made recommendation to the Board to appoint the
candidate for directorship.

With respect to the re-election of Directors at the annual general
meefing, the Nomination Committee had reviewed the overall
confribution and services to the Company of the retiring Directors
and the level of participation and performance on the Board fo
defermine whether the retiring Directors would continue to meet the
criteria as set out above and made recommendation fo the Board
in respect of the proposed re-election of Directors at the general
meeting. The relevant information of the retiring Directors together
with the recommendation of the Board would then be disclosed in
the circular accompanying the notice of the general meeting and
published on the Company’s website at www.embrygroup.com
in accordance with the Listing Rules and applicable laws and
regulations.
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As a good corporate governance practice, Nomination
Committee member (being also the Independent Non-Executive
Director) abstained from assessing his own independence and re-
appointment.

The terms of reference of the Nomination Committee are available
on the Company's website and the Stock Exchange’s website.

Remuneration Committee

At present, the Remuneration Committee has four members
comprising one Executive Director and three Independent Non-
Executive Directors, namely:

Mr. lee Kwan Hung (Chairman)
Ms. Cheng Pik Ho liza

Mr. Lau Siu Ki

Prof. lee T. S.

The main functions of the Remuneration Committee are fo assist the
Board in establishing a formal and transparent procedure for setting
policy on Direcfors’ and senior management’s remuneration and
fo make recommendation to the Board on the packages (which
include benefits in kind, pension rights and compensation payments)
of individual Executive Directors and senior management (i.e. the
model described in code provision E.1.2(c|(ii] of the CG Code was
adopted) as well as on the remuneration of Non-Executive Directors.
The Board,
Committee, provides sufficient resources to the Remuneration
Comnmittee to enable it fo discharge its duties.

after consultation with the chairman of the Remuneration

In recommending the remuneration of the Directors, the Remuneration
Committee makes reference to companies of comparable
business or scale, and the nature and volume of work in order
fo compensate the Directors reasonably for their time and efforts
devoted. The Remuneration Committee regularly reviews and makes
recommendations fo the Board on the remuneration of Directors and
senior management.

The Remuneration Committee held two meetings in 2024. The
record of attendance of individual Directors at the committee
meetings is sef out on page 41 of this annual report.
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The following is a summary of the work performed by the
Remuneration Committee during the Review Period:

(]  recommendation to the Board on the payment of discrefionary
bonuses fo the Executive Directors and staff in respect of the
final results of the Company for the year ended 31 December
2023;

(i)  review of the new service agreements between the Company
and Executive Directors, with advice and a recommendation to
the Board for approval; and

(iii)  review of the letters of re-appointment of the Independent Non-
Executive Directors, with a recommendation to the Board for
approval.

As a good corporate governance practice, Remuneration Committee
member (being also the Independent Non-Executive Director] had
not involved in reviewing his own director’s fees.

The terms of reference of the Remuneration Committee are available
on the Company's website and the Stock Exchange's website.

Pursuant to code provision E.1.5 of the CG Code, details of the
annual remuneration of the members of the senior management by
band for the year ended 31 December 2024 is as follows:
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Details of the remuneration of each Director for the year ended 31
December 2024 are set out in nofe 10 fo the financial statements.
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Financial Reporting

The Board is responsible for the preparation of the financial
statements with the assistance of the accounting feam in accordance
with statutory requirements and appropriate financial reporting
standards for each financial period, which shall give a true and fair
view of the consolidated financial position of the Group and of the
consolidated financial performance and cash flows for such financial
period. During the Review Period, the Board was not aware of any
material uncertainties relating to events or conditions that might cast
significant doubt upon the Company’s ability to continue in business.
Accordingly, the Board has prepared the financial statements of the
Group on a going concern basis.

All the Directors acknowledged their responsibility for preparing
the financial statements of the Company for the year ended 31
December 2024.

The statement of the external auditor of the Company about the

auditor's reporting responsibilities on the financial statements of the

Croup is sef out in the Independent Auditor's Report on pages 73 fo
1 of this annual report.

The Company announces ifs interim and annual results as soon as
reasonably practicable affer the end of the relevant financial period
and the financial year respectively pursuant o the requirements of
the Listing Rules, disclosing all such information as would enable
the Company's shareholders to assess the performance, financial
position and prospects of the Company.

Dividend Policy

The Board has the discretion to declare and distribute dividends
to the shareholders of the Company, subject to the articles
of association of the Company and all applicable laws and
regulations. In recommending or declaring dividends, the Company
shall maintain adequate cash reserves for meeting its working capifal
requirements and future growth as well as ifs shareholder value. The
Company has no fixed dividend pay-out ratio. The Board considers
that, in general, the amount of dividends to be declared will depend
on the Group's financial results, cash position, capital requirements,
business conditions and strategies, and other factors as may be
considered relevant at such time by the Board.
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Risk Management And Internal Control

The Board acknowledges that it is responsible for establishing and
maintaining appropriate risk management and internal control
systems of the Group and reviewing their effectiveness. Risk
management and infernal confrol systems are designed fo manage
rather than eliminate the risk of failure to achieve business objectives,
and can only provide reasonable and not absolute assurance
against material misstatement or loss. The Group has established
comprehensive policies and procedures in areas of operational,
financial and risk controls.

The Group has an internal audit function. The Audit Centre of the
Group conducts reviews of the effectiveness of the Group's risk
management and internal control systems. It carries out the financial,
operational, project management and information security control
reviews according fo the yearly plan reviewed and endorsed by
the Audit Committee. In addition to the agreed schedule of work,
the Audit Centre conducts other reviews and work as and when
required. The management, in coordination with the Audit Centre,
assessed the likelihood of risk occurrence, provide treatment
plans, and monitor the risk management progress. Findings and
recommendations are reported regularly to members of the Audit
Committee and the Board.

During the Review Period, the management has confirmed to the
Board and the Audit Committee on the effectiveness of the risk
management and internal control systems and the Board had
conducted a review of its risk management and internal control
systems of the Group under code provision D.2.1 and considered
them effective and adequate without the occurrence of any
significant failure.

The Audit Centre of the Group continued to provide independent
assurance fo the Board and management on the adequacy and
effectiveness of the risk management and internal control systems
for the Group during the Review Period. The Assistant Director
of Audit Centre reports functionally fo the Audit Committee and
administratively fo the Chief Executive Officer.

The Board undertakes to periodically review the risk management
and internal control systems of the Group to ensure their effectiveness
and efficiency.
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The Board reviewed the adequacy of resources, qualifications and
experience of staff of the Company’s accounting, internal audit and
financial reporting functions, and their training programmes and
budget during the Review Period and considered that the Group had
adequate staff resources with the competence, qualifications and
experience necessary for the effective performance of its accounting,
infernal audit and financial reporting functions.

A whistleblowing policy has been formulated with a view to
providing a mechanism for employees of the Group to raise
concerns about the possible improprieties in financial reporting,
internal control or other matters. Internal procedures are put in
place whereby employees of the Group can report possible risks
and inside information identified in daily operation to the Board.
Furthermore, the Company has developed its disclosure policy which
provides a general guide to the Company's Directors, officers,
senior management and relevant employees in handling confidential
information, monitoring information disclosure and responding to
enquiries.

Various policies and procedures including, among others, the
Code of Ethics and Conduct, Gifts and Entertainment Policy, Anti-
Bribery Agreement are in place to safeguard against corruption
and bribery. The Group has established reporting channels that
are open and available for employees and business partners of the
Group fo report any suspected corruption and bribery. The Audit
Centre is responsible for investigating the reported incidents and
toking appropriate measures. The Group confinues fo carry out anti-
corruption and anti-bribery activities to cultivate a culture of integrity,
and actively organises anti-corruption fraining and inspections to
ensure the effectiveness of anti-corruption and anti-bribery measures.

Company Secretary

Ms. So Ka Man of Tricor Services Limited, external service provider,
has been engaged by the Company as its Company Secretfary.
The primary contact person at the Company, whom Ms. So can
confact, is Ms. Llaw Yuk Ying, the Group Financial Controller of the
Company.

During the Review Period, Ms. So has faken no less than 15 hours
of relevant professional fraining to update her skills and knowledge.
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Investor Relations and Communication
With Shareholders

The Company has in place a shareholders’ communication policy
fo promote effective communication with shareholders and to solicit
and understand the views of its stakeholders and the investment
community. The Board has reviewed implementation of the policy
during the year and considered that the policy is effective with the
measures disclosed below.

The Company has an ongoing dialogue with shareholders through
various communication channels as follows:

®  publication of notices, announcements, circulars, interim
reports, annual reports and press releases on the Company’s
website

®  publication of key corporate governance policies on the
Company's website

*  holding of annual general meeting and other general meetings
of the Company

The Company has also engaged a professional public relations
consultancy company fo organise various investor relations programs
(including regular briefing meetings with the media and analysts)
aiming at increasing the fransparency of the Company, enhancing
communication with shareholders and investors, increasing their
understanding of and confidence in the Group's businesses and
promoting market recognition of and support to the Company.

During the Review Period, the Company has not made any changes
fo its articles of association. An upto-date version of the articles
of association of the Company is available on the websites of the
Company and the Stock Exchange. Shareholders may refer to the
articles of association for further details of the rights of shareholders.
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Shareholders’ Rights

Convening an Extraordinary General Meeting of the Company by Shareholders

In accordance with Article 64 of the articles of association of the
Company, an extraordinary general meeting can be convened on
the requisition of one or more shareholders holding, at the date of
deposit of the requisition, not less than one fenth of the voting rights,
on a one vote per share basis, in the share capital of the Company.
Such requisition shall be made in writing to the Directors or the
Company Secretary for the purpose of requiring an exiraordinary
general meefing to be called by the Directors for the fransaction of
any business or resolution specified in such requisition.

Procedures for Sending Enquiries to the Board

Enquiries by shareholders to be put to the Board can be sent in
writing to the Company’s Company Secretarial Department af the
principal place of business in Hong Kong.

For share registration related matters, such as share transfer and
registration, change of name or address, loss of share certificates
or dividend warrants, the Company’s registered shareholders can
confact the Company's branch share registrar in Hong Kong,
Tricor Invesfor Services limited. For other enquires or requests, the
Company’s investors can contact iPR Ogilvy Limited, the Company’s
investor relations consultancy company. Detailed contact information
is available on the Company’s website at www.embrygroup.com.

Procedures for Making Proposals at Shareholders’ Meetings

If a shareholder of the Company wishes fo nominate a person to
stand for election as a Director, the following documents must be
validly sent to the Company's principal place of business in Hong
Kong or the Company’s branch share registrar in Hong Kong,
Tricor Investor Services Limited, namely (i) his/her notice of intention
fo propose a resolution at the general meeting; and (i) a notice
executed by the nominated candidate of the candidate’s willingness
fo be appointed. The period for lodgment of the nofices of (i) and {ii)
above will commence no earlier than the day after the despatch of
the notice of the general meeting and end no lafer than seven days
prior to the date of such meeting.

To put forward proposals other than the above at a general meeting,
shareholders of the Company should submit a written nofice of those
proposals with their defailed contact information to the Company
Secretary at the Company’s principal place of business in Hong
Kong. The nofice period fo be given fo all the shareholders for
consideration of the proposal raised by the shareholders concerned
at general meetings varies according to the nature of the proposal.
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Report of the Directors
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The directors present their report and the audited consolidated
financial statements of the Company and its subsidiaries (the “Group”)

for the year ended 31 December 2024.

Principal Activities

The principal activity of the Company is investment holding. Details
of the principal activities of the subsidiaries are set out in note 37
fo the financial statements. There were no significant changes in the
nature of the Group’s principal activities during the year.

Results and Dividends

The Group's loss for the year ended 31 December 2024 and the
Group's financial position af that dafe are set out in the financial
statements on pages 82 to 188.

The directors do not recommend the payment of any dividend in
respect of the year ended 31 December 2024.
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Summary Financial Information S 5 R 22

A summary of the published results and assets and liabilities of U TEAEE&#ERAAERBRFEEZ FERK
the Group for the last five financial years, as extracted from the BEMKBBBMEREGRETIESEZLGSHHR
published audited consolidated financial statements is set out below. — FREFIZAT ©

Results E4

Year ended 31 December
BE+-BA=1+—HL=EE
2024 2023 2022 2021 2020
TECNE B “BOIHF “BT—F “BTEF
HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
F#ET FET FET FHET FBT

REVENUE Y 1,152,570 1,281,753 1,334,269 1,652,408 1,650,483
PROFIT/(LOSS) BEFORE PRAIER,

TAX (E548) (368,536) (©3,255) (51,628) (16,383) 20,519
INCOME TAX FRigHiiEGR,

CREDIT/(EXPENSE) (FEs%) (4,899) 21,087 389 (11,102) (23,343
LOSS FOR THE YEAR FEEEE (373,435) (72,168) (51,239 (27,485) (2,824)
Attributable to: LUFALFE

Owners of the Company KATIHEEB A (373,435) (72,168) (51,239) (27,485) (2,824)
Assets and Liabilities BEREE

As at 31 December

®w+=—BA=+—H
2024 2023 2022 2021 2020
—ERONME o= B _F B-—F EBTEF

HKS’000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000

FET FET FET FET FHET

TOTAL ASSETS BSEMSE 2,365,211 2,862,467 2,976,805 3,304,777 3,429,445
TOTAL UABILITIES BEEE (642,659) (704,085) (704,473) (788,504) (941,056)

1,722,552 2,158,382 2,272,332 2,516,2/3 2,488,389

The above summary does not form part of the audited financial ik EEE I A& R A BIZBATEIREBAI—EZB D ©

statements.
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Share Capital

Details of movements in the Company's share capital during the year
are sef out in note 28 fo the financial statements.

Pre-emptive Rights

There are no provisions for pre-emptive rights under the Company’s
articles of association or the laws of the Cayman Islands which
would oblige the Company fo offer new shares on a proata basis
fo existing shareholders.

Purchase, Redemption or Sale of Listed
Securities of the Company

Neither the Company, nor any of its subsidiaries purchased,
redeemed or sold any of the Company’s listed securities (including
sale of freasury shares) during the year.

As at 31 December 2024 and up to the date of this annual report,
there were no freasury shares held by the Company.

Distributable Reserves

At 31 December 2024, the Company'’s reserves available for
distribution, calculated in accordance with the Companies Act,
Chapter 22 (law 3 of 1961, as consolidated and revised) of the
Cayman lIslands, amounted to HK$896,713,000. The amount
of HK$896,713,000, includes the Company's share premium
and contributed surplus of HK$767,760,000 in aggregate at
31 December 2024, which may be distributed provided that
immediately following the date on which the dividend is proposed to
be distributed, the Company will be in a position fo pay off its debts
as and when they fall due in the ordinary course of business.

Major Customers and Suppliers

In the year under review, sales to the Group's five largest customers
and purchases from the Group's five largest suppliers accounted
for less than 30% of the total sales and purchases for the year,
respectively.

None of the directors of the Company or any of their associates or
any shareholders (which, to the best knowledge of the directors,
own more than 5% of the Company’s issued share capital) had any
beneficial interest in the Group's five largest customers or suppliers.

JBe AR
FABDRAEFENRAEEH:FFHNMBRE
FyzE28 o

B Jo i B
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B~ TR g AR 2 W] b

g
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1) o
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LR A BERD

Al it 53 IR ff A
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= REERES]) TEN A HDIRFEES
896,713,000 7t o % #896,713,0007 7t
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Directors

The directors of the Company during the year and up to the date of
this report were:

Executive Directors

Madam Ngok Ming Chu (Chairman)

Ms. Cheng Pik Ho liza (Chief Executive Officer)
Mr. Cheng Chuen Chuen

Ms. Lu Qun

Independent Non-Executive Directors

Mr. Chan Chi On (alias, Derek Chan)
Mr. Lau Siu Ki (alias, Kevin Lau)

Mr. lee Kwan Hung (alias, Eddie Lee)
Prof. lee T. S. [alias, Lee Tien-Sheng)

In accordance with article 108 of the Company's articles of
association, Mr. Chan Chi On, Mr. Llau Siu Ki and Prof. lee T.S.
will retire by rofation and, being eligible, will offer themselves for re-
election at the forthcoming annual general meeting ("AGM”).

The Company has received annual confirmations of independence
from each of Mr. Chan Chi On, Mr. Lau Siu Ki, Mr. Lee Kwan Hung
and Prof. lee T. S. confirming his independence with reference
to the factors as set out in Rule 3.13 of the Rules Governing the
Listing of Securities on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong limited
(the "Stock Exchange') (the "listing Rules’), and as at the date of this
report, the Company still considers them to be independent.

Directors’ and Senior Management’s
Biographies

Biographical details of the directors of the Company and the senior
management of the Group are set out on pages 30 fo 34 of the
annual report.
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Permitted Indemnity Provision

Pursuant to the Company's arficles of association, subject to the
applicable laws, every director of the Company shall be indemnified
and secured harmless out of the assets of the Company from and
against all actions, costs, charges, losses, damages and expenses
which he/she may incur or sustain by reason of any act done,
concurred in or omitted in or about the execution of his/her office.
The Company has taken out insurance against the liability and costs
associated with defending any proceedings which may be brought
against direcfors of the Company.

Directors’ Service Contracts

Madam Ngok Ming Chu, Ms. Cheng Pik Ho liza, Mr. Cheng
Chuen Chuen and Ms. Lu Qun, have each enfered info a service
agreement with the Company for a term of two years commencing
on 25 March 2024, 1 December 2023, 22 September 2023 and
2 February 2025, respectively.

Each of Mr. lau Siu Ki, Mr. lee Kwan Hung and Prof. lee T. S.
has been appointed for a term of two years commencing on 25
November 2024 and Mr. Chan Chi On has been appointed for a
ferm of two years commencing on 25 May 2023.

Under the service agreement, affer each complefe year of service,
the remuneration payable to each of the executive directors may,
subject to the discrefion of the Company's board of directors, be
increased by not more than 10% and the executive directors are
entifled to a discrefionary management bonus provided that the total
amount of bonuses payable fo all the executive directors for that
year shall not exceed 8% of the audited consolidated profit after tax
of the Group.

Apart from the foregoing, no director proposed for re-election at
the AGM has a service contract with the Company which is not
determinable by the Company within one year without payment of
compensation, other than statutory compensation.
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Emolument Policy and Directors’
Remuneration

The Group’s emolument policy is formulated based on the
performance of individual employees and is reviewed regularly.
Subiject to the Group's profitability, the Group may also provide
discretionary bonuses to its employees as an incentive for their
contribution to the Group. The primary goal of the emolument
policy with regard to the remuneration packages of the Group's
executive directors is to enable the Group to retain and motivate
executive directors by linking their compensation with performance
as measured against corporafe objectives achieved.

The principal elements of the Group's remuneration packages
include basic salaries, discretionary bonuses and housing benefits.

The direcfors’ fees are subject to shareholders” approval af general
meetings. Other emoluments are determined by the Company’s
board of directors with reference to directors’ duties, responsibilities
and performance and the results of the Group.

Directors’ Interests in Transactions,
Arrangements or Contracts

Save for transactions as disclosed in note 13 to the financial
statements, no director nor a connected entity of a director had a
material inferest, either directly or indirectly, in any fransactions,
arrangements or confracts of significance fo the business of the
Group to which the Company, or any of its subsidiaries was a party
during the year.
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Directors’ and Chief Executive’s
Interests and Short Positions in Shares
and Underlying Shares

At 31 December 2024, the interests and short positions of the
directors and chief executive in the share capital and underlying
shares of the Company or its associated corporations (within the
meaning of Part XV of the Securities and Futures Ordinance [the
"SFQO")), as recorded in the register required to be kept by the
Company pursuant to section 352 of the SFO, or as otherwise
notified fo the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to the
Model Code for Securities Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers
(the “Model Code”), were as follows:

long positions in ordinary shares of the Company:

AT B AR B B B A B
o W &% IR A

R TEZNFE+ZB=+—H > EFRITHR
HNARBNEAREE (ERRESFAAE
1561 (M5B 5 R FAE IR B 1) S5 XVER) AR 4 Ko AH R
B0 R B A DA BIRIEE 55 R E 1R 5
BI2FFENTLMAN R ARE » 3R
BIE EHETAEFETESFXZHRETH
(MREEST R ) @RI A A B Fe Bt 32 PR B ot S sk
BT

RAERBEBRINEE !

Percentage of

Number of the Company’s
Capacity and Shares/equity shares/equity issued share
Name of director nature of interest derivatives derivatives held capital
FRfsER(D BetE (AT BT
EENE B REEEE B RETETIR fTETIR%E B2
Madam Ngok Ming Chu Interest of controlled Ordinary shares (Nofe 1) 104,385,001 24.71
A% T+ corporation
SEFIAEEm i@ (et 1)
Beneficial owner Share options (Nofe 2) 1,300,000 0.31
Em#EBA BERCRE (B3t 2)
Interest of spouse Ordinary shares (Note 3 45,263,151 10.72
[T i@ (s 3)
Interest of spouse Share options (Nofe 3) 1,430,000 0.34
FoiB iR BERRRE (B3t 3)
Ms. Cheng Pik Ho liza Beneficial owner Ordinary shares 60,087,577 14.22
BEEZLT Em#EBA Bk
Beneficial owner Share options (Nofe 2) 1,220,000 0.29
Em#EBA BERCRE (B3t 2)
Mr. Cheng Chuen Chuen Beneficial owner Ordinary shares 28,094,709 6.65
HEREE Em#EBA Bk
Beneficial owner Share options (Nofe 2) 295,000 0.07

BmEBA

fEIRTE (W5t 2)

Annual Report 3R 2024 / Embry Holdings Limited #1758 ERAE

6:

P]



64

Report of the Directors (Continued)

:

J”IHI

&

m )

Directors’ and Chief Executive’s AT BB B fr B R R B
Interests and Short Positions in Shares 7 W HE % Rk H (@)
and Underlying Shares (confinved)
long positions in ordinary shares of the Company: (continued) RAERBEBRINGE © (8)
Percentage of
Number of the Company’s
Capacity and Shares/equity shares/equity issued share
Name of director nature of interest derivatives derivatives held capital
FRisRR(R, BRtE  EFATBHT
R B kiEmitE R BRETETR fTEIA%E RAFNESLE
Ms. Lu Qun Beneficial owner Ordinary shares 1,024,057 0.24
¥ 3o BEGBEAA =Bk
Beneficial owner Share options (Nofe 2) 665,000 0.16
BB A fERRtE (W72 2)
Mr. Lau Siu Ki Beneficial owner Ordinary shares 768,000 0.18
FABESE BB A =Bk
Beneficial owner Share options (Nofe 2) 100,000 0.02
BB A FERRtE (W72 2)
Mr. Llee Kwan Hung Beneficial owner Ordinary shares 487,000 0.12
e BB A =Bk
Beneficial owner Share options (Nofe 2) 100,000 0.02
BB A FERRtE (W72 2)
Prof. lee T.S. Beneficial owner Ordinary shares 604,000 0.14
FREHE BB A =Bk
Beneficial owner Share options (Nofe 2) 100,000 0.02

Embry Holdings Limited %

R

BafEAA

fElRtE (Wt 2)
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Directors’ and Chief Executive’s
Interests and Short Positions in Shares
and Underlying Shares (confinved)

long positions in ordinary shares of the Company: (continued)
Notes:

1. These shares are held by Teamway Holdings Limited ("Teamway”).
Teamway is wholly owned by Madam Ngok Ming Chu.

2. These represent the number of shares which will be allotted and issued
fo the respective directors upon the exercise of the share options
granted fo each of them under the share option scheme adopted on
28 May 2020 (the “Share Option Scheme”). Defails of the Share
Option Scheme are disclosed in note 30 to the financial statements.

3. Madam Ngok Ming Chu is deemed to be interested in the shares and

share options personally held or controlled by her spouse, the late Mr.
Cheng Man Tai, pursuant fo Part XV of the SFO.

long positions in ordinary shares of an associated corporation:

o R AT AR R I Ay B hH R e
1y B HE 45 &{ﬁﬁ(@)

RAEABEBRIEE | (B

1. ZERMVBARERERAE (TREL) FA -
NEHERSR T T2 EHA ©

2. WEERNEFETERER_-_Z-ZF0A
N\ BERMEER ST B (TR ESTS)) P
ERBEREMSERERETHORMNEE - B
RSt BISFIRI M ERARMISE SOMER -

3. IRBESREAEEGEXVER » ERBRL W
AR H BB BRI EE A B I
HIRRE R B e o

FAERCEE S @RNTR

Percentage of
the associated

Name of Relationship Capacity and corporation’s

associated with the Number nature of issued share

Name of director corporation Company of shares interest capital

i AEEGk 5 [

Bl AT 55k e8Ik

ERNR MREER RS BIRA{Z Liab k4= fE=tE HES L

Madam Ngok Ming Chu Teamway Substantial 1 share of HK$ 1 Beneficial 100
shareholder owner

EERHR Lt ANEL FTERR

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2024, none of
the directors and chief executive of the Company had registered
an interest or short position in the shares, underlying shares of the
Company or any of its associated corporations that was required fo
be recorded pursuant to section 352 of the SFO, or as otherwise
notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant fo the
Model Code.

1 lREE Bm#ER A

1 BTTHIRR

PR ESOREEN R BN F+"B=+—
H> BEARTDEFRITEBENARTNH
ERIEECE BBV RD AR RGN R A REE
FIRHAERBSE 352 1% R \DE)\ e A By m

R SIRRARE T RIZR B A A B K B 32
PRBVIEm A KA ©
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Directors’ Rights to Acquire Shares or
Debentures

Save as disclosed in the section “Directors’ and Chief Executive's
Inferest and Short Positions in Shares and Underlying Shares” above
and in the section “Share Option Scheme” below, at no time during
the year were rights fo acquire benefits by means of the acquisition
of shares in or debentures of the Company granted fo any of the
directors or their respective spouses or minor children, or were any
such rights exercised by them; or was the Company, or any of its
subsidiaries a party fo any arrangement to enable the directors to
acquire such rights in any other body corporate.

Share Option Scheme

Details of the Share Option Scheme and the share option movements
during the year are disclosed in note 30 to the financial statements.

As at the date of this report, the fotal number of shares available for
issue under the Share Option Scheme was 42,241,663 shares,
representing approximately 10% of the issued share capital of the
Company.

The numbers of share options available for grant under the mandate
limit of the Share Option Scheme as at 1 January 2024 and 31
December 2024 were 24,786,663 and 24,921,663 respectively.

Substantial Shareholders’ and Other
Persons’ Interests in Shares and
Underlying Shares

At 31 December 2024, the following interests of 5% or more of the
issued share capital of the Company (other than the interests of the
directors of the Company as disclosed above] were recorded in the
register of inferests required to be kept by the Company pursuant to

section 336 of the SFO:
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Substantial Shareholders’ and Other

o

(%)

Persons’ Interests in Shares and
Underlying Shares (continved)

long positions in ordinary shares of the Company:

3 BB R B Al N R Iy K HH
B JBE 1 W HE 48 (4

RAEREEBRINTE !

Percentage of

Number of the Company’s
Capacity and Shares/equity shares/equity issued share
Name nature of interest derivatives derivatives held capital
B&1n,RetE FRi%IRIR BRI HEATBRIT
i34 B kEEEE fTEIR fTETIR%E B
Teamway Beneficial owner Ordinary shares 104,385,001 24.71
INEL BEmEEA Bk
[Note 1)
(BfaE1)
Harmonious World Limited Beneficial owner Ordinary shares 41,634,931 9.86
EmEREA ZIBRR
[Note 2)
(Fizt2)
Sinowide Investments Limited Beneficial owner Ordinary shares 30,000,000 7.10
EmEAA EiER
Value China Fund Beneficial owner Ordinary shares 21,475,000 5.08
BEnEEA ZIBRL
Mr. Cheng Man Tai* (deceased) Inferest of controlled Ordinary shares 41,634,931 9.86
corporation
FHELE* (EH) TSI A BT ZiBRR
[Note 3)
Bzt 3)
Beneficial owner Ordinary shares 3,628,220 0.86
EREAA EiER
Beneficial owner Share options 1,430,000 0.34
(Notes 4 & 12)
EmEEA BERRHE (HaE4 8 12)
Interest of spouse  Ordinary shares (Nofe 5) 104,385,001 24.71
FofB i ZIBRR (a2 5)
Interest of spouse Share options (Nofe 5) 1,300,000 0.31

Fofiigm

* M. Cheng Man Tai passed away on 19 June 2024.

FERRIE (732 5)

* BREEERZEINFESA LA o
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Substantial Shareholders’ and Other

8 WO ()

3B B At N\ A i 4y B i

Persons’ Interests in Shares and 3R Ji 1y 1 B 2 ()
Underlying Shares (continved)
Percentage of
Number of the Company’s
Capacity and Shares/equity shares/equity issued share
Name nature of interest derivatives derivatives held capital
B3, Rt FRisRg 1%, BRAE EEATBHIT
H"E SinkEmttE fT£IR TETAKE RRAHIESLE
Ms. Wong Oi Fan Interest of spouse Ordinary shares 28,094,709 6.65
IEFYE Fo i@ BBk
[Note 6)
(32 )
Interest of spouse Share options 295,000 0.07
FofdfEm FEhE
[Note 6)
(Hyst o)
Ms. Cheng Tsz Kwan Beneficial owner Ordinary shares 22,366,661 5.29
W2+ Bm#EBA EiElk
[Note /)
(Kt 7)
Beneficial owner Share options 185,000 0.04
BaEBA i
[Note 8)
(Wt 8)
Mr. Pun Hiu Lok Interest of spouse Ordinary shares 22,366,601 5.29
gLl S e FofdtEm EiEk
[Note 9)
(st 9)
Interest of spouse Share options 185,000 0.04
FofBfm i
[Note 9)
(W72 9)
Mr. Cheng Ka Hei Beneficial owner Ordinary shares 22,064,732 5.22
BRELE BaEAA EiEk
(Note 10)
Mtz 10)
Ms. Mei Zhen Interest of spouse Ordinary shares 22,064,732 5.22
tetEat FofBfm =Bk
[Note 11)
(Hst 11)
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Substantial Shareholders’ and Other
Persons’ Interests in Shares and
Underlying Shares (confinved)

Nofes:

1.

Save
other

The relationship between Teamway and Madam Ngok Ming Chu is
disclosed under the section "Directors’ and Chief Executive's Interests
and Short Positions in Shares and Underlying Shares”.

Harmonious World Limited [“Harmonious World") is wholly owned by
the late Mr. Cheng Man Tai.

These shares are held by Harmonious World.

These represent the number of shares which will be allotted and issued
fo the lafe Mr. Cheng Man Tai upon the exercise of the share options
granted to him under the Share Option Scheme.

The late Mr. Cheng Man Tai is deemed to be interested in the
shares and share options personally held or controlled by his spouse,

Madam Ngok Ming Chu, pursuant to Part XV of the SFO.

Ms. Wong Oi Fan is the spouse of Mr. Cheng Chuen Chuen, an
execufive director of the Company. She is deemed fo be inferested in
the shares and share options personally held by her spouse pursuant

to Part XV of the SFO.

Ms. Cheng Tsz Kwan is the granddaughter of the late Mr. Cheng
Man Tai and Madam Ngok Ming Chu.

These represent the number of shares which will be allotted and
issued to Ms. Cheng Tsz Kwan upon the exercise of the share options
granted fo her under the Share Option Scheme.

Mr. Pun Hiu Lok is the spouse of Ms. Cheng Tsz Kwan. He is deemed
fo be interested in the shares and share options personally held by his
spouse pursuant fo Part XV of the SFO.

Mr. Cheng Ka Hei is the grandson of the lafe Mr. Cheng Man Tai
and Madam Ngok Ming Chu.

Ms. Mei Zhen is the spouse of Mr. Cheng Ka Hei. She is deemed to
be interested in the shares personally held by her spouse pursuant to

Part XV of the SFO.

According to the rules of the Share Option Scheme, in the event that
the grantee ceases fo be a participant by reason of death, the legal
personal representative(s) of this grantee shall be entitled within a
period of 12 months from the date of death [or such longer period as
the Board may defermine) to exercise the opfion (fo the extent which
has become exercisable and not already exercised).

as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2024, no person,
than the directors of the Company, whose inferests are set out

in the secfion “Directors” and Chief Executive's Interests and Short
Positions in Shares and Underlying Shares” above, had registered
an interest or short position in the shares or underlying shares of the
Company that was required to be recorded pursuant fo secfion 336

of the SFO.

bR LSO EESL

£ B B M

S
S =
==

Teamway K ERER 22+ 2 BIBIRAGEI BN £
M8 = R AT BURE T IR 1D T AR RE AR 10 BV A 2 S
MEIET °
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Sufficiency of Public Float

Based on the information that is publicly available to the Company
and within the knowledge of the directors, at least 25% of the
Company'’s fotal number of issued shares were held by the public as
at the date of this report.

Continuing Connected Transactions

During the year, the Group had the following continuing connected
fransactions, details of which are disclosed in compliance with the
requirements of Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.

(1)

(2)

Embry Holdings Limited Z2 %175 %0

Purchase of furniture and decoration services

The services agreement which was entered into between the
Company, cerfain subsidiaries of the Group and the related
companies in relation to the purchase of furniture and services
of decoration for counters and shops as well as different
types of moulds (the “Services”] in 2020 expired on 31
December 2023. The Company and certain subsidiaries of
the Group therefore entered info a new services agreement
with the related companies on 19 December 2023 |(the
"2023 Agreement’). Under the 2023 Agreement, the Group
agreed to purchase the Services from the related companies
for a period of three years starting from 1 January 2024. The
related companies are controlled by an executive director of
the Company and his close family members. Further defails
were disclosed in the Company’s announcements dafed 19
December 2023.

The continuing connected transactions contemplated under
the above services agreement would only be subject fo the
reporting, annual review and announcement requirements
and are exempt from the independent shareholders’ approval
requirement under the Listing Rules.

Lease of warehouse

A subsidiary of the Company has been leasing a warehouse
in Hong Kong from an executive director of the Company. The
continuing connected fransaction under the tenancy agreement
consfitutes a de minimis transaction under the Listing Rules and
is exempt from the reporting, annual review, announcement
and independent shareholders’ approval requirements under
the Listing Rules.

KAEIRAE] / Annual Report &3k 2024
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Continuing Connected Transactions
(continued)

(3)  Consultancy fee
A substantial shareholder who was the spouse of an
executive director of the Company had been re-engaged
as a consultant of the Company for a term of one year with
effect from 1 February 2024 on the expiry of the second term.
The substantial shareholder passed away and ceased to be
the consultant on 19 June 2024. The continuing connecfed
fransaction under the consultancy agreement also constitutes
a de minimis fransaction under the Listing Rules and is exempt
from the reporting, annual review, announcement and
independent shareholders’ approval requirements under the
Listing Rules.

Defails of the above continuing connected fransactions of the Group
are set out in note 13(a) to the financial statements.

14A.55 of the listing Rules, the independent
non-executive directors have reviewed the continuing connected
fransactions disclosed in (1) above and confirmed that the continuing
connected transactions have been entered info:

Pursuant to Rule

(i) in the ordinary and usual course of business of the Group;

[ij  on normal commercial terms or better; and

i) according to the agreement governing them on ferms that are
fair and reasonable and in the interests of the shareholders of
the Company as a whole.

The total amount in respect of the continuing connected transactions
disclosed in (1) above during the year under review has nof
exceeded the annual cap for the fransactions.

In respect of the contfinuing connected fransactions disclosed above,
the directors confirm that the Company has complied with the
disclosure requirements in accordance with Chapter 14A of the
Listing Rules during the year under review.
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Continuing Connected Transactions
(continued)

The Company has also received a lefter from Ernst & Young, the
Company’s auditor, to report on the Group's continuing connected
fransactions in accordance with Hong Kong Standard on Assurance
Engagements 3000 (Revised] Assurance Engagements Other
than Audits or Reviews of Historical Financial Information and
with reference to Practice Note 740 (Revised] Auditor’s Letter
on Continuing Connected Transactions under the Hong Kong
Listing Rules issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants. Ernst & Young have issued their unmodified letter
confaining the findings and conclusions in respect of the continuing
connected fransactions disclosed in (1) above in accordance with
Rule 14A.56 of the Listing Rules confirming that nothing has come to
their affention that causes them to believe the continuing connected
fransactions:

() have not been approved by the Company's board of directors;

(i)  were not entered info, in all material respects, in accordance
with the relevant agreements governing the fransactions; and

i)  have exceeded the maximum aggregate annual cap disclosed
in the announcement of the Company dated 19 December

2023.

Business Review

The business review of the Group for the year ended 31 December
2024 is provided in the secfions “Financial Highlights”, “Chairman’s
Statement” and “Management Discussion and Analysis” set out
on page 3, pages 8 to 11, and pages 13 to 25 respectively of
this Annual Report. For environmental policies and performance,
compliance with the relevant laws and regulations, and a
description of relationships with key stakeholders, please refer to
the “Environmental, Social and Governance Report” which will
be available on the websites of the Company and Hong Kong
Exchanges and Clearing Limited together with this Annual Report.

Auditor

Ernst & Young refire and a resolution for the re-appointment as
auditor of the Company will be proposed af the AGM.

On behalf of the Board

Ngok Ming Chu

Chairman

Hong Kong, 28 March 2025
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To the shareholders of Embry Holdings Limited
(Incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

Opinion

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of Embry
Holdings limited (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries (the “Group”)
set out on pages 82 to 188, which comprise the consolidated
statement of financial position as at 31 December 2024, and
the consolidated income statement, the consolidated statement of
comprehensive income, the consolidated statement of changes in
equity and the consolidated statement of cash flows for the year then
ended, and notes to the consolidated financial statements, including
material accounting policy information.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a frue and
fair view of the consolidated financial position of the Group as at 31
December 2024, and of its consolidated financial performance and
its consolidated cash flows for the year then ended in accordance
with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards ("HKFRSs") issued by
the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants {"HKICPA”)
and have been properly prepared in compliance with the disclosure
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

Basis for opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong
Standards on Auditing ["HKSAs") issued by the HKICPA. Our
responsibilities under those standards are further described in the
Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the consolidated financial
statements section of our report. We are independent of the Group
in accordance with the HKICPA's Code of Ethics for Professional
Accountants (the "Code”), and we have fulfilled our other ethical
responsibilities in accordance with the Code. We believe that the
audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to
provide a basis for our opinion.
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Independent Auditor’s Report (Continued)
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Key audit matters

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional
judgement, were of most significance in our audit of the
consolidated financial statements of the current period. These matters
were addressed in the context of our audit of the consolidated
financial statements as a whole, and in forming our opinion thereon,
and we do not provide a separate opinion on these matters. For
each matter below, our description of how our audit addressed the
matter is provided in that context.

We have fulfilled the responsibilities described in the Auditor’s
responsibilities for the audit of the consolidated financial statements
section of our report, including in relation to these matters.
Accordingly, our audit included the performance of procedures
designed to respond to our assessment of the risks of material
misstatement of the consolidated financial statements. The results of
our audit procedures, including the procedures performed to address
the matters below, provide the basis for our audit opinion on the
accompanying consolidated financial statfements.

[ & 7 5 2 IR

MREH FERRBRANELAE > 25
ABGEMBRRNEABAEENEE - B
EEERERMBH ERRAUBRER LA
BRFETEEN - KM H B L RER N
EENER - R THRBEMS » RARER
AR T RERMESH PRERFENS o

aﬂMFﬁEW%ﬁTZ&%&i MBI B AR E R
BHREAAENEE ) BOFTENERE > B1EA
ZEFENEE- IJH: HFIvE St 2ENIT
B MEHRMEREHMBRRENHERR
i ERRYSTE o RPINBFETF (BERENUT
FIEMFAIERF) BIER - AIFIH BB
B BREPTERNETERBHER -

How our audit addressed HEFIFEHN
Key audit matter the key audit matter FAREtEIE EIEMRETEE
Inventory provision FaiEE
As at 31 December 2024, the We tested the accuracy of the ATETWME+ZF HMEAE B£E
Group had net inventories of ageing analysis of the Group's =+—H> E5EN FENFHRERM4ED
HK$477,441,000, representing  inventories. We recalculated BEEAA77, 441,000 M7 HMIRE HE
65% and 20% of the Group's the inventory provision under the  7B7T » DRIEENRER BN HRREHFE

Group's policy and assessed
the assumptions being used
in the inventory provision
calculation by reviewing the
basis, the rationale and the

current assets and total assets,
respectively. The estimation

of the inventory provision
requires significant management
judgement, which includes

the recoverability of the cost

of inventories, the nature and

consistency of the inventory
provision policy, considering the
historical and current inventory
ageing information and taking

condition of inventories, the
marketability of finished goods
and the future usage of raw
materials.

info account the hisforical sales
pattern of aged inventories.

Related disclosures about the
accounting estimation and the
details of inventory provision are

included in notes 3, @ and 20 to

the financial statements.
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Key audit matters (confinved)
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How our audit addressed HEFIBvE N
Key audit matter the key audit matter FASREET I EIERRE s+ HIA
Impairment assessment of HthE E R EFFE
Other Asset
As at 31 December 2024, With regard to management's RIEZ_NFE+ZH FAREEEHHM
the Group had Other Asset (as impairment assessment of —+—H> EB£EE/N BENBETE
defined in note 19 1o the financial ~ Other Asset, we reviewed the HthEBEBE(EEENE RAESEEE
statements) of HK$342,660,000,  objectivity, independence and 19) #342,660,000%8 FrEEARINSBEE

representing 21% and 14% of

the Group's non-current assets
and total assefs, respectively.
Under the annual impairment
festing, the Group conducted

the impairment assessment by
comparing the nef carrying
amount of Other Asset with ifs
fair value as determined based
on the valuation performed by an
external valuer and a method of
valuation which involved certain
assumptions, including gross

unit rate per square metre. The
assumptions used in the valuation
have involved significant
management judgement. During
the year, an impairment of Other
Asset of HK$39,457,000 was
recognised fo reduce the carrying
amount of Other Asset fo its
recoverable amount.

Related disclosures about the
accounting esfimation and the
details of impairment assessment of
Other Asset are included in notes 3
and 19 to the financial statements.

expertise of the external valuer
engaged by management and
assessed the related data and
assumptions being adopted,
including unobservable inputs and
other estimates, by comparing key
valuation parameters including the
gross unit rate per square mefre
with market information. VWe
involved our valuation specidlists fo
assist us in reviewing the valuation
methodologies and key valuation
parameters on the fair value
estimation of Other Asset. We also
assessed the disclosures relating fo
the assumptions used in determining
the fair value of Other Assef in the
consolidated financial stafements.
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Independent Auditor’s Report (Continued)
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Key audit matters (confinved)

I3 2 & wh 3 IH (@)

How our audit addressed EFIRETN
Key audit matter the key audit matter RS HRIA RIPRIREEE
Impairment assessment of right- EREEEREEEER
of-use assets and property, plant {E5TE
and equipment
As at 31 December 2024, We evaluated management's RN_E_WNE+_"F HRMERE &5
the Group had rightofuse impairment assessment and =+—H> BEEER NEsFHEREM

assets of HK$ 108,035,000,
representing /% and 5% of the
Group's non-current assets and
fotal assefs, respectively, and
property, plant and equipment of
HK$617,954,000, representing
38% and 26% of the Group's
non-current assets and fotal

assets, respectively. Management
performed impairment assessments
on the Group's rightof-use

assets and property, plant and
equipment where an indicator of
impairment of these assets existed.
During the year, an impairment

of property, plant and equipment
of HK$ 118,699,000 and an
impairment of rightofuse assets of

HK$18,076,000 were recognised

fo reduce the carrying amounts

of certain property, plant and
equipment and rightof-use assefs to
their recoverable amounts.

the identification of CGUs or
groups of CGUs based on the
Group's accounting policies
and our understanding of the
Group's business.

In evaluating management’s
impairment assessment, we
also assessed the valuation
methodologies adopted by
management in determining
of the recoverable amounts of
the assets, CGUs or groups of
CGUs.

With regard to management’s
value in use calculations,
we evaluated and tested the
key assumptions used in the
calculations:

— for budgeted sales and
expenses, by comparing
the Group's budgets of the
relevant CGUs with the
historical results; and

— for discount rate, by
making reference to market
data and comparable
companies in the indusiry.
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Key audit matters (confinved)

I3 2 & wh 3 IH (@)

How our audit addressed #EMYEHME
Key audit matter the key audit matter FASREst$EIA IR E s+ HIA
Impairment assessment of right- ERAEEEREIEEER
of-use assets and property, plant Bi¥k (&
and equipment (confinued)
When performing the impairment  In relation tfo the fair value less  FEITREREE > &8 RBANEENAFER

fesf, management defermined

the recoverable amounts of the
relevant assets, cash-generating
units ("CGUs") or groups of CGUs
as at 31 December 2024 based
on the higher of value in use
calculations using the discounted
cash flow method or fair value
less costs of disposal. When

using value in use calculations,
significant management judgement
and esfimates were involved in
the assessments of the recoverable
amounts of CGUs or groups of
CGUs, for example budgeted
sales, budgefed expenses and
discount rate. The oufcome was
sensitive to the expected future
market conditions and the actual
performance of the CGUs or
groups of CGUs. The fair value
less costs of disposal of the relevant
assefs was defermined based

on a valuation performed by an
independent professional external
valuer, of which certain key

assumptions used, such as the gross

unit rate per square metre, have
involved significant management
judgement.

Related disclosures about the
accounting estimation and the
details of impairment assessments
are included in notes 3, 9, 16 and
18 1o the financial statements.

costs of disposal of the assets,
we reviewed the objectivity,
independence and expertise of
the external valuer engaged by
management and assessed the
related data and assumptions
being adopted, by comparing
key valuation parameters
including the gross unit rate
per square metre with market
information.

We involved our internal
valuation specialists to
assist us in evaluating the
appropriateness of the
methodologies and the key
assumptions used in the
valuations.

We also assessed the
disclosures of the impairment
assessment of property, plant
and equipment and right-of-use
assets included in notes 16 and
18 to the financial statements.
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Independent Auditor’s Report (Continued)

My 5 BB R )

Other information included in the
Annual Report

The directors of the Company are responsible for the other
information. The other information comprises the information included
in the Annual Report, other than the consolidated financial statements
and our auditor’s report thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover
the other information and we do not express any form of assurance
conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements,
our responsibility is o read the other information and, in doing so,
consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with
the consolidated financial statements or our knowledge obtained
in the audit or otherwise appears to be materially misstated. If,
based on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is
a material misstatement of this other information, we are required to
report that fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.

Responsibilities of the directors for the
consolidated financial statements

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation of
the consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair view in
accordance with HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA and the disclosure
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, and for such
internal confrol as the directors defermine is necessary to enable the
preparation of consolidated financial statements that are free from
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors of
the Company are responsible for assessing the Group's ability fo
confinue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters
related fo going concern and using the going concern basis of
accounting unless the directors of the Company either intend to
liquidate the Group or to cease operations or have no realistic
alfernative but to do so.

The direcfors of the Company are assisted by the Audit Committee in
discharging their responsibilities for overseeing the Group’s financial
reporting process.
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Independent Auditor’s Report (Continued)

M 5 BB R o)

Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of
the consolidated financial statements

Our objectives are fo obfain reasonable assurance about whether the
consolidated financial stafements as a whole are free from material
missfatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor'’s
report that includes our opinion. Our report is made solely to you, as
a body, and for no other purpose. We do not assume responsibility
fowards or accept liability to any other person for the contents of this
report.

Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a
guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with HKSAs will
always defect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements
can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if,
individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected
fo influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of
these consolidated financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise
professional judgement and maintain professional scepticism
throughout the audit. We also:

e I|dentify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the
consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or
error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to
those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and
appropriate fo provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of
not defecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is
higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve
collusion, forgery, infentional omissions, misrepresentations, or
the override of infernal control.

e Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the
audit in order fo design audit procedures that are appropriate
in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an
opinion on the effectiveness of the Group's internal control.

*  Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used
and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and related
disclosures made by the directors.
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Independent Auditor’s Report (Continued)

My 5 BB R )

Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of
the consolidated financial statements
(continued)

Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the
going concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit
evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists
related to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt
on the Group's ability fo continue as a going concern. If we
conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to
draw attention in our auditor’s report fo the related disclosures
in the consolidated financial statements or, if such disclosures
are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are
based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our
auditor’s report. However, future events or conditions may
cause the Group to cease to continue as a going concern.

Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the
consolidated financial statements, including the disclosures,
and whether the consolidated financial statements represent the
underlying fransactions and events in a manner that achieves
fair presentation.

Plan and perform the group audit to obtain sufficient
appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial information
of the entities or business units within the Group as a basis for
forming an opinion on the consolidated financial statements.
We are responsible for the direction, supervision and review
of the audit work performed for purposes of the group audit.
We remain solely responsible for our audit opinion.
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Independent Auditor’s Report (Continued)

M 5 BB R o)

Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of
the consolidated financial statements
(continued)

We communicate with the Audit Committee regarding, among other
matters, the planned scope and fiming of the audit and significant
audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal
confrol that we identify during our audit.

We also provide the Audit Committee with a statement that we have
complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding independence
and to communicate with them all relationships and other matters
that may reasonably be thought to bear on our independence, and
where applicable, actions taken to eliminate threats or safeguards
applied.

From the matters communicated with the Audit Committee, we
defermine those matters that were of most significance in the audit
of the consolidated financial statements of the current period and
are therefore the key audit matters. VWe describe these matters in our
auditor’s report unless law or regulation precludes public disclosure
about the matter or when, in extremely rare circumstances, we
defermine that a matfer should not be communicated in our report
because the adverse consequences of doing so would reasonably
be expected to outweigh the public interest benefits of such
communication.

The engagement pariner on the audit resulting in this independent
auditor’s report is Lai VWan Fung, Jacky.

Ernst & Young

Certified Public Accountants
27 /F, One Taikoo Place
979 Kings Road, Quarry Bay
Hong Kong

28 March 2025
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Year ended 31 December 2024 HZE_—_E_ME+_A=+—HILEE

REVENUE

Cost of sales

Gross profit

Other income and gains, net
Selling and disfribution expenses
Administrative expenses

Impairment of property, plant and equipment
Change in fair value of investment properties

Impairment of Other Assef
Impairment of rightofuse assets

Reversal of impairment/(impairment) of

financial assets, net
Other expenses
Finance costs

LOSS BEFORE TAX

Income fax credit/ (expense)

LOSS FOR THE YEAR
ATTRIBUTABLE TO
OWNERS OF THE COMPANY

LOSS PER SHARE
ATTRIBUTABLE TO
OWNERS OF THE COMPANY
— Basic (HK cents)

— Diluted (HK cents)
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Nofes
Mfat

o N

N

2024
—E-ME
HK$’000
FET
1,152,570
(303,896)

848,674

21,840
(813,910)
(159,813)
(118,699)

(69,380)
(39,457)
(18,076)

(617)

(1,415)
(17,683)

(368,536)

(4,899)

(373,435)

(88.40)
(88.40)

2023
—ET=HF
HK$'000
FET
1,281,753
(325,650)

256,103

31,655
(881,430)
(175,268)

889
(6,040
5,492

(4,697)
(19,959

(93,255)

21,087

(72,168)

(17.08)
(17.08)



Year ended 31 December 2024 HZE_—_E_ME+_A=+—HILEE

LOSS FOR THE YEAR

OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME/ (EXPENSE)

Other comprehensive expense that may be
reclassified fo the income statement in
subsequent periods:

Exchange differences on translation of
foreign operations

Other comprehensive income/ (expense)
that will not be reclassified to the income
stafement in subsequent periods:
Revaluation surplus
Deferred tax debited to asset revaluation
reserve (nofe 2./)

Net other comprehensive income that will not
be reclassified to the income statement
in subsequent periods

OTHER COMPREHENSIVE EXPENSE FOR
THE YEAR, NET OF TAX

TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE EXPENSE FOR

THE YEAR ATTRIBUTABLE TO OWNERS OF
THE COMPANY

2024
—E-mE
HK$’000
FET
FEHE (373,435)
Hith2EKA (%)
RHEZIE O EEMDEEER
HNEMEZEAS :
TEBINEBRESX
fERAERE (64,901)
REZBIPES T EHRDIERE
BRIEMKRA FEX) -
BERER 3,341
REESEHFHEENRZ
EIERRIE (M1 27) (835)
REEHEEIEEHIETIER
WEthZEEUA P EE
2,506
FEHMZ2EMSE »
Nep#iE (62,395)
TATEE ANELEE
2HEMAZETE
(435,830)
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HK$'000
FAET
(72,168)

(49,4106)

?,628

(2,407

7,221

(42,195)

(114,363)



31 December 2024 —E_&E+"A=+—H

NON-CURRENT ASSETS
Property, plant and equipment
Investment properties
Rightof-use assefs

Other Asset

Deferred tax assets

Deposits and other receivables

Total non-current assets

CURRENT ASSETS
Inventories
Trade receivables

Prepayments, deposits and other receivables

Tax recoverable
Cash and cash equivalents

Total current assets

CURRENT LIABILITIES

Trade and bills payable

Inferest-bearing bank and other borrowings
Lease liabilities

Other payables and accruals

Total current liabilities

NET CURRENT ASSETS

TOTAL ASSETS LESS CURRENT LIABILITIES
NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES

Inferest-bearing bank and other borrowings
lease liabilities

Deferred fax liabilities

Other payables

Total non-current liabilities

Net assets
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2024
—E-ME
HK$’000
FET

617,954
473,225
108,035
342,660
74,169
17,982

1,634,025

477,441
38,015
52,030

266

163,434

731,186

39,020
213,905
28,011
134,762

415,698
315,488
1,949,513

109,348
12,170
103,189
2,254

226,961
1,722,552

2023
—E-=fF
HK$'000
T

814,841
530,947
147,315
393,846
38,499
17,512

2,002,960

473,964
45,204
56,546

183

283,610

859,507

69,124
@3,556
32,627
163,703

359,010
500,497
2,503,457

194,756
21,394
126,671
2,254

345,075
2,158,382



Consolidated Statement of Financial Position (Continued)
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31 December 2024 —E_&E+"A=+—H

2024 2023
“EIpmE 2T =F
Nofes HK$’000 HK$'000
b3 F#ET FET
EQUITY g
Equity attributable to owners of TAEBEE AE(G S
the Company

Share capifal Bg < 28 4,224 4,224
Reserves (X 29 1,718,328 2,154,158
Total equity ‘BN 1,722,552 2,158,382

Ngok Ming Chu
EERER
Director

EF
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Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity
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Year ended 31 December 2024 #E_—Z_N&E+_F=+—HILFE

Attributable to owners of the Company

LN
Reserves
11
Enterprise
expansion
and
Share Asset stafutory Share  Exchange
Share  premium Contributed revaluation ~ reserve opfion fluctuation ~ Goodwill  Retained Total Total
copifll ~ account  surplus reserve funds  reserve  reserve  reserve profits ~ reserves equity
i in BEE CREERR ERKE
2. HERE B8RS ffE AEHEE RRERE i HEME ROEN ke oD
Noes  HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$000  HK$000  HK$'000  HKS'000 HKS'000  HK$'000  HK$000  HK$000
fat Fén FiEn FiEn FEn FEn FEn FEr  TEr  TEr  FEn  TEn
[noke 29) [noke 29) [noke 29)
(Hiz£29) (it 29) (Wit 29)
Al 1 Jonuary 2024 RZZZME—F—H 4224 386512 122610 42,814 192,154 3393 (132489)  (3,168) 1,542,332 2,154,158 2,158,382
Loss for the year FEER - - - - - - - - (373435 (373,435 (373,435
Revaluation surplus BfRE 16 - - - 3,341 - - - - - 3,341 3,341
Deferred tax debited to asset REEEGEHETRZ

revaluation reserve BB 7 - - - (835) - - - - - (835) (835)
Exchange diferences relaled o~ HEIEINEERTESE 2

foreign operations ERER - - - - - - (64901) - - (64901)  (64,901)
Total comprehensive income,/ ERZERA/ (%)

[expense] for the year o) - - - 2,506 - - (64901) - (373435 (435,830)  (435,830)
Share opfions lapsed BB - - - - - (26) - - 26 - -
At 31 December 2024 RIZ-ME

+ZA=+-A 4224 386512 122610 45320 192,154 3367 (197,390)  (3,168) 1,168,923 1718328 1,722,552
At 1 Jonuary 2023 RZZZ=F—A—H 4224 386512 122610 35593 192,154 3,055 (83,073 (3,168] 1,614,425 2,268,108 2,272,332
Loss for the year FEER - - - - - - - - [72,168)  [72,168)  [72,168)
Revaluation surplus SRS 16 - - - 9,628 - - - - - 9628 9628
Deferred fax debited fo asset REESERHENRZ

revaluation reserve BIERE 27 = = = (2,407) = = = = = (2,407) (2,407)
Exchange differences relatedto  TEIEINEBRIEL Y

foreign operations ERER - - - - - - [494164 - - [49416)  [49.416)
Total comprehensive income,/ ER2AERA/ (%)

[expense] for the year a5 - - - 7,221 - - (49416 - (72,168 (114,363 (114,363
Share options lapsed FERRIEL - - - - - 175) - - 75 - -
Equitysetled share option RiEGERRERS

arangements 30 = = = = = 413 = = = 413 413
At 31 December 2023 RIBZ=

+ZA=1+-8 4224 386,512 122610 42814 192,154 3,393 (132,489 (3,168 1,542,332 2,154,158 2,158,382
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Year ended 31 December 2024 HZE_—_E_ME+_A=+—HILEE

2024 2023
Mg —TO=F
Notes HK$’000 HK$'000

HzE F#ET FET
CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES KEEEFEZIRETE
Loss before tax PRI I ESIR (368,536) (93,255)
Adjustments for: S
Finance costs =YD 8 17,683 19,959
Bank interest income SRITH WA 6 (2,632) (4,844)
Covid-19-related rent concessions EHME AR HE Covid-19-
from lessors BIEEENEEER % = (273)
Equity-seftled share option expense IRt BRI R - 413
Depreciation of property, plant ME BMEASBZITE
and equipment Q 5],672 61 ,062
Depreciation of rightof-use assets EREEEZITE Q 30,906 27,631
Gain on termination of leases KRIFFAEZ & Q (187) (46)
Loss on disposal /write-off of items of HE MHEDE S BEKR
property, plant and equipment, nef REEE S FE 9 15 197
Write-back/write-off of provision for [REF SR HEO
obsolete inventories, net sE o JHEE Q (16,300) (20,234)
Impairment/(reversal of impairment) of FEWE ZIEZRE
trade receivables, net CRUE[E#S) - F3E Q 617 (5,492)
Impairment of rightofuse assets ERREERE Q 18,076 6,040
Impairment of property, plant and equipment  #J% « R K& EHRE Q 118,699 =
Impairment of Other Asset Hh&EERIE % 39,457 -
Changes in fair value of investment properties & E¥) 2 AT {EESH) 6 69,380 (889)
(41,150) (@,731)
Decrease in inventories =5/ 12,823 4,526
Decrease in trade receivables FEUR B 5 BRRUR D 6,572 /7,731
Decrease/(increase) in prepayments, FENRUE ~ e R EMEU
deposits and other receivables AIERD, (B 0) 4,046 (5,524
Increase/(decrease] in frade and bills payables  FE(T B8 5 BR PR FE(S 245
a0, Gl b) (30,104) 30,096
Increase/(decrease) in other payables HME N RE R ESTRIE
and accruals w0, CRi) (28,941) 9,392
Cash generated from/(used in) operations SRR, CRt) IRe (76,754) 36,490
Overseas taxes refunded/(paid) B (BAY) BIMNRIE (4,868) 1,462
Net cash flows from/(used in) operating activities &S EFE 2 IBEHR A, CRH)
SHEE (81,622) 37,952

Annual Report &%§ 2024 /



Year ended 31 December 2024 HZE_—_E_ME+_A=+—HILEE

CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES
Inferest received
Purchases of items of property,
plant and equipment
Proceeds from disposal of items of
property, plant and equipment
Increase in right-of-use assefs
Decrease in non-pledged
time deposits with original maturity period
over three months

Net cash flows used in investing activities

CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES
New bank borrowings

Repayment of bank borrowings

Increase in bank advance for discounted bills
Principal portion of lease payments

Inferest paid

Net cash flows used in financing activities

NET DECREASE IN CASH AND
CASH EQUIVALENTS
Cash and cash equivalents af
beginning of year
Effect of foreign exchange rate changes, net

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS
AT END OF YEAR

ANALYSIS OF BALANCES OF
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS

Cash and bank balances

Non-pledged time deposits with original maturity
of less than three months when acquired

Cash and cash equivalents as stafed
in the consolidated statement of cash flows

Notes
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2024

ke 11 - 3

HK$°000
FET

2,632
(8,325)

35
(444)

(6,102)

10,638
(62,662)
88,298
(39,383
(17,683

(20,792)

(108,516)

283,610
(11,660)

163,434

121,494

41,940

163,434

2023
—E-—fF
HK$'000
FAET
4,844
(27,660)
22

(484)

6,282
(16,996)

41,758
(80,218)

(42,344]
(19,959)

(101,463)

(80,507)

373,896
(9,779

283,610

100,895

182,715

283,610



Notes to Financial Statements

4 5 it % B ik

31 December 2024 —E_&E+"A=+—H

1. Corporate Information

1. 27 &EH

The Company was incorporated as an exempted company
with limited liability in the Cayman Islands on 29 August 2006
under the Companies Act, Chapter 22 (law 3 of 1961,
as consolidated and revised) of the Cayman Islands. The
registered office address of the Company is Cricket Square,
Hutchins Drive, P.O. Box 2681, Grand Cayman KY1-1111,
the Cayman Islands and the principal place of business of the
Company is located at 7th Floor, Wyler Centre I, 200 Tai Lin
Pai Road, Kwai Chung, New Territories, Hong Kong.

The principal activity of the Company is investment holding.
Details of the principal activities of the subsidiaries are set
out in note 37 to the financial statements. There were no
significant changes in the nature of the Group's principal
activities during the year.

Accounting Policies

2.1  Basis of Preparation

These financial statements have been prepared in
accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting
Standards ("HKFRSs") (which include all Hong Kong
Financial Reporting Standards, Hong Kong Accounting
Standards ("HKASs") and Interpretfations) issued by the
Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants
("HKICPA") and the disclosure requirements of the
Hong Kong Companies Ordinance. They have been
prepared under the historical cost convention, except for
investment properties which have been measured at fair
value. These financial statements are presented in Hong
Kong dollars and all values are rounded to the nearest
thousand [HK$'000) except when otherwise indicated.

KRABRZEZERFENBZ+NLBRE
HEHER 228 QA (—NA—FE6
= RIS REE]) RHEEEEREMMKIL
AERRBRAE o KRB MFEE
Hhk % Cricket Square, Hutchins Drive, P.O.
Box 2681, Grand Cayman KY1-1111, the
Cayman Islands » TIAR BB E B & =
AABR BN AL RAEHE 20058 EmF
DZHR/ 18 -

FRBNEBXEBRAREER - BRINE
ABNEZXFF BRI BRERMEE
37 c FRAEENTIEXEHMELREKX

28 o

& 51 BUR

21 EFERE
ZEMBRRBESESHAASY
(TEBEHMAS ) EHENEBM
BREER TS BYBREEL )
(BIEFE S EMHRELER 55
iR ((EBEER)) R2E)
REBADVERORBERE - ZZ5H
BMRIBIBFEL A EHE > 18
EYERANTEHE - BBEIS
RSN » LB BB RLUB T2
FIEEESEEEREAT T (F5

7T) °©
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Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)
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31 December 2024 —E_&E+"A=+—H

2. Accounting Policies (continved)

21

Basis of Preparation (continued)

Basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements include the
financial statements of the Company and ifs subsidiaries
(collectively referred to as the "Group”) for the year
ended 31 December 2024. A subsidiary is an entfity
(including a structured entity), directly or indirectly,
controlled by the Company. Control is achieved when
the Group is exposed, or has rights, fo variable retuns
from its involvement with the investee and has the ability
fo affect those retumns through its power over the investee
[i.e., existing rights that give the Group the current ability
to direct the relevant activities of the investee).

Generally, there is a presumption that a majority of
voting rights results in confrol. When the Company has
less than a maijority of the voting or similar rights of an
investee, the Group considers all relevant facts and
circumstances in assessing whether it has power over an
investee, including:

(o) the confractual arrangement with the other vote
holders of the investee;

(b)  rights arising from other confractual arrangements;

and

[c) the Group's voting rights and potential voting
rights.

The financial statements of the subsidiaries are prepared
for the same reporting period as the Company, using
consistent accounting policies. The results of subsidiaries
are consolidated from the date on which the Group
obtains control, and continue to be consolidated until the
date that such control ceases.

Profit or loss and each component of other comprehensive
income are attributed to the owners of the parent of the
Group and fo the non-controlling inferests, even if this
results in the non-controlling interests having a deficit
balance. All intra-group assets and liabilities, equity,
income, expenses and cash flows relating fo transactions
between members of the Group are eliminated in full on
consolidation.

Embry Holdings Limited Z2#175 2R B RAE / Annual Report ¥R 2024
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Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)
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31 December 2024 —E_&E+"A=+—H

2. Accounting Policies (continved)

2. ®EFBUR #)

2.1 Basis of Preparation (continued) 21 E2INEE@#E)
Basis of consolidation (continued) RaR%E (B)
The Group reassesses whether or not it controls an i 55 B K 15 5 [ BR b ot = T 4= i) 188
investee if facts and circumstances indicate that there are REHEA-—EHLEAE  BIAE
changes to one or more of the three elements of control EeEdESNHAEFREHR -
described above. A change in the ownership inferest of A B R AV EE) (T RK
a subsidiary, without a loss of control, is accounted for EEEHIRE) > IMABRBSYIERRAL S ©
as an equity fransaction.
If the Group loses control over a subsidiary, it fisl A S B 2R 5 Y /BB 2 B B9 2l 4 -
derecognises the related assefs (including goodwill, RGeS RELEERMB AT
liabilities, any non-confrolling inferest and the exchange MWAERREE - 818« EAIFERE
fluctuation reserve; and recognises the fair value of any mRE KB R ; WHESERR
investment retained and any resulting surplus or deficit BRENATEBEREMHILESE
in the consolidated income statement. The Group's NEEREEE - AEBE R AN HAih
share of components previously recognised in other e WAEENEGEHMNERTIE
comprehensive income is reclassified to the consolidated o REAEEERHEEBEE
income statement or refained profits, as appropriate, on HEEMEXRNEREEEHSE
the same basis as would be required if the Group had EiroWm R REmA o
directly disposed of the related assets or liabilities.

2.2 Changes in Accounting Policies and Disclosures 11 BFEREEBRINE

The Group has adopted the following revised HKFRSs for
the first time for the current year's financial statements.

FEEEMEFENMBRERER
PR EES TR BT IRE R o

Amendments to HKFRS 16 lease Liability in a Sale BBUBREED ERMOENEESR
and leaseback B163R21EE] &
Amendments to HKAS 1 Classification of liabilities EEGH £ BEEDEETT
as Current or R A ) BIFREH(—F
Non-current the “2020 ZEFEEET))
Amendments”)
Amendments to HKAS 1 Non-current liabilities with BA TR Wt 22 EEEYIE B
Covenants (the “2022 B2 B] BE(ICE-Z
Amendments”) FIEET )
Amendments fo HKAS 7 Supplier Finance BHBGER HEFHELH
and HKFRS 7 Arrangements B/ RKREB
IR S 2EH
H7 R EE]
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Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)
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31 December 2024 —E_&E+"A=+—H

2. Accounting Policies (continved)

2.2 Changes in Accounting Policies and Disclosures (continued)
The nature and the impact of the revised HKFRSs are
described below:

(a)

(b)

Embry Holdings Limited Z2%(

Amendments to HKFRS 16 specify the requirements
that a seller-lessee uses in measuring the lease
liability arising in a sale and leaseback transaction
fo ensure the sellerlessee does not recognise any
amount of the gain or loss that relates fo the right
of use it refains. Since the Group has no sale
and leaseback transactions with variable lease
payments that do not depend on an index or a
rate occurring from the date of initial application
of HKFRS 16, the amendments did not have any
impact on the financial position or performance of
the Group.

The 2020 Amendments clarify the requirements
for classifying liabilities as current or non-current,
including what is meant by a right to defer
seflement and that a right to defer must exist at
the end of the reporting period. Classification of
a liability is unaffected by the likelihood that the
entity will exercise ifs right to defer sefflement. The
amendments also clarify that a liability can be
sefiled in its own equity instruments, and that only
if a conversion option in a convertible liability is
itself accounted for as an equity instrument would
the terms of a liability not impact ifs classification.
The 2022 Amendments further clarify that,
among covenants of a liability arising from a loan
arrangement, only those with which an entity must
comply on or before the reporting date affect the
classification of that liability as current or non-
current. Additional disclosures are required for
non-current liabilities that are subject fo the entfity
complying with future covenants within
after the reporting period.

12 months
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Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)
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31 December 2024 —E_&E+"A=+—H

2. Accounting Policies (continved)

2.2 Changes in Accounting Policies and Disclosures (continued)
The nature and the impact of the revised HKFRSs are
described below: (continued)

(b)

(c)

(continued)

The Group has reassessed the terms and conditions
1 January 2023 and 2024
and concluded that the classification of its liabilities
as current or non-current remained unchanged upon
initial application of the amendments. Accordingly,
the amendments did not have any impact on the
financial position or performance of the Group.

of its liabilities as at

Amendments to HKAS 7 and HKFRS 7 clarify the
characteristics of supplier finance arrangements
and require additional disclosure of such
arrangements. The disclosure requirements in
the amendments are infended to assist users of
financial statements in understanding the effects
of supplier finance arrangements on an entfity’s
liabilities, cash flows and exposure to liquidity
risk. As the Group does not have supplier finance
arrangements, the amendments did not have any
impact on the Group's financial statements.
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Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)
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31 December 2024 —E_&E+"A=+—H

2. Accounting Policies (continved)
Issued but not yet Effective Hong Kong Financial Reporting

23

Standards

The Group has not applied the following new and
revised HKFRSs, that have been issued but are nof et
effective, in these financial statements. The Group intends
to apply these new and revised HKFRSs, if applicable,
when they become effective.

HKFRS 18
HKFRS 19

Amendments to
HKFRS 9 and
HKFRS 7

Amendments to
HKFRS 9 and
HKFRS 7

Amendments to
HKFRS 10 and
HKAS 28

Amendments to
HKAS 21

Annual Improvements

to HKFRS Accounting

Standards —
Volume 11

January 2025

January 2026

Presentation and Disclosure in
Financial Statements®

Subsidiaries without Public
Accountability: Disclosures®

Amendments to the
Classification and
Measurement of Financial
Instruments?

Contracts Referencing
Nature—dependent
Electricity?

Sale or Contribution of Assets
between an Investor and its
Associate or Joint Venture®

Lack of Exchangeability'
Amendments to HKFRS T,

HKFRS 7, HKFRS @, HKFRS
10 and HKAS 72

Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1
Effective for annual periods beginning on or affer 1

Effective for annual/reporting periods beginning on or
after 1 January 2027

4 No mandatory effective date yet determined but

available for adoption
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Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)
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31 December 2024 —E_&E+"A=+—H

2. Accounting Policies (continved)

23

Issued but not yet Effective Hong Kong Financial Reporting
Standards (continued)

Further information about those HKFRSs that are expected
to be applicable to the Group is described below.

HKFRS 18 replaces HKAS 1 Presentation of Financial
Statements. While a number of sections have been
brought forward from HKAS 1 with limited changes,
HKFRS 18 introduces new requirements for presentation
within the income statement, including specified tofals
and subtofals. Entities are required to classify all income
and expenses within the income statement into one
of the five categories: operating, investing, financing,
income taxes and discontinued operations and to present
two new defined subtofals. It also requires disclosures
about managementdefined performance measures in a
single note and introduces enhanced requirements on
the grouping (aggregation and disaggregation) and
the location of information in both the primary financial
statements and the nofes. Some requirements previously
included in HKAS 1 are moved to HKAS 8 Accounting
Policies, Changes in Accounting Estimates and Errors,
which is renamed as HKAS 8 Basis of Preparation
of Financial Statements. As a consequence of the
issuance of HKFRS 18, limited, but widely applicable,
amendments are made to HKAS 7 Statement of Cash
Flows, HKAS 33 Earnings per Share and HKAS 34
Interim Financial Reporting. In addition, there are minor
consequential amendments to other HKFRSs. HKFRS 18
and the consequential amendments to other HKFRSs
are effective for annual periods beginning on or affer
1 January 2027 with earlier application permitted.
Retrospective application is required. The Group is
currently analysing the new requirements and assessing
the impact of HKFRS 18 on the presentation and
disclosure of the Group's financial statements.

2. HEIBUR (1)
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Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)
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2. Accounting Policies (continved)

23

Issued but not yet Effective Hong Kong Financial Reporting
Standards (continued)

HKFRS 19 allows eligible entities to elect to apply
reduced disclosure requirements while still applying
the recognition, measurement and presentation
requirements in other HKFRSs. To be eligible, at the end
of the reporting period, an entity must be a subsidiary
as defined in HKFRS 10 Consolidated Financial
Statements, cannot have public accountability and must
have a parent (ultimate or intermediate) that prepares
consolidated financial statements available for public
use which comply with HKFRSs. Earlier application is
permitted. As the Company is a listed company, it is
not eligible to elect to apply HKFRS 19. Some of the
Company'’s subsidiaries are considering the application
of HKFRS 19 in their specified financial statements.

Amendments to HKFRS 9@ and HKFRS 7 clarify the
date on which a financial asset or financial liability is
derecognised and infroduce an accounting policy option
to derecognise a financial liability that is seffled through
an electronic payment system before the sefflement date
if specified criteria are met. The amendments clarify
how fo assess the contractual cash flow characteristics
of financial assets with environmental, social and
governance and other similar contingent features.
Moreover, the amendments clarify the requirements for
classifying financial assets with non-recourse features
and contractually linked instruments. The amendments
also include additional disclosures for investments in
equity instruments designated at fair value through other
comprehensive income and financial instruments with
contingent features. The amendments shall be applied
refrospectively with an adjustment to opening refained
profits (or other component of equity] at the initial
application date. Prior periods are not required to be
restated and can only be restated without the use of
hindsight. Earlier application of either all the amendments
at the same time or only the amendments related fo the
classification of financial assets is permitted.
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2. Accounting Policies (continved)

2.3 Issued but not yet Effective Hong Kong Financial Reporting

Standards (continued)

Annual Improvements to HKFRS Accounting Standards
— Volume 11 set out amendments to HKFRS 1, HKFRS
7 |and the accompanying Guidance on implementing

HKFRS /), HKFRS @, HKFRS 10 and HKAS 7. Details of

the amendments that are expected to be applicable to

the Group are as follows:

HKFRS 7 Financial Instruments: Disclosures: The
amendments have updated certain wording in
paragraph B38 of HKFRS 7 and paragraphs
IG1, IG14 and IG20B of the Guidance on
implementing HKFRS 7 for the purpose of
simplification or achieving consistency with other
paragraphs in the standard and/or with the
concepts and terminology used in other standards.
In addition, the amendments clarify that the
Guidance on implementing HKFRS 7 does not
necessarily illustrate all the requirements in the
referenced paragraphs of HKFRS 7 nor does it
create additional requirements. Earlier application
is permitted.

HKFRS @ Financial Instruments: The amendments
clarify that when a lessee has determined that a
lease liability has been extinguished in accordance
with HKFRS @, the lessee is required to apply
paragraph 3.3.3 of HKFRS 9 and recognise any
resulting gain or loss in profit or loss. In addition,
the amendments have updated certain wording
in paragraph 5.1.3 of HKFRS 9 and Appendix A
of HKFRS 9@ to remove potential confusion. Earlier
application is permitted.
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Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)
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31 December 2024 —E_&E+"A=+—H

2. Accounting Policies (continved)

2.3 lssued but not yet Effective Hong Kong Financial Reporting

Standards (continued)

e HKFRS 10 Consolidated Financial Statements: The
amendments clarify that the relationship described
in paragraph B74 of HKFRS 10 is just one
example of various relationships that might exist
between the investor and other parties acting as
de facto agents of the investor, which removes the
inconsistency with the requirement in paragraph
B73 of HKFRS 10. Earlier application is permitted.

e HKAS 7 Statement of Cash Flows: The
amendments replace the term “cost method” with
“at cost” in paragraph 37 of HKAS 7 following
the prior deletion of the definition of “cost method”.
Earlier application is permitted.

The Group is in the process of making an assessment
of the impact of these new and revised HKFRSs upon
initial application, but is not yet in a position to state
whether these new and revised HKFRSs would have
any significant impact on its results of operations and
financial position.
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Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)
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2. Accounting Policies (continved)

24

Material Accounting Policies

Business combinations and goodwill

Business combinations are accounted for using the
acquisition method. The consideration transferred is
measured at the acquisition date fair value which is
the sum of the acquisition date fair values of assets
transferred by the Group, liabilities assumed by the
Group to the former owners of the acquiree and the
equity inferests issued by the Group in exchange for
confrol of the acquiree. For each business combination,
the Group elects whether to measure the non-
controlling interests in the acquiree at fair value or at
the proportionate share of the acquiree’s identifiable net
assefs. All other components of non-controlling interests
are measured at fair value. Acquisition-elated cosfs are
expensed as incurred.

The Group determines that it has acquired a business
when the acquired set of activities and assets includes an
input and a substantive process that together significantly
confribute to the ability fo create outputs.

When the Group acquires a business, it assesses the
financial assets and liabilities assumed for appropriate
classification and designation in accordance with the
confractual terms, economic circumstances and pertinent
conditions as at the acquisition date. This includes the
separation of embedded derivatives in host contracts of
the acquiree.

Any contingent consideration to be transferred by the
acquirer is recognised at fair value at the acquisition
date. Contingent consideration classified as an asset
or a liability is measured at fair value with changes
in fair value recognised in the income statement.
Contingent consideration that is classified as equity is not
remeasured and subsequent sefflement is accounted for
within equity.
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31 December 2024 —E_&E+"A=+—H

2. Accounting Policies (continved)

24

Material Accounting Policies (continued)

Business combinations and goodwill (continued)

Goodwill is initially measured at cost, being the excess
of the aggregate of the consideration fransferred, the
amount recognised for non-controlling interests and any
fair value of the Group's previously held equity interests
in the acquiree over the identifiable assets acquired
and liabilities assumed. If the sum of this consideration
and other items is lower than the fair value of the net
assets acquired, the difference is, affer reassessment,
recognised in the income statement as a gain on bargain
purchase.

After initial recognition, goodwill is measured at cost less
any accumulated impairment losses. Goodwill is tested
for impairment annually or more frequently if events or
changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying
value may be impaired. The Group performs its annual
impairment test of goodwill as at 31 December. For
the purpose of impairment testing, goodwill acquired
in a business combination is, from the acquisition date,
allocated to each of the Group's cash-generating units,
or groups of cash-generating units, that are expected to
benefit from the synergies of the combination, irrespective
of whether other assets or liabilities of the Group are
assigned to those units or groups of units.

Impairment is determined by assessing the recoverable
amount of the cash-generating unit (group of cash-
generating units) to which the goodwill relates. Where
the recoverable amount of the cash-generating unit (group
of cash-generating units) is less than the carrying amount,
an impairment loss is recognised. An impairment loss
recognised for goodwill is not reversed in a subsequent
period.

Where goodwill has been allocated to a cash-
generating unit (or group of cash-generating units) and
part of the operation within that unit is disposed of, the
goodwill associated with the operation disposed of is
included in the carrying amount of the operation when
defermining the gain or loss on the disposal. Goodwill
disposed of in these circumstances is measured based
on the relative value of the operation disposed of and
the portion of the cash-generating unit refained.
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2. Accounting Policies (continved)

24

Material Accounting Policies (continued)

Fair value measurement

The Group measures ifs investment properties at fair
value af the end of each reporting period. Fair value is
the price that would be received fo sell an asset or paid
fo transfer a liability in an orderly transaction between
market participants at the measurement date. The fair
value measurement is based on the presumption that
the transaction to sell the asset or transfer the liability
takes place either in the principal market for the asset
or liability, or in the absence of a principal market, in
the most advantageous market for the asset or liability.
The principal or the most advantageous market must be
accessible by the Group. The fair value of an asset or
a liability is measured using the assumptions that market
participants would use when pricing the asset or liability,
assuming that market participants act in their economic
best interest.

A fair value measurement of a nonfinancial asset takes
into account a market participant’s ability to generate
economic benefits by using the asset in ifs highest and
best use or by selling it o another market participant that
would use the asset in ifs highest and best use.

The Group uses valuation techniques that are appropriate
in the circumstances and for which sufficient data are
available to measure fair value, maximising the use of
relevant observable inputs and minimising the use of
unobservable inpufs.
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Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)
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31 December 2024 —E_&E+"A=+—H

2. Accounting Policies (continved)
2.4 Material Accounting Policies (continued)

Fair value measurement (continued)

All assets and liabilities for which fair value is measured
or disclosed in the financial statements are categorised
within the fair value hierarchy, described as follows,
based on the lowest level input that is significant to the
fair value measurement as a whole:

level 1 — based on quoted prices (unadjusted)
in active markets for identical assets or
liabilities

level 2 — based on valuation techniques for which

the lowest level input that is significant to
the fair value measurement is observable,
either directly or indirectly

level 3 — based on valuation techniques for which
the lowest level input that is significant fo
the fair value measurement is unobservable

For assets and liabilities that are recognised in the
financial statements on a recurring basis, the Group
determines whether transfers have occurred between
levels in the hierarchy by reassessing categorisation
(based on the lowest level input that is significant to the
fair value measurement as a whole] at the end of each
reporting period.
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2. Accounting Policies (continved)
2.4 Material Accounting Policies (continued)

Related parties

A party is considered to be related to the Group if:

(a)

or

(b)

the party is a person or a close member of that
person’s family and that person

(i)
(i)

(ifi)

has confrol or joint control over the Group;
has significant influence over the Group; or
is a member of the key management

personnel of the Group or of a parent of the
Group;

the party is an entity where any of the following
conditions applies:

(i)

(i)

(ifi)

(iv)

(v)

(vi

(vii)

(viii)

the entity and the Group are members of the
same group;

one entity is an associafe or joint venture of
the other entity (or of a parent, subsidiary or
fellow subsidiary of the other entity);

the entity and the Group are joint ventures of
the same third party;

one entity is a joint venture of a third entity
and the other entity is an associate of the

third entfity;

the entity is a postemployment benefit plan
for the benefit of employees of either the
Group or an entity related to the Group;

the entity is controlled or jointly controlled by
a person identified in (a);

a person identified in (a)(i) has significant
influence over the entity or is a member of the
key management personnel of the entity (or of
a parent of the entity); and

the entity, or any member of a group of
which it is a part, provides key management
personnel services to the Group or to the
parent of the Group.
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2. Accounting Policies (continved)

24

Embry Holdings Limited ZF S5 ZERARA

Material Accounting Policies (continued)

Impairment of non-financial assets

Where an indication of impairment exists, or when
annual impairment festing for an asset is required (other
than inventories, deferred tax assets, financial assets and
investment properties), the assef’s recoverable amount is
estimated. An asset’s recoverable amount is the higher of
the asset's or cash-generating unit's value in use and its
fair value less costs of disposal, and is defermined for an
individual assef, unless the asset does not generate cash
inflows that are largely independent of those from other
assets or groups of assets, in which case the recoverable
amount is determined for the cash-generating unit to
which the assef belongs.

In testing a cash-generating unit for impairment, a portion
of the carrying amount of a corporate asset (e.g., a
headquarters building) is allocated to an individual cash-
generating unit if it can be allocated on a reasonable
and consistent basis or, otherwise, fo the smallest group
of cash-generating units.

An impairment loss is recognised only if the carrying
amount of an asset exceeds its recoverable amount. In
assessing value in use, the estimated future cash flows
are discounted to their present value using a pre-fax
discount rate that reflects current market assessments
of the time value of money and the risks specific fo the
asset. An impairment loss is charged to the income
statement in the period in which it arises in those expense
categories consistent with the function of the impaired
assefs.

An assessment is made at the end of each reporting
period as to whether there is an indication that previously
recognised impairment losses may no longer exist or
may have decreased. If such an indication exists, the
recoverable amount is estimated. A previously recognised
impairment loss of an asset other than goodwill is
reversed only if there has been a change in the estimates
used to determine the recoverable amount of that
asset, but not to an amount higher than the carrying
amount that would have been defermined (net of any
depreciation/amortisation) had no impairment loss been
recognised for the asset in prior years. A reversal of such
an impairment loss is credited to the income statement in
the period in which it arises.
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2. Accounting Policies (continved)

24

Material Accounting Policies (continued)

Property, plant and equipment and depreciation

Property, plant and equipment, other than construction
in progress, are stated at cost less accumulated
depreciation and any impairment losses. The cost of
an item of property, plant and equipment comprises
its purchase price and any directly attributable costs of
bringing the asset to its working condition and location
for its infended use.

Expenditure incurred after items of property, plant
and equipment have been put info operation, such as
repairs and maintenance, is normally charged fo the
income sfatement in the period in which it is incurred.
In situations where the recognition criteria are satisfied,
the expenditure for a major inspection is capitalised
in the carrying amount of the asset as a replacement.
Where significant parts of property, plant and equipment
are required to be replaced at intervals, the Group
recognises such parts as individual assets with specific
useful lives and depreciates them accordingly.

Changes in the values of property, plant and equipment
are dealt with as movements in the assef revaluation
reserve. If the tofal of this reserve is insufficient fo cover
a deficit, on an individual asset basis, the excess of
the deficit is charged to the income statement. Any
subsequent revaluation surplus is credited fo the income
statement to the extent of the deficit previously charged.
On disposal of a revalued asset, the relevant portion
of the asset revaluation reserve realised in respect of
previous valuations is transferred fo retained profits as a
movement in reserves.

Depreciation is calculated on the straightline basis to
write off the cost of each item of property, plant and
equipment to its residual value over its estimated useful
life. The principal annual rafes used for this purpose are
as follows:

2% 10 3.3%

4.5% to 20%
10% to 20%
10% to 20%

Buildings

leasehold improvements

Plant and machinery

Furniture, fixtures and office equipment

20% to 25%

Motor vehicles
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2. Accounting Policies (continved)

24

Embry Holdings Limited ZF S5 ZERARA

Material Accounting Policies (continued)

Property, plant and equipment and depreciation (continued)

Where parts of an item of property, plant and equipment
have different useful lives, the cost of that item is allocated
on a reasonable basis among the parts and each part is
depreciated separately. Residual values, useful lives and
the depreciation method are reviewed, and adjusted if
appropriafe, at least at each financial year end.

An item of property, plant and equipment including
any significant part initially recognised is derecognised
upon disposal or when no future economic benefits are
expected from its use or disposal. Any gain or loss on
disposal or retirement recognised in the income statement
in the year the asset is derecognised is the difference
between the net sales proceeds and the carrying amount
of the relevant asset.

Construction in progress is stated at cost less any
impairment losses, and is not depreciated. It is
reclassified to the appropriafe category of property, plant
and equipment when completed and ready for use.

Investment properties

Investment properties are interests in land and
buildings held to eamn rental income and/or for capital
appreciation. Such properties are measured initially at
cost, including transaction costs. Subsequent to initial
recognition, investment properties are stated at fair
value, which reflects market conditions at the end of the
reporting period.

Gains or losses arising from changes in the fair values
of investment properties are included in the income
statement in the year in which they arise.

Any gains or losses on the retirement or disposal of

an investment property are recognised in the income
statement in the year of the refirement or disposal.
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2. Accounting Policies (continved)

24

Material Accounting Policies (continued)

Investment properties (continued)

If a property occupied by the Group as an owner-
occupied property becomes an investment property, the
Group accounts for such property in accordance with
the policy stated under “Property, plant and equipment
and depreciation” for owned property and/or accounts
for such property in accordance with the policy stated
under “Right-of-use assets” for property held as a right
of-use asset up fo the date of change in use, and any
difference af that date between the carrying amount
and the fair value of the property is accounted for as a
revaluation in accordance with HKAS 16 Property, Plant
and Equipment.

Other Asset

Other Asset is the right fo receive the new properties
under a relocation arrangement, further details of which
are given in note 19 fo the financial statements. Such
assef, being the consideration to be received upon
disposal of the original properties under the relocation
arrangement, is initially recognised at its fair value.
Subsequent fo the initial recognition, Other Asset is stated
at cost less any impairment losses.
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Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)
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31 December 2024 —E_&E+"A=+—H

2. Accounting Policies (continved)

Embry Holdings Limited ZF S5 ZERARA

2.4 Material Accounting Policies (continued)

Investments and other financial assets

Initial recognition and measurement

Financial assets are classified, at initial recognition, as
subsequently measured at amortised cost, fair value
through other comprehensive income, and fair value
through profit or loss.

The classification of financial assets at initial recognition
depends on the financial asset's contractual cash flow
characteristics and the Group's business model for
managing them. With the exception of trade receivables
that do not confain a significant financing component or
for which the Group has applied the practical expedient
of not adjusting the effect of a significant financing
component, the Group initially measures a financial
asset af its fair value, plus in the case of a financial
asset not af fair value through profit or loss, transaction
costs. Trade receivables that do not contain a significant
financing component or for which the Group has applied
the practical expedient are measured at the fransaction
price determined under HKFRS 15 in accordance with
the policies set out for “Revenue recognition” below.

In order for a financial asset to be classified and
measured at amortised cost or fair value through other
comprehensive income, it needs to give rise fo cash
flows that are solely payments of principal and interest
(“SPPI") on the principal amount outstanding. Financial
assets with cash flows that are not SPPI are classified and
measured at fair value through profit or loss, irrespective
of the business model.
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Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)
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2. Accounting Policies (continved)

24

Material Accounting Policies (continued)

Investments and other financial assets (continued)

Initial recognition and measurement (continued)

The Group's business model for managing financial
assets refers to how it manages its financial assets
in order to generate cash flows. The business model
defermines whether cash flows will result from collecting
contractual cash flows, selling the financial assets,
or both. Financial assets classified and measured at
amortised cost are held within a business model with
the objective fo hold financial assefs in order fo collect
contractual cash flows, while financial assets classified
and measured at fair value through other comprehensive
income are held within a business model with the
objective of both holding to collect contractual cash
flows and selling. Financial assets which are not held
within the aforementioned business models are classified
and measured af fair value through profit or loss.

Purchases or sales of financial assets that require
delivery of assets within the period generally established
by regulation or convention in the marketplace are
recognised on the trade date, that is, the date that the
Group commifs to purchase or sell the asset.

Subsequent measurement
The subsequent measurement of financial assets depends
on their classification as follows:

Financial assets at amortised cost (debt instruments)

Financial assets at amortised cost are subsequently
measured using the effective interest method and are
subject to impairment. Gains and losses are recognised
in the income statement when the asset is derecognised,
modified or impaired.
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Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)
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31 December 2024 —E_&E+"A=+—H

2. Accounting Policies (continved)
2.4 Material Accounting Policies (continued)

Derecognition of financial assets

A financial asset (or, where applicable, a part of a
financial asset or part of a group of similar financial
assets) is primarily derecognised (i.e., removed from the
Group's consolidated statement of financial position)
when:

*  the rights fo receive cash flows from the asset have
expired; or

e the Group has transferred ifs rights fo receive cash
flows from the asset or has assumed an obligation
to pay the received cash flows in full without
material delay to a third party under a “pass-
through” arrangement; and either (a) the Group has
fransferred substantially all the risks and rewards of
the asset, or (b) the Group has neither transferred
nor retained substantially all the risks and rewards
of the asset, but has transferred control of the asset.

When the Group has transferred its rights to receive cash
flows from an asset or has entered info a passthrough
arrangement, it evaluates if, and fo what extent, it has
refained the risk and rewards of ownership of the asset.
When it has neither fransferred nor refained substantially
all the risks and rewards of the asset nor transferred
control of the asset, the Group continues to recognise the
fransferred asset to the extent of the Group's continuing
involvement. In that case, the Group also recognises
an associated liability. The transferred asset and the
associated liability are measured on a basis that reflects
the rights and obligations that the Group has retained.

Continuing involvement that takes the form of a
guarantee over the transferred asset is measured at the
lower of the original carrying amount of the asset and
the maximum amount of consideration that the Group
could be required fo repay.
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Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)
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2. ACCOlllltillg Policies (continved)

24

Material Accounting Policies (continued)

Impairment of financial assets

The Group recognises an allowance for expected
credit losses ("ECLs") for all debt instruments not held
at fair value through profit or loss. ECLs are based on
the difference between the contractual cash flows due
in accordance with the confract and all the cash flows
that the Group expects fo receive, discounted at an
approximation of the original effective inferest rate. The
expected cash flows will include cash flows from the sale
of collateral held or other credit enhancements that are
integral fo the confractual terms.

General approach

ECLs are recognised in two stages. For credit exposures
for which there has not been a significant increase in
credit risk since initial recognition, ECls are provided
for credit losses that result from default events that are
possible within the next 12 months (a 12-month ECL).
For those credit exposures for which there has been a
significant increase in credit risk since initial recognition,
a loss allowance is required for credit losses expected
over the remaining life of the exposure, irrespective of
the timing of the default (a lifetime ECL).

At each reporting date, the Group assesses whether
the credit risk on a financial instrument has increased
significantly since initial recognition. When making the
assessment, the Group compares the risk of a default
occurring on the financial instrument as at the reporting
date with the risk of a default occurring on the financial
instrument as at the date of initial recognition and considers
reasonable and supportable information that is available
without undue cost or effort, including hisforical and forward-
looking information. The Group considers that there has
been a significant increase in credit risk when confractual
payments are more than 30 days past due.

The Group considers a financial asset in default when
confractual payments are 90 days past due. However,
in certain cases, the Group may also consider a financial
asset fo be in default when internal or external information
indicates that the Group is unlikely o receive the outstanding
contractual amounts in full before taking info account any
credit enhancements held by the Group. A financial asset
is written off when there is no reasonable expectation of
recovering the contractual cash flows.
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Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)
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2. Accounting Policies (continved)

2. ®EFBUR #)

2.4 Material Accounting Policies (continued)

Impairment of financial assets (continued)

General approach (continued)

Financial assets af amortised cost is subject to impairment
under the general approach and they are classified
within the following stages for measurement of ECLs
except for frade receivables and contract assets which
apply the simplified approach as detailed below.

Stage 1 — Financial insfruments for which credit
risk has not increased significantly since
initial recognition and for which the loss
allowance is measured at an amount
equal to 12-month EClLs

Stage 2 — Financial instruments for which credit risk
has increased significantly since initial
recognition but that are not creditimpaired
financial assets and for which the loss
allowance is measured at an amount
equal fo lifetime ECls

Stage 3 — Financial assefs that are creditimpaired
at the reporting date (but that are not
purchased or originated creditimpaired) and
for which the loss allowance is measured at
an amount equal fo lifefime ECLs

Simplified approach

For trade receivables that do not confain a significant
financing component or when the Group applies the
practical expedient of not adjusting the effect of a
significant financing component, the Group applies
the simplified approach in calculating ECLs. Under the
simplified approach, the Group does not track changes
in credit risk, but instead recognises a loss allowance
based on lifetime ECls at each reporting date. The
Group has established a provision matrix that is based
on its historical credit loss experience, adjusted for
forward-looking factors specific to the debtors and the
economic environment.

For frade receivables that confain a significant financing
component and lease receivables, the Group chooses as
its accounting policy to adopt the simplified approach in
calculating ECLs with policies as described above.
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Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)

75 e 2% W 5 ()

31 December 2024 —E_&E+"A=+—H

2. ACCOlllltillg Policies (continved)

2.4 Material Accounting Policies (continued)

Financial liabilities

Initial recognition and measurement

Financial liabilities are classified, at initial recognition,
as financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss,
loans and borrowings, payables, or as derivatives
designated as hedging instruments in an effective hedge,
as appropriate.

All financial liabilities are recognised initially at fair value
and, in the case of loans and borrowings and payables,
net of directly aftributable fransaction costs.

Subsequent measurement
The subsequent measurement of financial liabilities
depends on their classification as follows:

Financial liabilities at amortised cost (trade and other
payables, and borrowings)

After initial recognition, trade and other payables, and
interest-bearing borrowings are subsequently measured
at amortised cost, using the effective inferest rate method
unless the effect of discounting would be immaterial, in
which case they are stated at cost. Gains and losses are
recognised in the income statement when the liabilities
are derecognised as well as through the effective interest
rate amortisation process.

Amortised cost is calculated by taking info account any
discount or premium on acquisition and fees or costs
that are an integral part of the effective interest rate. The
effective interest rate amortisation is included in finance
costs in the income statement.

Financial guarantee contracts

Financial guarantee contracts issued by the Group are
those contracts that require a payment to be made to
reimburse the holder for a loss it incurs because the
specified debtor fails to make a payment when due
in accordance with the terms of a debt instrument. A
financial guarantee contract is recognised initially as a
liability at its fair value, adjusted for transaction costs that
are directly attributable to the issuance of the guarantee.
Subsequent o initial recognition, the Group measures the
financial guarantee confracts af the higher of: (i) the ECL
allowance determined in accordance with the policy as
set out in “Impairment of financial assets”; and {ii] the
amount initially recognised less, when appropriate, the
cumulative amount of income recognised.
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Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)
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2. Accounting Policies (continved)

24

Material Accounting Policies (continued)

Derecognition of financial liabilities

A financial liability is derecognised when the obligation
under the liability is discharged or cancelled, or expires.

When an existing financial liability is replaced by
another from the same lender on substantially different
terms, or the terms of an existing liability are substantially
modified, such an exchange or modification is freated as
a derecognition of the original liability and a recognition
of a new liability, and the difference between the
respecfive carrying amounfs is recognised in the income
statement.

Offsetting of financial instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities are offset and
the net amount is reported in the statement of financial
position if there is a currently enforceable legal right to
offset the recognised amounts and there is an intention
to settle on a net basis, or to realise the assets and seftle
the liabilities simultaneously.

Inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net
realisable value after making due allowances for
obsolete or slow-moving items. Cost is determined
on the weighted average basis and, in the case of
work in progress and finished goods, comprises direct
materials, direct labour and an appropriate proportion
of overheads. Net realisable value is based on the
estimated selling prices less any estimated costs to be
incurred to completion and disposal.
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2. Accounting Policies (continved)
2.4 Material Accounting Policies (continued)

Leases

The Group assesses at contract inception whether
a confract is, or contains, a lease. A contract is, or
contains, a lease if the contract conveys the right to
confrol the use of an identified asset for a period of fime
in exchange for consideration.

Group as a lessee

The Group applies a single recognition and measurement
approach for all leases, except for shortterm leases and
leases of low-value assets. The Group recognises lease
liabilities to make lease payments and rightofuse assets
representing the right fo use the underlying assets.

[a)  Rightofuse assets

Right-of-use assets are recognised at the
commencement dafe of the lease (that is the date
the underlying asset is available for use). Rightof-
use assefs are measured at cost, less accumulated
depreciation and any impairment losses, and
adjusted for any remeasurement of lease liabilities.
The cost of rightof-use assets includes the amount
of lease liabilities recognised, initial direct costs
incurred, and lease payments made at or before
the commencement dafe less any lease incentives
received. Right-of-use assets are depreciated on
a straightline basis over the shorter of the lease
ferms and the estimated useful lives of the assets as
follows:

Leasehold land
Buildings

45 1o 50 years
2to 11 years

If ownership of the leased asset transfers to
the Group by the end of the lease term or the
cost reflects the exercise of a purchase option,
depreciation is calculated using the estimated
useful life of the asset.
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Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)
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2. Accounting Policies (continved)

2.4 Material Accounting Policies (continued)
Leases (continued)
Group as a lessee [continued)

(b)

lease liabilities

lease liabiliies are recognised af the commencement
date of the lease at the present value of lease
payments to be made over the lease term. The
lease payments include fixed payments (including in-
substance fixed payments) less any lease incentives
receivable, variable lease payments that depend
on an index or a rate, and amounts expected
fo be paid under residual value guarantees. The
lease payments also include the exercise price of a
purchase option reasonably certain fo be exercised
by the Group and payments of penalties for
termination of a lease, if the lease term reflects the
Group exercising the option fo terminafe the lease.
The variable lease payments that do not depend on
an index or a rafe are recognised as an expense
in the period in which the event or condition that
friggers the payment occurs.

In calculating the present value of lease payments,
the Group uses ifs incremental borrowing rate at
the lease commencement date because the interest
rate implicit in the lease is not readily determinable.
After the commencement date, the amount of lease
liabilities is increased fo reflect the accretion of
inferest and reduced for the lease payments made.
In addition, the carrying amount of lease liabilities
is remeasured if there is a modification, a change
in the lease term, a change in lease payments
(e.g., a change to future lease payments resulting
from a change in an index or rate) or a change in
assessment of an option to purchase the underlying
asset.
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2. HEIBUR (1)
24 BEAGHEE &

2. Accounting Policies (continved)
2.4 Material Accounting Policies (continued)

Leases (continued)

Group as a lessee (continued)

[c]  Shortterm leases and leases of low-value assets
The Group applies the shortterm lease recognition
exemption fo ifs shortterm leases of machinery and
equipment (that is those leases that have a lease
ferm of 12 months or less from the commencement
dafe and do not contain a purchase option). It also
applies the recognition exemption for leases of
low-value assefs to leases of office equipment and
laptop computers that are considered to be of low
value.

When the Group enters info a lease in respect of
a low-value asset, the Group decides whether to
capifalise the lease on a lease-by-lease basis.

lease payments on shortterm leases and leases of
low-value assets are recognised as an expense on
a straightline basis over the lease ferm.

Group as a lessor

When the Group acfs as a lessor, it classifies at lease
inception [or when there is a lease modification) each of
its leases as either an operating lease or a finance lease.

leases in which the Group does not transfer substantially
all the risks and rewards incidental to ownership of
an asset are classified as operating leases. When a
contract confains lease and non-lease components, the
Group allocates the consideration in the confract to each
component on a relative stand-alone selling price basis.
Rental income is accounted for on a straightline basis
over the lease term and is included in other income in the
income sfafement due fo ifs operating nature. Inifial direct
cosfs incurred in negotfiating and arranging an operating
lease are added to the carrying amount of the leased
asset and recognised over the lease ferm on the same
basis as rental income. Contingent rents are recognised
as other income in the period in which they are earned.

leases that transfer substantially all the risks and rewards
incidental to ownership of an underlying asset to the
lessee are accounted for as finance leases.
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Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)
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31 December 2024 —E_&E+"A=+—H

2. Accounting Policies (continved)

24

Material Accounting Policies (continued)

Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents in the statement of financial
position comprise cash on hand and at banks, and short-
term highly liquid deposits with a maturity of generally
within three months that are readily convertible into
known amounts of cash, subject to an insignificant risk
of changes in value and held for the purpose of meeting
shortterm cash commitments.

For the purpose of the consolidated statement of cash
flows, cash and cash equivalents comprise cash on
hand and at banks, and shortterm deposits as defined
above, less bank overdrafts which are repayable on
demand and form an integral part of the Group's cash
management.

Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs directly affributable to the acquisition,
construction or production of qualifying assets, i.e.,
assets that necessarily fake a substantial period of time to
get ready for their intended use or sale, are capitalised
as part of the cost of those assets. The capitalisation
of such borrowing costs ceases when the assets are
substantially ready for their intended use or sale. All other
borrowing costs are expensed in the period in which
they are incurred. Borrowing costfs consist of interest and
other costs that an entity incurs in connection with the
borrowing of funds.

Provisions

A provision is recognised when a present obligation (legal
or constructive) has arisen as a result of a past event and
it is probable that a future outflow of resources will be
required fo sefle the obligafion, provided that a reliable
esfimate can be made of the amount of the obligation.

When the effect of discounting is material, the amount
recognised for a provision is the present value at the
end of the reporting period of the future expenditures
expected to be required to setile the obligation. The
increase in the discounfed present value amount arising
from the passage of time is included in finance costs in
the income statement.
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Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)
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31 December 2024 —E_&E+"A=+—H

2. Accounting Policies (continved)

24

Material Accounting Policies (continued)

Income tax

Income tax comprises current and deferred tax. Income tax
relating fo items recognised outside the income sfatement is
recognised either in other comprehensive income or directly

in equity.

Current tax assefs and liabilities are measured at the
amount expected fo be recovered from or paid to the
taxation authorities, based on tax rates (and tax laws)
that have been enacted or subsfantively enacted by the
end of the reporting period, taking into consideration
interpretations and practices prevailing in the countries in
which the Group operates.

Deferred tax is provided, using the liability method, on all
temporary differences at the end of the reporting period
between the tax bases of assets and liabilities and their
carrying amounts for financial reporting purposes.

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for all taxable
temporary differences, except:

e when the deferred tax liability arises from the initial
recognition of an asset or liability in a transaction
that is not a business combination and, at the time
of the transaction, affects neither the accounting
profit nor taxable profit or loss and does not give
rise fo equal faxable and deductible temporary
differences; and

® in respect of taxable temporary differences
associated with investments in subsidiaries,
when the timing of the reversal of the tfemporary
differences can be controlled and it is probable
that the temporary differences will not reverse in the
foreseeable future.
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Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)
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31 December 2024 —E_&E+"A=+—H

2. Accounting Policies (continved)

24

Material Accounting Policies (continued)

Income tax (continued)

Deferred tax assefs are recognised for all deductible
temporary differences, and the carryforward of unused
tax credits and any unused tax losses. Deferred tax
assefs are recognised to the extent that it is probable
that taxable profit will be available against which the
deductible temporary differences, the carryforward of
unused tax credits and unused tax losses can be utilised,
except:

e when the deferred tax asset relating fo the
deductible temporary differences arises from
the initial recognition of an asset or liability in a
transaction that is not a business combination and,
at the time of the transaction, affects neither the
accounting profit nor taxable profit or loss and
does not give rise to equal taxable and deductible
tfemporary differences; and

® in respect of deductible temporary differences
associated with investments in subsidiaries, deferred
fax assefs are only recognised fo the exfent that it is
probable that the temporary differences will reverse
in the foreseeable future and taxable profit will be
available against which the temporary differences
can be ufilised.

The carrying amount of deferred tax assefs is reviewed
at the end of each reporting period and reduced fo the
extent that it is no longer probable that sufficient taxable
profit will be available to allow all or part of the deferred
tax asset to be utilised. Unrecognised deferred tax assefs
are reassessed at the end of each reporting period and
are recognised to the extent that it has become probable
that sufficient taxable profit will be available to allow all
or part of the deferred tax asset to be recovered.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the
fax rafes that are expected to apply fo the period when
the asset is realised or the liability is seffled, based
on tax rates (and tax laws) that have been enacted or
substantively enacted by the end of the reporting period.
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Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)
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31 December 2024 —E_&E+"A=+—H

2. Accounting Policies (continved)

24

Material Accounting Policies (continued)

Income tax (continued)

Deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities are offset
it and only if the Group has a legally enforceable right
to set off current tax assets and current tax liabilities and
the deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities relate
fo income taxes levied by the same taxation authority
on either the same taxable entity or different taxable
entities which intend either to settle current tax liabilities
and assets on a net basis, or to realise the assets and
seffle the liabilities simultaneously, in each future period
in which significant amounts of deferred tax liabilities or
assefs are expected fo be seffled or recovered.

Dividend income derived from the Company’s
subsidiaries in Mainland China is subject to a
withholding tax under the prevailing tax rules and
regulations of the People’s Republic of China ("PRC").

Revenue recognition

Revenue from contracts with customers

Revenue from confracts with cusfomers is recognised
when control of goods or services is fransferred to the
cusfomers af an amount that reflects the consideration to
which the Group expects to be entifled in exchange for
those goods or services.

When the consideration in a contract includes a variable
amount, the amount of consideration is estimated
to which the Group will be entitled in exchange for
transferring the goods or services to the customer.
The variable consideration is estimated af contract
inception and constrained until it is highly probable
that a significant revenue reversal in the amount of
cumulative revenue recognised will not occur when the
associated uncertainty with the variable consideration is
subsequently resolved.
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Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)
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2. Accounting Policies (continved)

24

Embry Holdings Limited ZF S5 ZERARA

Material Accounting Policies (continued)

Revenue recognition (continued)

Revenue from contracts with customers (continued)
When the contract contains a financing component
which provides the customer with a significant benefit
of financing the transfer of goods or services to the
cusfomer for more than one year, revenue is measured at
the present value of the amount receivable, discounted
using the discount rate that would be reflected in a
separate financing fransaction between the Group and
the customer at contract inception. When the contract
contains a financing component which provides the
Group with a significant financial benefit for more than
one year, revenue recognised under the contract includes
the inferest expense accrefed on the contract liability
under the effective inferest method. For a contract where
the period between the payment by the customer and the
transfer of the promised goods or services is one year or
less, the transaction price is not adjusted for the effects
of a significant financing component, using the practical
expedient in HKFRS 15.

Sale of goods

Revenue from sale of goods is recognised at the point
in time when confrol of the asset is fransferred tfo the
customer, generally on delivery of the goods.

Other income

Rental income is recognised on a time proportion basis
over the lease terms. Variable lease payments that do not
depend on an index or a rate are recognised as income
in the accounting period in which they are incurred.

Inferest income is recognised on an accrual basis using
the effective interest method by applying the rate that
exactly discounts the estimated future cash receipts over
the expected life of the financial instrument or a shorter
period, when appropriate, to the net carrying amount of
the financial asset.

Dividend income is recognised when the shareholders’
right to receive payment has been established, it is
probable that the economic benefits associated with the
dividend will flow to the Group and the amount of the
dividend can be measured reliably.
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Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)
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31 December 2024 —E_&E+"A=+—H

2. Accounting Policies (continved)
2.4 Material Accounting Policies (continued)

Contract liabilities

A contract liability is recognised when a payment is
received or a payment is due (whichever is earlier)
from a customer before the Group transfers the related
goods or services. Contract liabilities are recognised as
revenue when the Group performs under the contract [i.e.,
transfers control of the related goods or services to the
customer).

Research and development costs
All research costs are charged to the income statement
as incurred.

Expenditure incurred on projects to develop new
products is capitalised and deferred only when the
Group can demonstrate the technical feasibility of
complefing the intangible asset so that it will be available
for use or sale, its intention to complete and its ability
fo use or sell the asset, how the asset will generate
future economic benefits, the availability of resources
to complete the project and the ability to measure
reliably the expenditure during the development. Product
development expenditure which does not meet these
criteria is expensed when incurred.

Government grants

Government grants, including a subsidy for the
expenditure incurred in the construction cost of
infrastructure projects, are recognised at their fair value
where there is reasonable assurance that the grant
will be received and all aftaching conditions will be
complied with. When the grant relates to an expense
ifem, it is recognised as income on a systematic basis
over the periods that the costs, for which it is infended
fo compensate, are expensed. Where the grant relates
fo an asset, the fair value is deducted from the carrying
amount of the assef and released to the income statement
by way of a reduced depreciation charge.
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Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)
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31 December 2024 —E_&E+"A=+—H

2. Accounting Policies (continved)

24

Material Accounting Policies (continued)

Share-hased payments

The Company operates a share option scheme.
Employees (including directors) of the Group receive
remuneration in the form of share-based payments,
whereby employees render services in exchange for
equity instruments (“Equity-seffled Transactions”). The cost
of Equity-seftled Transactions with employees is measured
by reference to the fair value at the date at which they
are granted. The fair value is determined by an external
valuer using a binomial model, further details of which
are given in note 30 fo the financial statements.

The cost of Equity-settled Transactions is recognised
in employee benefit expense, together with a
corresponding increase in equity, over the period in
which the performance and/or service conditions are
fulfilled. The cumulative expense recognised for Equity-
seffled Transactions at the end of each reporting period
until the vesting date reflects the extent to which the
vesting period has expired and the Group's best estimate
of the number of equity instruments that will ultimately
vest. The charge or credit to the income statement for
a period represents the movement in the cumulative
expense recognised as af the beginning and end of that
period.

Service and non-market performance conditions are
not taken info account when determining the grant
date fair value of awards, but the likelihood of the
conditions being met is assessed as part of the Group's
best estimate of the number of equity instruments that
will ultimately vest. Market performance conditions
are reflected within the grant date fair value. Any
other conditions attached to an award, but without
an associated service requirement, are considered to
be nonwesting conditions. Non-vesting conditions are
reflected in the fair value of an award and lead fo an
immediafe expensing of an award unless there are also
service and/or performance conditions.
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Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)
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2. Accounting Policies (continved)
2.4 Material Accounting Policies (continued)

Share-hased payments (continued)

For awards that do not ultimately vest because non-
market performance and/or service conditions have
not been met, no expense is recognised. Where
awards include a markef or non-vesting condition, the
fransactions are treated as vesting irrespective of whether
the market or non-vesting condition is safisfied, provided
that all other performance and/or service conditions are
satisfied.

Where the ferms of an equity-seftled award are modified,
as a minimum an expense is recognised as if the terms
had not been modified, if the original terms of the
award are met. In addition, an expense is recognised
for any modification that increases the total fair value of
the share-based payments, or is otherwise beneficial to
the employee as measured at the date of modification.
Where an equity-sefiled award is cancelled, it is treated
as if it had vested on the dafe of cancellation, and any
expense not yet recognised for the award is recognised
immediafely.

The dilutive effect of outstanding options is reflected as
additional share dilution in the computation of earnings
per share.
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Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)
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31 December 2024 —E_&E+"A=+—H

2. Accounting Policies (continved)
2.4 Material Accounting Policies (continued)

Employee benefits

Retirement benefit schemes

The Group operates a defined confribution Mandatory
Provident Fund retirement benefit scheme (the “MPF
Scheme”) under the Mandatory Provident Fund Schemes
Ordinance for all of its employees in Hong Kong.
Contributions are made based on a percentage of
these employees’ basic salaries and are charged
fo the income statement as they become payable in
accordance with the rules of the MPF Scheme. The
assets of the MPF Scheme are held separately from those
of the Group in an independently administered fund.
The Group’s employer confributions vest fully with the
employees when contributed into the MPF Scheme.

The employees of the Group’s subsidiaries which
operate in Mainland China are required fo participate
in a central pension scheme operated by the local
municipal government. These subsidiaries are required to
confribute cerfain percentages of their payroll costs to the
central pension scheme. The contributions are charged
fo the income statement as they become payable in
accordance with the rules of the central pension scheme.

Termination benefits

Termination benefits are recognised at the earlier of
when the Group can no longer withdraw the offer
of those benefits and when the Group recognises
restructuring costs involving the payment of fermination
benefits.
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2. Accounting Policies (continved)
2.4 Material Accounting Policies (continued)

Foreign currencies

These financial statements are presented in Hong Kong
dollars, which is the Company’s functional currency.
Each entity in the Group defermines its own functional
currency and ifems included in the financial statements
of each entity are measured using that functional
currency. Foreign currency transactions recorded by the
entities in the Group are initially recorded using their
respective functional currency rates prevailing at the
dates of the transactions. Monetary assefs and liabilities
denominated in foreign currencies are translated at the
functional currency rates of exchange ruling at the end
of the reporting period. Differences arising on setlement
or franslation of monetfary items are recognised in the
income statement.

Non-monetfary items that are measured in ferms of
historical cost in a foreign currency are translated using
the exchange rafes at the dates of the inifial fransactions.
Non-monetary items measured at fair value in a foreign
currency are franslated using the exchange rates at the
date when the fair value was measured. The gain or loss
arising on franslafion of a non-monefary item measured
at fair value is treated in line with the recognition of
the gain or loss on change in fair value of the item
li.e., translation difference on the item whose fair value
gain or loss is recognised in other comprehensive
income or the income stafement is also recognised in
other comprehensive income or the income stafement,
respectively).

In determining the exchange rate on initial recognition
of the related assef, expense or income on the
derecognition of a non-monetary asset or non-monetary
liability relating o an advance consideration, the date of
initial fransaction is the date on which the Group initially
recognises the non-monetfary asset or non-monetfary
liability arising from the advance consideration. If there
are multiple payments or receipts in advance, the Group
determines the transaction date for each payment or
receipt of the advance consideration.
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Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)
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2. Accounting Policies (continved)

24

Material Accounting Policies (continued)

Foreign currencies (continued)

The functional currencies of certain overseas subsidiaries
are currencies other than the Hong Kong dollar. As
at the end of the reporting period, the assets and
liabilities of these entities are translated info Hong Kong
dollars at the exchange rates prevailing at the end of
the reporting period and their income statements are
translated into Hong Kong dollars at the exchange
rates that approximate to those prevailing at the dates
of the transactions. The resulting exchange differences
are recognised in other comprehensive income and
accumulated in the exchange fluctuation reserve. On
disposal of a foreign operation, the cumulative amount in
the reserve relating to that particular foreign operation is
recognised in the income statement.

For the purpose of the consolidated statement of cash
flows, the cash flows of overseas subsidiaries are
franslated into Hong Kong dollars at the exchange
rates ruling at the dates of the cash flows. Frequently
recurring cash flows of overseas subsidiaries which
arise throughout the year are franslated info Hong Kong
dollars at the weighted average exchange rates for the
year.

Events after the reporting period

It the Group receives information after the reporting
period, but prior to the date of authorisation for issue,
about conditions that existed af the end of the reporting
period, it will assess whether the information affects the
amounts that it recognises in ifs financial statements. The
Group will adjust the amounts recognised in its financial
statements to reflect any adjusting events after the
reporting period and update the disclosures that relate to
those conditions in light of the new information. For non-
adjusting events after the reporting period, the Group
will not change the amounts recognised in its financial
statements, but will disclose the nature of the non-
adjusting events and an estimate of their financial effects,
or a statement that such an estimate cannot be made, if
applicable.

Embry Holdings Limited Z#I55#EERAS] / Annual Report 3R 2024

2. ®EFBUR #)

24

ERGEEER (@)

5N (48)
ETBINNBABZINEERIIF
B NERESHEGEER ZEFE
RZEERGREIYZREHBE
HZEXBQMESBT > MKFAF
ZWm R LA 5 B RRTEXE
ENEXRE BT WIEMELE
ZEREE AR MEEWRA KRR
ERREHERE - NHERINE
ER > MBSESIBREMETRN
Rt BEER I W REESD o

MREREERTAERMS ° 8IH
MBARZRERERRTRER
HIRTZERMBE DB TT © BN
BRARAEFANEEZEEERER
BEERZEREZNETIIERIAE
BT °

BEHERNEMG
MRAEEERSHEEEREH
fis B ERZ AT UL 2 B B 4R & HR A SR B
FENBERNER  AEERFTE
BEEEREFEHAEMHTRRT

DR FEBERFBEEMT
BRPESBHNEE > URRKREH
BHEMBBEN > LREMER
EHREEBERAMOKE - B
BRERERNIFRABEN > £EET
CENHMBRERTERDEER
BERBEFREEEMHEEREY
BRENME > HEBREAFRHIL
Jrhst (WEA) -



Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)
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3. Significant Accounting Judgements

and Estimates

The preparation of the Group’s financial statements requires
management fo make judgements, estimates and assumptions
that affect the reported amounts of revenues, expenses, assets
and liabilities, and their accompanying disclosures, and the
disclosure of contingent liabilities. Uncertainty about these
assumptions and estimates could result in oufcomes that could
require a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of the
assets or liabilities affected in the future.

Judgements

In the process of applying the Group's accounting policies,
management has made the following judgements, apart from
those involving estimations, which have the most significant
effect on the amounts recognised in the financial statements:

Property lease classificafion — Group as lessor

The Group has entered info commercial property leases on
its investment property portfolio. The Group has defermined,
based on an evaluation of the terms and conditions of the
arrangements, such as the lease term not consfituting a major
part of the economic life of the commercial property and the
present value of the minimum lease payments not amounting
to substantially all the fair value of the commercial property,
that it refains substantially all the significant risks and rewards
incidental to ownership of these properties which are leased
out and accounts for the contracts as operating leases.

3.
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Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)
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3. Significant Accounting Judgements

and Estimates (continued)

Judgements (continued)

Clussification between investment properties and owner-occupied properties

The Group determines whether a property qualifies as an
investment property, and has developed criteria in making
that judgement. Investment property is a property held to earn
renfals or for capital appreciation or both. Therefore, the
Group considers whether a property generates cash flows
largely independently of the other assets held by the Group.
Some properties comprise a portion that is held fo earn rentals
or for capital appreciation and another portion that is held
for use in the production or supply of goods or services or
for administrative purposes. If these portions could be sold
separately or leased out separately under a finance lease,
the Group accounts for the portions separately. If the portions
could not be sold separately, the property is an investment
property only if an insignificant portion is held for use in the
production or supply of goods or services or for administrative
purposes. Judgement is made on an individual property basis
fo determine whether ancillary services are so significant that a
property does not qualify as an investment property.

Income tax

Deferred tax is provided using the liability method, on all
temporary differences as at the end of the reporting period
between the tax bases of assets and liabilities and their
carrying amounts for financial reporting purposes.

As explained in note 27 to the financial statements,
withholding fax is levied on dividends to be distributed by
subsidiaries established in the PRC in respect of earnings
generated from 1 January 2008. Deferred tax is provided,
at the applicable withholding tax rate, on the undistributed
earnings of the Group’s PRC subsidiaries that would be
distributed to their respective holding companies outside
Mainland China in the foreseeable future.
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3. Significant Accounting Judgements

and Estimates (continued)

Judgements (continued)

Income tax (continued)

Deferred tax assefs are recognised for unused tax losses
to the extent that it is probable that taxable profit will be
available against which the losses can be utilised. Significant
management judgement is required to defermine the amount
of deferred tax assets that can be recognised, based upon the
likely timing and the level of future taxable profits, fogether with
future tax planning strategies.

The Group's investment properties at fair value in Mainland
China are all held to eam rental income and/or for capital
appreciation and they are considered to be held within a
business model whose obijective is to consume substantially all
of the economic benefits embodied in the investment properties
over fime, rather than through sale. Accordingly, deferred tax
on the Group's investment properties at fair value is measured
fo reflect the tax consequences of recovering the carrying
amounts of the investment properties through use.

Estimation uncertainty

The key assumptions concerning the future and other key
sources of estimation uncerfainty at the end of the reporting
period, that have a significant risk of causing a material
adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities
within the next financial year, are described below.

Fair value estimation of investment properfies

In the absence of current prices in an active market for similar
properties, the Group considers information from a variety of
sources, including:

(o)  independent valuations;

(b) current prices in an active market for properties of a
different nature, condition or location (or subject to
different leases or other contracts), adjusted to reflect
those differences;

3.
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Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)
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3. Significant Accounting Judgements

and Estimates (continued)

Estimation uncertainty (continued)

Fair value estimation of invesiment properties (continued)

(c)  recent prices of similar properties on less active markets,
with adjustments fo reflect any changes in economic
conditions since the dates of the transactions that
occurred af those prices; and

(d) discounted cash flow projections, based on reliable
estimates of future cash flows, derived from the terms
of any existing lease and other contracts, and (where
possible) from external evidence such as current market
rates for similar properties in the same location and
condition, and using discount rates that reflect current
markef assessments of the uncertainty in the amount and
timing of cash flows.

Further details, including the key assumptions used for fair
value measurement and a sensitivity analysis, are given in nofe
17 to the financial statements.

Provision for expected credit losses on trade receivables

The Group uses a provision matrix fo calculate ECLs for trade
receivables. The provision rafes are based on days past due
for groupings of various customer segments that have similar
loss patterns (i.e., by geographical region and cusfomer type.
The provision matrix is inifially based on the Group's historical
observed default rates. The Group will calibrate the matrix to
adjust the historical credit loss experience with forwardHooking
information. At each reporting date, the historical observed
default rates are updated and changes in the forward-ooking
estimates are analysed.

The assessment of the correlation among historical observed
default rates, forecast economic conditions and EClLs is
a significant estimate. The amount of ECLs is sensitive to
changes in circumstances and forecast economic condifions.
The Group's historical credit loss experience and forecast
of economic conditions may also not be representative of a
customer’s actual default in the future. The information about
the ECLs on the Group's frade receivables is disclosed in nofe
21 to the financial stafements.
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3.

Significant Accounting Judgements
and Estimates (continued)

Estimation uncertainty (continued)

Inventory provision

The Group manufactures and sells goods and is subject to
changing consumer demands and fashion trends. As a result,
it is necessary fo consider the recoverability of the cost of
inventories and the associated provision required. When
calculating the inventory provision, management considers
the nature and condition of inventories, as well as applying
assumptions around anticipated marketability of finished goods
and the future usage of raw materials.

Leases — Estimating the incremental borrowing rate

The Group cannot readily defermine the interest rate implicit in
a lease, and therefore, it uses an incremental borrowing rate
(“IBR") to measure lease liabilities. The IBR is the rate of interest
that the Group would have to pay fo borrow over a similar
term, and with a similar security, the funds necessary to obtain
an asset of a similar value fo the rightofuse asset in a similar
economic environment. The IBR therefore reflects what the
Group “would have to pay”, which requires estimation when
no observable rates are available (such as for subsidiaries that
do not enter into finoncing fransactions) or when it needs to
be adjusted to reflect the terms and conditions of the lease (for
example, when leases are not in the subsidiary's functional
currency). The Group estimates the IBR using observable
inpufs (such as market interest rafes) when available and is
required fo make cerfain enfity-specific estimates (such as the
subsidiary’s stand-alone credit rating).

Impairment of non-financial assefs (other than Other Asset)

The Group assesses whether there are any indicators of
impairment for all nonfinancial assets (including the right-of-
use assets| at the end of each reporting period. Nonfinancial
assets are fested for impairment when there are indicators that
the carrying amounts may not be recoverable. An impairment
exists when the carrying value of an asset or a cash-generating
unit exceeds its recoverable amount, which is the higher of
its fair value less costs of disposal and its value in use. VWhen
value in use calculations are undertaken, management must
estimate the expected future cash flows from the asset or cash-
generating unit and choose a suitable discount rafe in order to
calculate the present value of those cash flows.
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3.

Significant Accounting Judgements
and Estimates (continued)

Estimation uncertainty (continued)

Impairment assessment of Other Asset (as defined in note 19)

As disclosed in note 19, Other Asset is the right to receive
the new properties and is sfated at cost less any impairment
losses. Under the annual impairment testing, an impairment
exists when the carrying value of an asset or a cash-generating
unit exceeds ifs recoverable amount, which is the higher of
its fair value less costs of disposal and its value in use. The
Group conducted the impairment assessment by comparing
the net carrying amount of Other Asset with its fair value
as determined based on the valuation performed by an
independent professionally qualified valuer and a method
of valuation which involved certain assumptions, including
gross unif rate per square metre. The assumptions used in the
valuation have involved significant management judgement.

Segment Information

The Group's primary operating segment is the manufacture
and sale of ladies’ brassieres, panties, swimwear, sleepwear
and others. Since this is the only operating segment of the
Group, no further analysis thereof is presented. In defermining
the Group's geographical information, the revenue information
is based on the locations of the customers, and the total non-
current asset information, other than deferred tax assets, is
based on the locations of the assets.
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Mainland China Hong Kong Others Total
EARE R Hth st
2024 2023 2024 2023 2024 2023 2024 2023
CEIRE TTT-f ZEIME ST ZECME SS°-F ZECME C5°-
HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$’000 HK$'000
FHET FAET FET FHET FHET FHET FHET FHET
Revenue from external SRERZ W
cusfomers 1,112,562 1,239,028 33,956 39,682 6,052 3,043 1,152,570 1,281,753
Non-current assefs EREEE 1,465,788 1,795,969 94,068 108,492 - - 1,559,856 1,904,461
Capital expenditure incurred FRNERHZ
during the year 8,315 26,402 10 1,258 - - 8,325 27,660

For the years ended 31 December 2024 and 2023, as
no revenue from sales to any customer of the Group has
individually accounted for over 10% of the Group's total
revenue, no information about major customers is presented

under HKFRS 8.
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5. Revenue 5. Wi
An analysis of revenue is as follows: WADHAT :
2024 2023
—EomE T =4F
HKS’000 HK$'000
F#ET FHET
Revenue from contracts with customers KEZF SIS
Sale of goods HE SR 1,152,570 1,281,753
Revenue from contracts with customers KEEFR SRS
(i)  Disaggregated revenue information ) SER=EEH
2024 2023
—EomE —T=F
HKS’000 HK$'000
F#ET FHET
Business activities ¥EE
Concessionary counters tHEEME 618,895 759,670
Retail sfores TEEH 101,274 115,838
Internet and wholesale 48 _EEHE etk 426,349 403,202
Original design manufacturer ("ODM”) R stEEm 6,052 3,043
1,152,570 1,281,753
Brands mhg
Embry Form ZHTS 713,673 709,065
Others Hith 432,845 569,645
ODM products ODME & 6,052 3,043
1,152,570 1,281,753
Products Em
Lingerie MR 983,396 1,095,290
Sleepwear BT} 124,780 136,704
Swimwear TKIK 22,384 31,592
ODM products ODMEH 6,052 3,043
Other products HitES 15,958 15,124
1,152,570 1,281,753
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Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)
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5. Revenue (confinved)

Revenue from contracts with customers (continued)
(i) Disaggregated revenue information (continued) (i)
The following table shows the amount of revenue
recognised in the current reporting period that was
included in contract liabilities at the beginning of the
reporting period:

5. Wit &)
RKAERSHNIKEE (8)

DEWEER (&)
TRETARSHAREBIBAE
3 AEERSHVNENERT !

2024 2023
—ElmE —T_-=fF
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET F#ET
Revenue recognised that was included in EHRYREEEEHNEas
confract liabilities af the beginning of FriesBrIU A
the reporting period:
Sale of goods HEE M 10,851 12,201
(i) Performance obligations (i) EBHEE

Information about the Group's performance obligations is
summarised below:

Sale of goods

The Group sells goods directly to retail customers via
refail stores, concessionary counfers and internet. The
performance obligation is satisfied when the product
is transferred fo the customers upon delivery of goods.
Payment of the fransaction price is due immediately
when the customers purchase the goods. The payment is
usually seffled in cash or using credit cards.

The Group also sells goods to wholesalers. The
performance obligation is satisfied when control of the
products has been fransferred, being when the products
are delivered to the wholesalers and there is no unfulfilled
obligation that could affect the wholesaler's acceptance
of the products. The payment is generally due within one
month, extending up to three months for major cusfomers,
from delivery, except for certain wholesalers, where
payment in advance is normally required.
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5. Revenue (confinved)

Revenue from contracts with customers (continued)
(i) Performance obligations (continued)

As a practical expedient, the fransaction prices allocated
to the remaining performance obligations (unsatisfied
or partially unsatisfied) are not disclosed in the notes
to the financial statements because all the remaining
performance obligations in relation fo the sale of goods
are a part of contracts that have an original expected

duration of one year or less.

)

5. ¥t @)

KEEFR SRS
(i) FBHEE B

FILUTRY

1 (#%)

ERPTHNEEZS > DEEFEHRT
BHEE(RETHHBDORET) B
RZERWAREM FRERMETPHE
B hHRESmIBEARIAA
HRTENEERRERMIMES—
B8 °

6. Other Income and Gains, Net 6. Hi A KW - FH
2024 2023
2o mME T =F
HK$’000 HK$'000
F#ET FET
Other income Htg A
Subsidy income* AU A * 2,636 11,052
Gross rental income from investment KEYELKSTHEN
property operating leases: HE WA KRR :
Other lease payments, including HMBERIE » BEEE
fixed payments IR 17,326 16,951
Variable lease payments that do not REURAR IR 8 A ED
depend on an index or a rate PEEERIE 635 708
Bank interest income RITH B UA 2,632 4,844
Gain on termination of leases KIEFRE 2 W 187 46
Others Hith 4,340 5,646
Subtotal INEF 27,756 39,247
Gains/ (losses), net hes (385K) » B8
Foreign exchange differences, net ERER » JFRE (5,916) (7,592)
Total other income and gains, net BEMIMA KW a0 R 21,840 31,655

*

There are no unfulfilled conditions or contingencies relating to this income.
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7. Other Expenses

7. H At

2024 2023
HKS’000 HK$'000
F#ET FAET

loss on disposal /write-off of items of HE HEEYE - REREE
property, plant and equipment, net EE K518 358 15 197
Employee termination benefits SRR ES 1,400 4,500
Total other expenses REMhFEST 1,415 4,697

8. Finance Costs 8. Rh¥ RA
2024 2023
“FopmE 2=

HKS’000 HK$'000
F#ET FET
Interest on bank loans IRTTERF B 15,403 17,481
Interest on lease liabilities HEaENE 2,280 2,478
Total 4B BN 17,683 19,959
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9. Loss Before Tax

The Group's loss before tax is arrived at after charging/

)

9. BBl i s 18

AEBZBRRAIBEENG GtA) :

(credifing):
2024 2023
—EoNE T4
HKS’000 HK$'000
FE FET
Cost of inventories sold* EEFEMAE 303,896 325,650
Depreciation of property, plant and M BMEMREZITE
equipment 51,672 61,062
Depreciation of rightof-use assefs FREESEINE 30,906 27,631
Gain on termination of leases KIEFAE 2 W (187) (46)
lease payments not included in the Rt AHEBENEENRE
measurement of lease liabilities (note 18(c))  (KtaE 18(c)) 209,728 245787
Covid-19-related rent concessions from HEEENRHE Covid- 19% 18
lessors MHENEEER = (273
Employee benefit expenses (excluding BERBHNEYX FEEES
directors’ and chief executive's BATEAEHFBN — AfaE 10)
remuneration — nofe 10):
Wages and salaries ITEKFE 365,073 402,545
Refirement benefit scheme contributions* * * BRG] s 2R > * * 45,953 48,145
Employee termination benefits ETHBpES 1,400 4,500
Equity-setiled share option expense IeiEEERERERS - 413
Total sagy 412,426 455,603
Auditor’s remuneration 1Z BN = 2,000 2,668
Advertising and counter decoration expenses &5 K B EE AR 2 139,564 124,529
Write-back/write-off of provision for [REE1Z S B 22 [o] EH »
obsolete inventories, net SFEE (16,300) (20,234
Impairment/ (reversal of impairment) of FEWR BB SRR =URIE GRIERI£) >
trade receivables, net* * VPRE** 617 (5,492)
Impairment of rightof-use assefs FRESERE 18,076 6,040
Impairment of property, plant and equipment  #J% ~ = K& & RE 118,699 -
Impairment of Other Asset HAhE ZER(E 39,457 =
Research and development expenditure RS 1,899 2,629
Loss on disposal /write-off of items of HE MY ~ BE BB
property, plant and equipment, net IHE 2 K518 » J35E 15 197
Foreign exchange differences, net ERERE » 5% 5916 7,592
Gross and net rental income FHEUWALERES R 5 (17,961) (17,659)
Changes in fair value of investment properties & &) AT (B &S 69,380 (889)
Bank interest income RITH WA (2,632) (4,844)
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9. Loss Before Tax (confinved) 9. FrBiniiEsE @

*  The cost of inventories sold for the year included * BEFAEKFGIFSTIAA HiER
HK$92,586,000 (2023: HK$95,092,000) relating to staff FEIMERREF R ERERL MY F
costs, depreciation of manufacturing facilities and write-back,/ BH 402 586,000 0( - F — = F:
write-off of provision for obsolefe inventories, net, which is also 05,092 000%E7T) o B RI#EEE TN B0 A
included in the respective fotal amounts disclosed above for W FHR 32 B 4E1ERIR T+ o
each fype of expenses.

**  Impairment/(reversal of impairment) of trade receivables, ** G E SRR E (RS - JFEE
net are included in “Reversal of impairment/(impairment] of Bt A& as R0 25 & Z i (E ]
financial assets, net” on the face of the consolidated income B (BiE) » BRI A o
statement.

*** There are no forfeited contributions that may be used by * xR 7K EE [ A e 3 O] B FE LS IR A 1
the Group as the employer to reduce the existing level of FKERI BB HE o

contributions.

10. Directors’ and Chief Executive’s 10. 3 3 47 B 48 3
Remuneration
Directors’ and chief executive’s remuneration for the year, RIESBHEXZFAAMRASE (TH#IFTl)
disclosed pursuant to the Rules Governing the Listing of #5& FRE (T EmRAL) ~ BBATE
Securifies on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the B15E383(1)(a), (b), (c)(ME » URAT (3
"Stock Exchange”) (the “Listing Rules”), section 383(1)(a), (b), (c) BEEMGEER) BEE 2B

and (f) of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance and Part 2
of the Companies (Disclosure of Information about Benefits of
Directors) Regulation, is as follows:

2024 2023
—Eo@EE —TT=F
HK$°000 HK$'000

F#ET FET
Fees 1w 1,134 1,109
Other emoluments: HimEl s -
Salaries, allowances and benefits in kind e~ RN EYF @ 7,999 8,121
Bonuses* TE4T * - 228
Equity-settled share option expense It H AR - Q6
Retirement benefit scheme contributions BRRER 5 ENHER 36 36
Total 4Bt 9,169 9,590
*  Executive directors of the Company are entifled to bonus xR ITEE AR TLAT o T
payments which are defermined as a percentage of net profit of AT 5 BB 127K £ (B 25 B B — E B
the Group on a quarterly basis. DT o
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10. 3% F R AT BUREH M @)

10.Directors’ and Chief Executive’s

Remuneration (continued)

During the year ended 31 December 2020, cerfain directors
were granted share options, in respect of their services to
the Group, under the share option scheme of the Company,
further details of which are set out in note 30 fo the financial
statements. The fair value of the share options granted in
2020, which has been recognised in the income statement
over the vesting period, was determined as af the date of grant
and the amount included in the financial statements is included
in the above directors’ and chief executive's remuneration

RBE_ZE_ZF+_"_BA=+—HIHF
E > BETEEARAEERERBMRE
RNE) BT BRI > IE—P 5%
IBERMERERMEI0 - R _TF
FIiRHNERENATE (EREBHER
EWEERANRER) ILRIRHBHEE > M
A BHRENEBEETE L XIREN
BERITHBHERFIA o

disclosures.
2024 —E-mE
Salaries, Equity-  Retirement
allowances settled benefit
and benefits share option scheme Total
Fees in kind Bonuses  expenses contributions remuneration
g
IR RELE BAREF
ns BEMHE TE40  BRRRiER: SRR ekl
HK$'000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
F#T F#T F#T F#T F#T F#T
Executive directors: HITEE !
Madam Ngok Ming Chu SRS T - 3,251 - - 18 3,269
Ms. Cheng Pik Ho liza* EE L - 2,924 - - 18 2,942
Mr. Cheng Chuen Chuen HE2EE - 652 - - - 652
Ms. Lu Qun BETT - 1,172 - - - 1,172
Subtotal gt - 7,999 - - 36 8,035
Indlependlent non-execulive BUFHITEE
directors:
Mr. Chan Chi On# Fob s s 240 - - - - 240
Mr. lau Siv Ki BERE 298 - - - - 298
Mr. Lee Kwan Hung SREE 298 - - - - 298
Prof. lee T. S. SREHR 298 - - - - 298
Subtotal INEF 1,134 - - - - 1,134
Total 4zt 1,134 7,999 - - 36 9,169
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31 December 2024 —E_&E+"A=+—H

10.Directors’ and Chief Executive’s

Remuneration (continued)

2023

10. 3% F R AT BUREH M @)

—_———

Salaries, Equity-  Refirement
allowances seffled benefit
and benefits share opfion scheme Tofal
Fees in kind Bonuses expenses  contiibufions  remuneration
e
2R kRS  RicEA
e  BYE B BREmEx  SEMER B
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
THT THT TER TET TET THT
Execufive dlirectors: HITEE .
Madam Ngok Ming Chu ERBLL - 3,410 83 33 18 3,544
Ms. Cheng Pik Ho liza* Lt - 2,944 98 Kl 18 3,091
Mr. Cheng Chuen Chuen BEREE = 683 12 7 - 702
Ms. Lu Qun 330 = 1,084 35 16 = 1,135
Subrotal et - 8,121 228 87 36 8,472
Independent nonexecufive BUFRNTEE
directors:
Mr. Chan Chi On** Tk 170 = = - - 170
Mr. Lau Siu Ki BB RE 313 - - 3 - 316
Mr. lee Kwan Hung FIELYE 313 - - 3 - 316
Prof. lee T. S. FREHR 313 = = 3 = 316
Subotal et 1,109 - - 9 - 1,118
Tofal a5t 1,109 8,121 228 96 36 9,590

& Ms. Cheng Pik Ho liza, a director of the Company, is also the

chief executive officer of the Company.

##

executive director of the Company on 25 May 2023.

Mr. Chan Chi On was appointed as an independent non-

There were no arrangements under which a director or the
chief executive waived or agreed to waive any remuneration

during the year ended 31 December 2024.

There was no remuneration paid during the year to the

directors as an inducement fo join or upon joining the Group
or as compensation for loss of office (2023: Nil).

Embry Holdings Limited Z#155 ¥R ARAE / Annual Report 3R 2024
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11. Five Highest Paid Individuals

The five highest paid employees during the year included three
(2023: three) directors, details of whose remuneration are set
out in note 10 to the financial statements above. Details of the
remuneration for the year of the remaining two (2023: two)
highest paid employees who are neither a director nor chief
executive of the Company are as follows:

11.

hamE#H AL
FNEERSHATEE=Z8ExE (ZZ
TZF I =R) 0 HFEMFBER EXHM
BIRAME 10 - FRNHER—R (TF
TEF I ZR)FRADEFT TR
ZEREHEEZFHMFBENT

2024 2023

—ECNFE T =fF

HKS’000 HK$'000

F#ET FHET

Salaries, allowances and benefits in kind e RALREYRE 2,153 2,187
Bonuses TEAT - 54
Equity-setiled share option expense s B R - 22
Retirement benefit scheme contributions BORER RN 132 134
Total 4Bt 2,285 2,397

The number of non-director and non-chief executive highest
paid employees whose remuneration fell within the following
band is as follows:

#ENEB I LA 4R 2 IFEE R IR T &L
REHEEAZBNOT

Number of employees

BEA#
2024 2023
“EImE —T=F
HK$1,000,001 to HK$ 1,500,000 1,000,001 #&7TE 1,500,000 % 7T 2 2

During the year ended 31 December 2020, share options
were granted fo non-direcfor and non-chief executive highest
paid employees in respect of their services to the Group,
further details of which are included in the disclosure in note
30 to the financial statements. The fair value of the share
options granted in 2020, which has been recognised in the
income statement over the vesting period, was determined as
at the date of grant and the amount included in the financial
statements is included in the above non-director and non-chief
executive highest paid employees’ remuneration disclosures.

RBE_ZE_ZF+"_B=+—HI%F
B> FEERITHESREHEERD
AEERBIRFFMIERBRAE > BE—F5F
IEE N MR RM ORI ER o« IR
ZEFMBEHERENATE (ERER
BEAREW G TR IR H HEREE o
MR RKRFIEHEEBEF AL MIFEER
FITHRY RS HEENINENR °
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31 December 2024 —E_&E+"A=+—H

12. Income Tax 12. i 5 B
No provision for Hong Kong profits tax has been made as the MARAERNFRLBEETEBEL TR
Group did not generate any assessable profits arising in Hong SRiEN > B R EHES BTISREE (T
Kong during the year (2023: Nil). Taxes on profits assessable ET=F R cHMi 5 BRREN 2
elsewhere have been calculated af the rafes of tax prevailing MBAERAEECEEH R BRIREK
in the regions in which the Group operates. stE o
2024 2023
“BINE T F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FHET
Deferred (note 27) IRIE (M 27) 4,899 (21,087)
Total tax expense/ (credit] for the year FEZBRIE (%) 1% 4,899 (21,087)
A reconciliation of the tax credit applicable to loss before fax MUANB RE ARG M B AT sTMtE
at the statutory rates for the regions in which the Company EEMEBRFIRAIEIESTE 2 MIERX
and the majority of its subsidiaries are domiciled fo the tax BFERERREAEZNERS (HER)
expense/ (credit) at the effective tax rate is as follows: USRI
2024 2023
—SmE —FT_=
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET TFHET
Loss before tax PRIR AR (368,536) (93,255
Tax af the applicable statutory rates BREEMREAE ZRE (87,959) (19,343
Income not subject fo tax BRI Z WA (1,795) (1,658
Expenses not deductible for tax ARz 38,649 3,070
Reversal of deferred tax assets recognised BT BRI EIEPT SR E E
in prior years (o] 28,490 =
Tax losses utilised from previous periods FABTHRRERIERSE - (2,596)
Tax losses not recognised REEDINIERR 27,666 4,365
Others HAth (152) (4,925
Tax expense/(credit) ot the Group's RAEEZEEREAEZ
effective rate MIERES  (HK%) 4,899 (21,087
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13. Related Party Transactions

(a)

13.FHENLRS

In addition to the transactions detailed elsewhere in these (0) FEEZEMHMEREMIATRZ TR >

financial statements, the Group had the following material

FEERERNEFMEALTETZER

transactions with related parties during the year: RZWTF :

2024 2023
ZEME T4

Nofes HK$’000 HK$'000
izt FHET FET
Continuing transactions FER S
Purchases of furniture and decoration BREATBEEUR
services for counters and shops B 2 R R BB AR TS
as well as different types of IDYSE=S =Ry =]
moulds from related companies (i) 3,070 9,843
Rental expenses for a warehouse KATRESWEIREZ
charged by a direcfor of the Company  FA&RX (i) 336 336
Consultancy fee to a substantial BAARABEERE
shareholder of the Company X fIEERIE& (iii) 1,440 1,474
Notes: ez -

(i) The purchases of furniture and decoration services for (i)
counters and shops as well as different fypes of moulds
from 2 B4 HSBERE G ORI BRAF (Duosiwei
Metal & Plastic Products (Shenzhen) Co., lid. (“Shenzhen
Duosiwei")), a related company controlled by Mr. Cheng
Chuen Chuen, an executive director of the Company,
and & 1% 8 ZE R B R A 5 (Shangyue Industry
(Shenzhen) Co., ltd.), a related company controlled by
close family members of Mr. Cheng Chuen Chuen, were
made according fo the terms similar to those offered by the
Group's independent suppliers. Mr. Cheng Chuen Chuen
completed the disposal of his entire interests in Shenzhen
Duosiwei on 17 May 2024 and Shenzhen Duosiwei
ceased fo be a related company of the Company. The
balance owed fo a related company as af 31 December
2024 was HK$ 169,000 (2023: HK$3,696,000) and
was unsecured, inferestree and repayable in accordance
with normal trading ferms. The amount has been included in
other payables and accruals as at the end of the year.

[i)  The renfal expenses were charged by Madam Ngok (i)
Ming Chu, an executive director of the Company, an
determined with reference to the then prevailing market
conditions.

[ii)  The late Mr. Cheng Man Tai had been engaged as (iii)
the consultant of the Company for a ferm of one year
with effect from 1 February 2024 (2023: a ferm of one
year with effect from 1 February 2023). The terms of
consullancy fee were based on a consultancy agreement
entered into between the Company and %e s?ote Mr.
Cheng Man Tai.

Mr. Cheng Man Tai passed away and ceased fo be the
consultant on 19 June 2024.

HRIEEA AT EEEER 5o
RPN ER Y Syt
515 CEHI) BIRAR (RIS 2
i) DR A AR MTEEIES
ERAB ARSI A A5 1R S
% (F) AMRA S B EIR( RIES
2 R R IR R S e B
R e A A B 1T (A R P HE A
1RRIEE - BERRER _2_m
55+ DRt EL RIS

EWESRLEE _ T _NFE_F
—HEEEEE AT AT RS —
F(CE_=F: _E_=F"8
—HESP—F) - ERBERFEM
ERBEAATHEEHBHRTEZ
B EERETE o

HERALENR S _MERAB+N
B EHt R N AR R o
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31 December 2024 —E_&E+"A=+—H

13. Related Party Transactions (continved)

(a)  (continued)
The above fransactions constitute continuing connected
transactions as defined in Chapter 14A of the Listing
Rules and their details are disclosed in the report of the
directors.

The directors are of the opinion that the above
fransactions were conducted in the ordinary course of
business of the Group.

(a)

13.FEANLR S )

(#)

R EHRAFEI4ATE > U ERF
BREERERS > ARFBEER
EXgWmENRKE -

EFR/LERGERNAEERR
EFBEIZPET -

(b)  Compensation of key management personnel of the Group (h) ZHEBEFEEIEASZEM
2024 2023
“BINE T -F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHET THET
Shortterm employee benefits rEHAEE 11,771 12,347
Postemployment benefits BB ST 296 296
Equity-setiled share option expense RS E AR - 120
Total compensation paid to S FEBEE AL 2B
key management personnel 12,067 12,763

Further details of directors’ and chief executive's
remuneration are included in note 10 to the financial
statements.

14. Dividends

The board of directors of the Company does not recommend
the payment of a final dividend for the year ended 31
December 2024.
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15. Loss Per Share Attributable to 15. 4 2 5 B 45\ VB Al 5 Jie s 4R
Owners of the Company
(a) Basic () &
The calculation of basic loss per share is based on: SRERGEELRUTEEGRHE !
2024 2023

(b)

—ECME T _—F
HKS’000 HK$'000

FAET FET
Loss K548
Loss attributable to owners of the Company, R EtESREEREEC
used in the basic loss per share calculation AT A AFEILEE (373,435) (72,168)
Number of shares
LiabE 4=
2024 2023
—EmE =TT =F
Shares &5

Number of ordinary shares of the Company st EAA T ESREREE
outstanding, used in the basic loss per share PR Z F£REETIEI

calculation iE G 422,416,638 422,416,638
Basic loss per share [HK cents) SREAREE (B (88.40) (17.08
Diluted (b) #E
No adjustment has been made fo the basic loss per BE S _—FER-_FB_NE+
share amounts presented for the years ended 31 B=+—HLFE > BREARE#
December 2024 and 2023 in respect of a dilution as SERE - At ) AFEE I MABEFRR
the impact of the share options has antidilutive effect on VSR EREIBLELE -

the basic loss per share amounts presented.
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16. Property, Plant and Equipment

Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)
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31 December 2024 —E_&E+"A=+—H

16. 93 ~ W5 Rkl

Furniture,
fixtures
leosehold ~ Plontond  ond office Motor  Construction
Buildings improvements  machinery  equipment vehiles  in progress Total
il 5B
HEn% BER  RMAZ
BF & s i RE ERIR ]
HK$'000  HKS'000  HKS'000  HK$'000  HKS'000  HKS'000  HK$'000
Ti#n 71 Tin T#n F&7n Tin Ti#n
2004 ZECME
Cost: A
At 1 Jonuary 2024 RIZZME-F-H 828,453 3,690 303,490 342,508 10,037 9513 1497601
Addions hE - - 594 4744 17 2970 8,325
Disposals/wriieoff HE /s - - (150) (2,220 (596) - (2.966)
Transfers v 11,017 - 179 516 - (1,712) -
Transter fo invesiment properfies BRERENE (M)

note o] (12,815) - - - - - (12,815)
Bxchange redlignment EREE (26,214) - (9,440) (10,189) (166) (110) (46,119)
At 31 December 2024 RZE-mE+ZRA=1-A 800,441 3,690 204,673 335,359 9,292 661 1444116

Accumuloted depreciafion and ZATERAE:
impairment:
At 1 Jonuary 2024 RIZME-F-H 174,807 3,690 177,184 317,734 9,435 - 682,850
Provided during the year EREE 17,686 - 22,942 10,943 101 - 51,672
Impairment HE 88,178 - 27,088 3433 - - 118,699
Disposals/ writeoff e /s - - (136) (2,194) (586) - (2916)
Transfer o invesiment properties BEERENZ (W)

[nofe ] (2,702) - - - - - (2,702)
Eichange reclignment EQRR (5.818) - (5,907) (9,528) (188) - (21.441)
At 31 December 2024 RZE_ME+"R=+-H 272,151 3,690 21,171 320,388 8,762 - 826,162

Net book value: RESE:
At 31 December 2024 RIEZMETZA=1-H 528,290 - 73,502 14971 530 661 617,954
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16. Property, Plant and Equipment 16. %3¢ ~ B Rk fli o)
(continued)
Fumiture,
fixtures
lesehold ~ Plontond ~ and office Motor  Conshuciion
Buldings  impovemens  machiney  equipment vehicles ~ in progess Tolol
fiffh - RE
i LES HER  RHAE
g7 £ i R RE HRIE st

HP000  HKJ000  HKS000  HKFOO0  HKFO00  HK000  HK§00O
Thn Thn TEn Thn Thn TEn TEn

202 i)

Cost: A
At T Jonuary 2023 RZE_=£-h-f 875418 3,690 296,642 346,865 9,663 0456 1541734
Addifions hE = = 1876 7476 501 17,807 27,660
Disposals/wiiteff dE /i - - (1,437) [7,030) - - (8,467)
Tronsfers B3 2311 = 12,897 2330 = (17,538) =
Transfer o invesimen propeties BEERENE (i)

[nofe af 130,475) = = = = = (30.475)
Exchange realignment EREE (18,801) = (6,488) [7,133) (127) 212) (32.761)
At 31 December 2023 RIBZ=E+ZA=1-H 828,453 3,690 303,490 342 508 10,037 9513 1497601

Accumulofed depreciion: ZEifE
At T Jonuary 2023 RZZ_=5-F-H 162,843 3,690 157,670 312,942 9531 = 646,676
Provided during the year R 18,462 - 24,350 18,223 27 - 61,062
Disposals wrieof HE /i = - 1297 6951 - - 18,248)
Transfer o invesiment properties BEERENZ (W)

[nofe af 2,800) = = = = = (2,806)
Exchange realignment B 3,692) = 3,539) 6,480) (123) = (13,834)
At 31 December 2023 RZE_=F+"B=1-H 174,807 3,690 177,184 317734 9435 = 682,850

Net book value: A
At 31 December 2023 RIEZ=F+ZA=1-H 653,646 = 126,306 24,774 602 9513 814,841
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16. Property, Plant and Equipment

16. 0% ~ Wm Mt @)

Embry Holdings Limited Z2&]75 AR

(continued)
Notes:

(@)  During the year ended 31 December 2024, the Group
rented out certain floors of its owneroccupied properties o
an independent third party for rental income. At the date of
change in use, this property became investment property.
Upon the transfer from property, plant and equipment
of HK$10,113,000 (2023: HK$27,669,000) and
corresponding rightof-use land of HK$ 11,546,000 (2023:
HK$1,259,000) fo investment properties, this property was
revalued at HK$25,000,000 (2023: HK$38,556,000)
with a revaluation surplus of HK$3,341,000 (2023:
HK$9,628,000) credited to the asset revaluation reserve.

(b) At 31 December 2024, certain of the Group's buildings with a
net carrying amount of approximately HK$2,310,000 (2023:
HK$2,411,000) were pledged to secure general banking
facilities granted to the Group [note 25).

Impairment festing of property, plant and equipment

In light of the unexpected market conditions and deferiorating
performance during the year ended 31 December 2024,
property, plant and equipment and rightof-use assets of the
Group's production bases in Shandong and Changzhou are
identified with indicators for impairment as at 31 December
2024, and are reviewed for impairment.

Based on the recoverable amount calculation using a value-in-
use method, impairment losses of HK$ 111,746,000 (2023:
Nil) and HK$5,327,000 (2023: Nil) on property, plant
and equipment and rightofuse assets (nofe 18) of Shandong
production base, respectively, have been recognised in the
income statement for the year ended 31 December 2024.
The recoverable amount of Shandong production base as at
31 December 2024 with impairment loss recognised in 2024
amounted to approximately HK$383,370,000.

‘28] / Annual Report %R 2024

(o) ®BE_TZ_NE+"BA=+—HIFE
ZF%IF‘]?%.L%ZH&%HH%:F%%@
LXH&ZHR%H%H&)\ RERRREEE

P %F %ﬁﬁk%&é%ﬁ EEYES
r‘%& % #10,113,0008 T (==
Z=F 127,669 OOO/%FG) MERES
EZT##11,546,0008x(Z2 2=
F: 1 QSQOOO,%TE) HBEERENE
B ZEYEEE(E 225000, OOOJ%
TE(—?——EE 38,556,000#7T) »
BhAH%R3,34] OOO/%TG(_giiﬁi
9,628,000 #87T) st ABEZ AR -

b) RNIE-_NE+-_A=+—H &~%£F
ETIEFTFEEL2310,000FT(ZE
T =4 :2411,00087T) BIEIRIEAE
FAEBN—RIBITRIENIER (M=E
25) o

ME -~ BB Rk tmRERR
ERBE_T_ME+_A=+—HILF
ERHRRE R EEEE » AEBEINIE
REMNEEEMBYE « BB KRR B RE
AREEN " _NFE+"RA=+—H®
A ABERETR » LETRERE

ERRERBEATENTKREERE B
REE_E_NE+_A=+—HIL&E
ErWEERPOREILEEEEMD
#@J% 1428 K2 5% ﬁwi’zﬁﬂaff&ﬁ%(ﬁﬁﬁ

18) HUBERIE 111,746,000 T (Z=
T=F I\ &S, 327000,%75(_7:5
F 8 IREEREMPN _S-_IE
+ B =+—BZulEI£iE (KR =
" ERRRERE) 494 383,370,000
BT
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16. Property, Plant and Equipment

(continued)

Impairment festing of property, plant and equipment (continued)

Key assumptions used in the recoverable amount calculation
of Shandong production base included budgeted sales and
expenses, and discount rate. Assumptions used are made with
reference fo historical results and management’s expectation
for market development. The discount rafe of 11.5% had been
used for the value-in-use calculation, and cash flows beyond
the five-year period were extrapolated using a growth rate of
2.0%. The discount rafe used is prefax rafe and reflects the
current market assessment of the time value of money and the
specific risks.

The recoverable amounts of the property, plant and equipment
and rightof-use assets (note 18] of Changzhou production
base are determined based on the fair value less costs of
disposal of the relevant assets. Based on the result of the
impairment assessments, impairment losses of HK$6,953,000
(2023: Nil) on property, plant and equipment of Changzhou
production base have been recognised in the income
statement for the year ended 31 December 2024. The fair
value measurements were categorised under level 3 with
significant unobservable inputs.

Below is a summary of the valuation techniques used and the
key inputs to the valuation of the relevant asses:

16. 0% ~ Wm Mt @)

MZE -~ BER=ERENS @)
SAEWWREEREM WO ERAZE
ERROEBRBFHERFASTUKRMETEE -
FTARKRIB2EBEEEREEEH TS
BEROVTAHMEL - st EEREERRED
11.5%MBEIRE WHEA2.00NEBEX
EE L FHUENIRERE - FREARIRL
WERDBMAGIRER > RREFITTHHHES
R (BB 5 E R RAYET(E

EINEEEMBYE « IS RREBLURME
RSB E (M&E18) AW el & TH R
HRABEENAFERHENTEE - RIE
RMESENER ERBES_MF
TR =+—HLEFENRmETPEDS
WWEEEMBIYIZE « BRERRERERS
86,953,000 8BTT (ZE=F &) -
TEFERFEARAERTIERAA
BIRZE=MRIET °

BB ELEMRANGERTRERH
ABBBEWT -

Significant Range of
Relevant assets  Valuation techniques unobservable inputs unobservable inputs
HREE fh{E R EXFABERBARE FrABERBARENEE
Properties Income capitalisation Capitalisation rate 3.0% to 4.0%
approach per annum (note)
LYES WmBAE% FEREE (Kz2) 3.0% to 4.0%

Note: The higher the capitalisation rate per annum, the lower the fair
value.

Mzt - FEXMEXRMS > ATE-E -
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17. Investment Properties

17. 8&Wm¥E

2024 2023

“EomE —To=fF

HK$’000 HK$'000

FET FHET

Carrying amount at 1 January R—B—HZiEEE 530,947 500,924

Changes in fair value (notes 6 and 9) NHEEE (WaEo6K?) (69,380) 889
Transfer from property, plant and BEEYE ~ BB AN

equipment and rightof-use land (nofe 16) (R (F12E 16) 25,000 38,556

Exchange realignment PE 2 S EE (13,342) (?,422)

Carrying amount at 31 December R+ZB=+—BZKEE 473,225 530,947

The Group's investment properties are situated at 6th Floor,
Wyler Centre Il, 200 Tai Llin Pai Road, Kwai Chung, New
Territories, Hong Kong, at No. 508, Kunming Road, Yangpu
District, Shanghai, the PRC, and certain floors of the building
located at 259 Hehaixi Road, Xinbei District, Changzhou, the
PRC, respectively, and are held under medium term leases.

At 31 December 2024, the Group's investment property
situated in Hong Kong with a fair value of HK$79,000,000
(2023: HK$92,000,000) was pledged to secure general
banking facilities granted to the Group (nofe 25).

The Group's investment properties situated in Hong Kong
and Mainland China were revalued on 31 December 2024
based on valuations performed by Cushman & Wakefield
Limited ("CWL"), independent professionally qualified valuers.
Valuations were based on the capitalisation of net rental
income derived from the existing tenancies with due allowance
for the reversionary income potential of the properties, or
where appropriate, with reference to comparable market
fransactions and evidence and taking into consideration
adjustments that reflect differences in transaction timing,
location and tenure.

Each year, the Group appoints an external valuer to be
responsible for the external valuations of the Group's
properties. Selection criteria of an external valuer include
market knowledge, reputation, independence and whether
professional standards are maintained. Management discusses
with the valuer on the valuation assumptions and valuation
results when the valuation is performed for financial reporting.

Embry Holdings Limited Z#I55#EERAS] / Annual Report 3R 2024

REBZRBEVEDHMUNEBHFRER
RNEFE 20058 R mH 028612 » P
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A TENFE+ZRB=+—0 ' FxEERQ
F{E79,000,000 BTN B EBHIREY)
(T2 =% :92,000,000%7T) BIE
REARTAEEN—RIRTHRENER
(BF5E25) ©
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17. Investment Properties (confinved)

17. 8/ EW*E @)

There has been no change from the valuation fechnique used
in prior years. In estimating the fair value of the properties, the
highest and best use of the properties is their current use.

The investment properties are leased tfo third parties under
operating leases, further summary details of which are included
in note 18 fo the financial statements.

Fair value hierarchy

The fair values of the Group's investment properties as at
31 December 2024 and 2023 were estimated by using
significant unobservable inputs and the fair value measurements
were cafegorised under level 3.

EFEAZEET AL ELE) - REHY)
FZNATEER  BERYEZ&ES&RE
RESHERBR -

REMELEERERTE =7 > HFB

N IMARMIEE 18 o

DFEEER

A TETNE+"A=+—HRZE=
F+ZR=+—8 > xEBUEKRTAEH
KREABBEF 2 REMEZ RATEER
ANFEESEDERE=HET -

Reconciliation of fair value measurement categorised within RATEBESHRFE=ZHFRNDEZAFEE
level 3 of the fair value hierarchy: STEHER
Hong Chinese
Kong Mainland
&# RE AR
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET TFHET
Carrying amount af 1 January 2023 RZZE_=F—HA—HZFKHE 92,000 408,924
Changes in fair value recognised in R RAERZ

the income statement NEBEEE - 889
Transfer from owner-occupied properties BEEXTEAYE (W 16)

[note 16) - 38,556
Exchange realignment FERAE - (9,422)
Carrying amount at 31 December 2023 and (\_EZ_E—I— B=+—Hk

at 1 January 2024 B NE—-A—HZIRAEE 92,000 438,947
Changes in fair value recognised in R RAFERZ

the income statement NEBEEES) (13,000) (56,380)
Transfer from owneroccupied properties BRAETIGRYE W 16)

[note 16) - 25,000
Exchange realignment EERRE - (13,342)
Carrying amount at 31 December 2024 A ZETIEFE+ZA=1+—H

ZEREE 79,000 394,225

During the year, there were no transfers of fair value FR

measurements between Level 1

and level 2 and no transfers

B—AREESE i MRS AT
BESE  TESEASZ=BRABFE=HRE

into or out of Level 3 (2023: Nil).

H(CEI=ZF ) -
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17. Investment Properties (confinved)

Fair value hierarchy (continued)
Below is a summary of the valuation techniques used and the
key inputs to the valuation of investment properties:

17. 8/ EW*E @)

RFBEEFR &)
U aREYEEEERGER EREE
WARZME

Significant
Class of property Valuation techniques  unobservable inputs Range of unobservable inputs
MELER fh{ES* ERFATHRRBARE FoBmEARRER
2024 2023
TR NE —To-F

Hong Kong Market comparable Gross unit rafe HK$2,900 to HK$3,500 to
— Commercial properties method per square foof HK$3,300  HK$3,600
— level 3 (note i)

) MG LLEUA BTHRMEMEE  2,90087TE 3 5008TE
— BRAYE (Btazi) 3,300 3,000
— B=®

Mainland China Income capitalisation  Capitalisation rate 3.0% to 2.5% 1o
— Commercial properties approach per annum (nofe i) 4.8% 6.5%
— level 3

R AR WAB X SEFEENEEX (W) 3.0%E 2.5% %
— BRAYE 4.8% 6.5%
— B=H

Notes: [hi=a

The higher the gross unit rate per square foot, the higher the fair
value.

ii.  The higher the capitalisation rate per annum, the lower the fair
value.

18. Leases

The Group as a lessee

The Group has lease contracts for various items of office
premises and sfores used in its operations. Lump sum payments
were made upfront to acquire the leased land from the owners
with lease periods of 45 to 50 years, and no ongoing
payments will be made under the terms of these land leases.
leases of office premises and stores generally have lease terms
between 1 and 7 years. Generally, the Group is restricted
from assigning and subleasing the leased assefs outside the
Croup. There are several lease confracts that include extension
and fermination opfions and variable lease payments.

Embry Holdings Limited Z2#175 2R B RAE / Annual Report ¥R 2024
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18. Leases (continued) 18. & (%)
The Group as a lessee (continued) TEBEAEAMBEA &
(a)  Right-of-use assets () ERAESEE
The carrying amounts of the Group's rightof-use assets ZK%.EW@@%%EE’\]E&@@&
and the movements during the year are as follows: & g -
Leasehold
land Buildings Total
HELH gF Wzt
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TFET FHT FET
At 1 January 2023 W2 =%—H—H 121,710 23,471 145,181
Additions nNE - 44,857 44,857
Transfer to investment EHRELEY)
properties (nofe 17 (K% 17) (1,259 - (1,259)
Termination of leases KIEFEE - (3,135) (3,135)
Depreciation charge IEER (3,618 (24,013) (27,631)
Impairment charge HEE R - (6,040) (6,040)
Exchange realignment PE R R (2,371] (2,287) (4,658)
At 31 December 2023 A B =F+"FA=1+—H
and 1 January 2024 k—Z_HNF—HB—H 114,462 32,853 147,315
Additions hE - 29,701 29,701
Transfer to investment EE LB
propetties [nofe 17) (Hizt17) (11,546) - (11,546)
Termination of leases HKIFFRE - (2,199) (2,199)
Depreciation charge TEER (3,287) (27,619) (30,906
Impairment charge BEER (5,327) (12,749) (18,076)
Exchange realignment PE B (2,987) (3,267) (6,254)
At 31 December 2024 A2 HE+"A=1+—H 91,315 16,720 108,035
At 31 December 2024, certain of the Group's right-of- N _E_WNE+"A=+—H =K
use land with a net carrying amount of approximately EBERmEFEAI10,800,000% 7T (=
HK$10,800,000 (2023: HK$11,272,000) was T|T=4F:11,272,00085T) NE
pledged to secure general banking facilities granted to FREAE L MBRPEARTAE
the Group (note 25). BRI —R IR TRYE RETR (BA5E25) ©
During the year ended 31 December 2024, impairment BT REBLEEETEE &%
loss of HK$12,749,000 (2023: HK$6,040,000) is T HFE+_"_B=4+— EJLEF“EE
recognised for the writedown of the carrying amounts SROREER 12,749,000 T (=&
of right-of-use assets in respect of leased buildings =4 :6,040,00087T) » LUEE
for certain underperforming stores to the recoverable TREXEEHZAEEFERA
amounts because the market conditions were out of FRAEEERTDENRZEETWE
management’s expectation. The estimated recoverable ER N _E_ME+_A=+—
amounts as at 31 December 2024 were determined H B 5t 7] Ug [0l & 88 T5 48 35 168 3 B
based on their value in use amounts estimated by using REI126%EENEHABEEETE (Z
a discount rate of 12.6% (2023: 12.6%). BT=F12.6%)
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18. Leases (continved)
The Group as a lessee (continued)

(a)

(b)

Embry Holdings Limited 275K A

Right-of-use assets (continued)

18.#8 &)

FEBEAEXBA &
EREBE (#)
REE_ZS_NE+_A=+—H

(a)

During the year ended 31 December 2024, impairment
loss of HK$5,327,000 (2023: Nil) is recognised for the
writedown of the carrying amount of rightof-use assefs
in respect of the land use right of the Group’s Shandong
production base to the recoverable amount. Further

details of this impairment testing are set out in note 16 to

the financial statements.

Lease liabilities

(b)

The carrying amount of lease liabilities and the

movements during the year are as follows:

I F EREEIRER RS, 327,000 %

T(ZE =

=& |) > R B R

FEBUREEEM T MEREZ
EREEERAEZIWOEEE -
ERzBEREAR 2 E—T B
R FFRRMEE 16 o

HE&RE
FRHEEENRAEELRESNT

2024 2023
—E@mFE —T=F
HK$’000 HK$’000
F#ET FET
Carrying amount at 1 January R—R—HEREE 54,021 56,577
New leases wHAE 29,257 44,373
Termination of leases RIFFRE (2,386) (3,181)
Accretion of inferest recognised FER RS BN
during the year 2,280 2,478
Covid-19-related rent concessions LB AREMHEE Covid19
from lessors BIEEENEEER = (273)
Payments (NEA (41,663) (44,822
Exchange realignment EREEE (1,328) (1,131)
Carrying amount at 31 December R+ZA=+—RiKEE 40,181 54,021
Analysed into payable: PAIIP: I INE/SE I
Within one year —ER 28,011 32,627
In the second year BT 10,308 16,262
In the third to fifth years, inclusive E-EFEhF (QEEEEE) 1,862 5,132
40,181 54,021
less: Current portion B L RENER S (28,011) (32,627)
Non-current portion SERENE D 12,170 21,394

The maturity analysis of lease liabilities is disclosed in

note 35 to the financial statements.

R/AB / Annual Report 3R 2024
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The Group as a lessee (continued)

Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)
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)

18.#8 &)
KNEBEBEEA (B)

()  The amounts charged/(credited) in the income statement in () MW=mFRNEE (5t A) BWIL S8R
relation to leases are as follows: I
2024 2023
—ElE T =F
HK$000 HK$'000
FET FET
Interest on lease liabilities HEaEf s 2,280 2,478
Depreciation charge of rightofuse assets  {FREEETERS 30,906 27,631
Expense relating to shortferm leases FTHRTE SRR X 205,154 242,058
Variable lease payments not included in jﬁﬂﬁE‘I']ﬁﬂ S B8Rt EN
the measurement of lease liabilities B EA 4,574 3,729
Covid-19-related rent concessions %Hjﬁ/\?m{ﬁfﬁi Covid-19
from lessors BIEEENEEER - (273)
Impairment of rightof-use assets ERESERE 18,076 6,040
Total amount recognised in the income Rz R SBAR %R
statement 260,990 281,663

(d)  The tofal cash outflow for leases is disclosed in note 33(c) to
the financial statements.

The Group as a lessor

The Group leases ifs investment properties (nofe 17) consisting
of commercial properties in Hong Kong and Mainland Ching,
and part of its owner-occupied staff quarters, under operating
lease arrangements. The ferms of the leases generally require
the fenants fo pay security deposits and provide for periodic
rent adjustments according to the then prevailing market
conditions. Rental income recognised by the Group during
the year was HK$17,961,000 (2023: HK$17,659,000),
details of which are included in note 6 to the financial
statements.

At 31 December 2024, the undiscounted lease payments
receivable by the Group in future periods under operating
leases with its tenants are as follows:

() FEERSREEIENMHRRMEE33()
HE o

FEREAHEA

AEERBECEHERHEEAEREY
E(MsE17) > SREEBRPEAMBE
AYMERBHERYEETIES - HEIF
B EERBLMRESE » WIREER
NIRRT RETENESRE - XEEF
AR HEEUWA 17,961,000 (=2
—=%:17,659,000#%7T) - BRAFIEH
IR ERARMIFEOS o

RZE-_WNE+_BA=+—0H > ~"EAR
REREAEIREEAER L 2 K SHEEI
RN ENMTOT -

2024 2023

—FTomE ===
HKS$’000 HK$’000
F#ET FET
Within one year —F R 16,698 14,043
After one year but within two years —FBEmERN 13,053 12,482
After two years but within three years _FBE=FRN 8,513 10,216
After three years but within four years —FBEBEHFRN 5,776 5117
After four years but within five years NEBBRERN 3,877 5,072
After five years LR 4,706 8,341
Total 4Bt 52,623 55,271
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19. Other Asset

In accordance with the requirements of the Shenzhen City's
urban development plan issued by the Shenzhen City Luohu
District Town Re-development Bureau (ZR3IITH 285 (& 0 i &8
#1/3), on 23 October 2017, Embry (China) Garments Ltd.
("Embry SZ"), a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company,
enfered info a relocation compensation agreement and a
supplemental relocation compensation agreement (collectively
known as the “Relocation Compensation Agreement”] with
Shenzhen Huiren Jewelry City Investment Limited (ZRYITHE
KRB EBRAE]), a company established in the PRC
and an independent third party developer (the “Developer”)
in order fo implement a renewal plan by demolishing and
rebuilding in the Buxin Industrial Area, Shenzhen, the PRC.
The defails of the Relocation Compensation Agreement are
set out in the Company’s announcement dated 25 October
2017. According to the Relocation Compensation Agreement,
Embry SZ shall surrender its land use right and its properties
situated in the Buxin Industrial Area (the “Original Properties”).
The Developer, in retumn, agreed fo (i) compensate Embry SZ
with new properties in a form of new industrial research and
development buildings (Fr8EE =R A MECEEZE) on
a piece of industrial purposed land with an area similar to that
of the Criginal Properties to be developed and built by the
Developer (the “New Properties”); (i) compensate Embry SZ
the cost of land use right of the Original Properties, rental cost
for Embry SZ to lease properties during the move out period
and other costs related fo the Relocation Arrangement (“Cash
Compensation”), which are payable by the Developer up to
the end of the move out period; and i) sell extra properties
at a new building fo be consfructed in the Buxin Industrial
Area, Shenzhen, the PRC (“New Building”) to Embry SZ,
whereby the price and area of such properties at the New
Building shall be subject to further negotiation between Embry
SZ and the Developer (collectively known as the “Relocation
Arrangement”).

Embry SZ has moved out from the Original Properties in the
prior years and signed the properties transfer confirmation (5=
B E] with the Developer on 30 November 2017.
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19. Other Asset (continued) 9. H {ih & @£ (&)

To the best of the knowledge, information and belief of the
Company's directors, having made all reasonable enquiries,
the Group does not expect any obstacles to receive the
New Properties and the Cash Compensation from the
Developer. During the year ended 31 December 2017,
the Group derecognised the property, plant and equipment
and prepaid lease payments. According to the terms of the
Relocation Compensation Agreement and the property transfer
confirmation, the Group also recognised the fair value of the
right to receive the New Properties (“Other Asset’) as “Other
Asset” and the receivables in relation to Cash Compensation
during the year ended 31 December 2017. Other Assef is
initially recognised at its fair value and subsequently carries at
cost less impairment.

At 31 December 2024, the carrying amounts of Other
Asset and receivables in relation to Cash Compensation
under the Relocation Arrangement were approximately
HK$342,660,000 (2023: HK$393,846,000] and
HK$7,407,000 (2023: HK$7,652,000) (note 22),
respectively. During the year ended 31 December 2024,
impairment loss of HK$39,457,000 (2023: Nil) is recognised
for the writedown of the carrying amount of Other Asset fo its
recoverable amount.

As at 31 December 2024, the recoverable amount of Other
Asset has been determined based on the fair value of the New
Properties according to the valuation performed by CWIL, an
independent professional qualified valuer, by using the direct
comparison method. The valuation was dependent on certain
significant unobservable inputs including gross unit rate per
square metre with a range of RMB3 1,800 to RMB39,800
(2023: RMB35,700 to RMB44,700) and an annual discount
rate of 4.0% (2023: 4.2%). The fair value measurement was
categorised under level 3.

BERBDERFH -G EERRFR

A~ BEKEE $$lﬁ%%%@ﬁw
B R RIR S HEN S HIREMAER o
BE_T—tFE+"RA=+—HLEE>

REBRILFESYE ~ BB k& RAN
HEMFEREE - RiERBHEHZEKRE
ERRERERNR  cEERBE_Z
—tE+-A=+—HLEFEFRER=®
WEESSUET Y R B0 R (THMEBE ) /Y
ANFE > REWIREMHE HMEEDD
BHATERS » HERRMARBEAR

ATE_ME+_B=+—H ' HthEE
KB B Z IR S HERE IEUEERE
BEDBIH 342,660,000 T (B =1 :
393,846,000 7T) K 7,407,000 75 (—
BT=F 7,652,000 5) (MEE22) o
REE_Z_NE+_A=+—HIEE

SELh B ERI(E 39,457,000 7T (ZF
=& 8\ LBHEME EZ IREEMUR
EHOWE]EEE ©

RZE_MNFE+ZA=+—H  Hth&EE
A EEEERNBIUIEXSBERMEE
ETR R TRERLBEETHGEER
MYMEZ AFERETE - HERRNETE
ARABRRRANE > SESTHKBE
fIEHEEARE 31,800 E AR 39,800
(ZE2Z=F: AR®B35700EARHE
44,700) R FREIREA 0% (ZE =4 !

4.2%) o RTEESAEDENE=MRIET o
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20.

21.

Inventories 20. 1+ &
2024 2023
—ElmE —T_-=fF
HK$’000 HK$'000
F#ET FAET
Raw materials B 75,053 56,737
Work in progress T8 25,836 35,693
Finished goods SUEY 376,552 381,534
Total 4BSt 477 441 473,964

Trade Receivables

The Group's frading terms with its customers are mainly on
credit, except for certain wholesalers, where payment in
advance is normally required. The credit period is generally for
a period of one month, extending up fo three months for major
customers. The Group seeks fo mainfain strict contfrol over its
outstanding receivables by the sales department to minimise
credit risk. Overdue balances are reviewed regularly by senior
management. In view of the aforementioned and the fact that
the Group's trade receivables relate to a large number of
diversified customers, there is no significant concentration of
credit risk. The Group does not hold any collateral or other
credit enhancements over ifs trade receivable balances. Trade
receivables are non-inferest-bearing.

An ageing analysis of the Group's trade receivables as af the
end of the reporting period, based on the invoice date, is as

21 i W B 5 MR

AEETENEERTAEETRENTE
B E—REERETHEBRALIR
EEHR—RA—ER  TBERZEEH
A EE=ER - AEEZHEMBITR
Wz FEW R IR - LUBEIE E R - B
FREBREEREERE o &\ £
RAEEBZ BB GRS RZTIEZE
FEARERASRS  HUEEEBEES
2z EE o B EE B E 5 AR
BRI AEARRRNEMEENEE
Jifi o FEUR B 5 BRFRE A5 R o

FAEBNRRSPEEEH ZBRE Z RN
RIFZERERZRE DA !

follows:
2024 2023
—EME “TT=F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHET TET
Within Q0 days Q0H™R 35,021 43,197
91 to 180 days Q1E180H 2,733 1,746
181 to 360 days 181 £360H 1,640 295
Over 360 days 360H B E 3,471 4,199
Subtotal INET 42,865 49 437
less: Impairment allowance OB (4,850) (4,233)
Total 4Bt 38,015 45,204
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21. Trade Receivables (continved)

The movements in the loss allowance for impairment of frade
receivables are as follows:

21. B E 5 MR (@)

W E Z R B R EEENT

2024 2023

—ECE —=EC=4F

HKS$’000 HK$’000

F#ET FET

At 1 January nw—A—H 4,233 9,725
Impairment/ (reversal of impairment) BE S CEiaED ) FEsh > 3 5E

recognised, net [nofe 9) (K155 9) 617 (5,492)

At 31 December W+—HB=+—H 4,850 4,233

An impairment analysis is performed at each reporting date
using a provision matrix fo measure ECls. The provision rafes
are based on days past due for groupings of various customer
segments with similar loss patterns [i.e., by geographical
region and customer type). The calculation reflects the
probability-weighted outcome, the time value of money and
reasonable and supportable information that is available at
the reporting date about past events, current conditions and
forecasts of future economic conditions.

Set out below is the information about the credit risk exposure
on the Group's trade receivables using a provision matrix:

As at 31 December 2024

RERSBARBEGBEREETRESD
o LGtEFEHEERE - BHEXRDER
BEELSEEEANZERTF 48R485 (D
IR PR NEHRMERE -
Zet B RREARINEGER « ERKER
RIS B SNARBRESIA « BRifF
RIS R TR RN SIER AT SEE Y ©

BUR 5B RIS BN E 7 IRk e R
RN EEREHER

RZE_NE+_-_8A=+—H

Past due
bl
Tto3 3109 Over 9
Current months months months Total
Bf 1E3ER 3E9ER BiBEB st
ECL rate FEHEEREX 0.09% 1.65% 79.51%  100.00% 11.31%
Gross carrying amount [HK$'000)  BREI4E(E (Fi57T) 35,021 2,733 1,640 3,471 42,865
ECLs (HK$'000) FEEEEE (TAT) 30 45 1,304 3,471 4,850
As at 31 December 2023 RIE_=F+"H=+—H
Past due
it
1103 310 9@ Over 9
Current months months months Total
BEg 1E3ER 3E9ER BiBOMEA 4@t
ECL rate TBEEEIEX 0.07% 0.80% 62.71% 05.36% 8.56%
Gross carrying amount [HK$'000]  BRETAE(E (T37T) 43,197 1,746 295 4,199 49,437
ECLs [HK$'000) FHiEERE (TAT) 30 14 185 4,004 4,233
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22. Prepayments, Deposits and Other

22.?513‘;%&& v 1 B Bl JE Wk

Receivables |
2024 2023
—EME —“T=F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FAET FHET
Deposit paid and related direct cost W LR i E RS

for the land use right in Shandong RE-REBEZER 8,674 8,960
Deposits for acquisition of items of WHEE ~ BRE MR EEE

property, plant and equipment BEfN%E 81 84
Prepayments FEIE 21,773 20,746
Receivables in relation to Cash BRAMEBLZHNIREmME

Compensation under the Relocation FEWGRIE (B15E 19)

Arrangement (note 19) 7,407 7,652
Deposits and other receivables B K H A WGRRIE 32,077 36,616
Total 4Bt 70,012 74,058
Current portion included in prepayments, FTATEIIE ~ s R H M

deposits and other receivables FEWGRIE 2 BNERER (5 (52,030) (56,546
Non-current portion JEEPHRER1A 17,982 17,512

The movements in the loss allowance for impairment of other
receivables are as follows:

HthFEWGR 2z iR m e T :

2024 2023
—ECNE T _=F
HKS’000 HK$'000

FET FHET
At 1 January n—B—H 7,328 7,754
Exchange realignment BE 52 S (234) (426)
At 31 December R+-A=+—H 7,094 7,328

Deposits and other receivables mainly represent rental
and other deposits and receivables in relation to Cash
Compensation under the Relocation Arrangement. Where
applicable, an impairment analysis is performed at each
reporting date by considering the probability of default of
comparable companies with published credit ratings. In the
situation where no comparable companies with credit rafings
can be identified, expected credit losses are estimated by
applying a loss rate approach with reference fo the historical
loss record of the Group. The loss rate is adjusted fo reflect the
current conditions and forecasts of future economic conditions,
as appropriate.
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22. Prepayments, Deposits and Other
Receivables (continved)

Except for the aforementioned impaired other receivables,
the financial assefs included in the above balances relate to
receivables for which there was no recent history of default
and past due amounts, and the loss allowance was assessed
fo be minimal as at 31 December 2024 and 2023.

23. Cash and Cash Equivalents

22, FAAF K IH ~ 1% 4 B H A FE Wk
H (@)
B B0k B R E 2 EtE U IESN » 5T A L
SN EREEARIIRB IR B
HERSE RIE - =F R _E_[NFE
+ B =1+—HAEXEHETEHABKE -

23. 5 LB e FED

2024 2023

o NE —ET=F

HKS’000 HK$'000

F#ET FAET

Cash and bank balances HE RIB1T4585 121,494 100,895

Non-pledged time deposits with original N NGIEE RIS PSS

maturity of less than three months = @Bz BRI EERER

when acquired 41,940 182,715

Cash and cash equivalents HeRIESZEY) 163,434 283,610

At the end of the reporting period, the cash and bank balances
of the Group denominated in Renminbi ("RMB”) amounted to
HK$ 134,080,000 (2023: HK$267,024,000). The RMB
is not freely convertible into other currencies; however, under
Mainland China’s Foreign Exchange Control Regulations and
Administration of Setlement, and Sale and Payment of Foreign
Exchange Regulations, the Group is permitted to exchange
RMB for other currencies through banks authorised to conduct
foreign exchange business.

Cash at banks earns interest at floating rates based on daily
bank deposit rates. Shortterm time deposits are normally made
for varying periods of between approximately one day and
three months on average depending on the immediafe cash
requirements of the Group, and earn interest at the respective
shortterm time deposit rafes. The bank balances are deposited
with creditworthy banks with no recent history of default.

FEBRRSPEEEEUARESEZ
RE R IR1TAEER 4 134,080,000 %7t (=
T = 1267,024,00087T) o AR
BRIV EHEZBRAHMER - EREPE
REEZ SMEEIRIRG » URASE  REE
RISEEERE » AEBEERBERE
EITIERZEBZRTRARB RIS
HMEH -

IRTEMRESRIETERNXEEZF
BFKE R o FEHIERERIEE T35
W—RE=ZERAE » RFEERERZ
REFTRME > WIRBABZBATERER
MK R o RITEBRERN AT EEN
SR EEREFRIT -
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24. Trade and Bills Payable 24, JEHF ¥ 5 MR wk e A 5 B8
An ageing analysis of the Group's trade and bills payable as REERREREEE B 2RO B 5 IR
at the end of the reporting period, based on the invoice date, RN EHRREETE R RE DT
is as follows: T
2024 2023
—Eo@mE T =
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHET THET
Within 90 days Q0B 35,218 66,388
@1 to 180 days Q1ZE 180H 1,736 300
181 to 360 days 181 £360H 814 453
Over 360 days 3608 E 1,252 1,983
Total “ast 39,020 69,124
The trade payables are non-interestbearing and are normally BB SRR ATE » —fRIN30EQ0
seffled on 30 to Q0 days terms. HR4ES ©
25. Interest-bearing Bank and Other 25. w5t B SR AT B I Atk A 5K
Borrowings
2024 2023
—EomE BT R
Effective Effective
inferest rate Maturity ~ HK$'000 inferest rafe Matuity — HK$'000
BRfI= BRAZ
(%) H8R TEn (%) Ef:d]a! TEL
Current il
Bank loans RITEM Hong Kong 2025 81,777 HIBOR+1.45 2024 51,798
— secured - BHF Inferbank X IGIE S
Offered Rate 8 +1.45
("HIBOR”)+1.45
Bank loans RTER 3.30-3.40 2025 43,830 3.50 2024 41,758
— unsecured — BT
Bank advance e 2.34-2.80 2025 88,298 -
for discounted bils ~ BEERZ 1%
Total — Current st — B 213,905 93,556

164 Embry Holdings Limited 251551 ARAE / Annual Report £E3R 2024



Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)

75 e 2% W 5 ()

31 December 2024 —E_&E+"A=+—H

25. Interest-bearing Bank and Other
BOI‘I'OWiIlgS (continued)

25. wt B R AT B At £ 3% ()

2024 2023
—E_mE “ECCR
Effective Effective
interest rate Maturity HK$000 inferest rafe Maturty — HK$'000
BRA= BEH =
(%) ) ]S TR (%) HIEA TET
Non-current E[:01):
Bank loans HTED HIBOR+1.45 2026 109,348 HIBOR+1.45 2025- 194,756
— secured ~ Bif#E EARTRE 2026
FE+1.45
Total 4@zt 323,253 288,312
2024 2023
—EmE —ZTT=F
HKS$’000 HK$'000
F#ET FET
Analysed info: PAR il
Bank and other loans repayable: R THIHARBER 2 IRITREMERR .
Within one year or on demand —FRHIZEREERE 213,905 93,556
In the second year B 109,348 81,985
In the third fo fifth years, inclusive E-EFLF (BFEEFE) - 112,771
Total 4Bt 323,253 288,312
less: Amount classified as current portion 8 : 5l BIHAZE A BIE %8 (213,905) (93,5506)
Amount classified as non-current portion Il 2 IERNEAER DAY EZE 109,348 194,756

Notes:

(@) The above bank and other loans amounting to
HK$100,922,000 (2023: HK$246,554,000) and
HK$222,331,000 (2023: HK$41,758,000) are

denominated in Hong Kong dollars and Renminbi, respectively.

(b)  Except for the bank loans of HK$43,830,000 as at 31
December 2024 (2023: HK$41,758,000), the Group's bank
loans are secured by:

[)  mortgages over the Group's investment property
situated in Hong Kong of HK$79,000,000 (2023:
HK$92,000,000J; and

[i)  morgages over the Group's building of HK$2,310,000
(2023: HK$2,411,000) and the corresponding right-
of-use asset of a land of HK$10,800,000 (2023:
HK$11,272,000), respectively.

ik

(a)

(b)

EiRTTREMEFTUB TR AR
EE 2N FIA 100,922,000 1
(ZE =% 24@554000,%75)
222,331,000 T (=8 ==
41,758,000) o

ﬁﬁiv_m$+ B=+—BZIE17
B %8 »43,830,0008 T (= F
=4 :41,758 ooo,%rc) Gh > REE
BT SRITE R R AT -

i) USEBMUREBNREYENIL
479,000,000 8T (ZE_=
£ :92,000,000%7T) 5 M

(i) K%l@%&—iﬁif&m*ﬁ

%ﬁ@ EEMNKT DR
2,310,000 T (Z & = = F:
24]] 000 /%TG)EZ 0,800,000
%ﬁ(:gi: 11,272,000
/%TD)O
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25. Interest-bearing Bank and Other
BOI’POWiIlgS (continued)

Notes: [continued)

(c)

(d)

()

Embry Holdings Limited 22575 5%

As at 31 December 2024, bills receivable of RMB83,000,000
lequivalent to HK$88,298,000) were discounted to banks in
exchange for cash (2023: Nil).

As at 31 December 2024, the Group discounted certain
bills receivable received from the infra-group companies (the
"Discounted Bills”) with a carrying amount of RMB83,000,000
lequivalent to HK$88,298,000) (2023: Nil) to banks in
Mainland China for cash. In the opinion of the directors of the
Company, the Group has retained the substantial risks and
rewards, which include default risks relating to the Discounted
Bills, and accordingly, it confinued to recognise the full carrying
amount of the Discounted Bills, which were eliminated in full on
consolidation, and the respective bank advance for discounted
bills under the Group's “Interest-bearing bank and other
borrowings”. Subsequent to the discounting, the Group does
not refain any rights on the use of the Discounted Bills, including
sale, transfer or pledge of the Discounted Bills to any other third
parties. The aggregate carrying amount of the bank advance
for discounted bills recognised due to the Discounted Bills was
HK$88,298,000 as at 31 December 2024 (2023: Nil).

As at 31 December 2024, non-current portion of inferest-
bearing bank loans of HK$109,348,000 are subject o
financial covenants which require that at any time, the Group's
consolidated tangible net worth is not less than and the ratio of
borrowings to consolidated tangible net worth is not more than
certain required levels, and the amount of dividends declared or
paid by the Company does not exceed certain percentage of the
Group's net profif after fax for the year. The Group is not aware
of any difficulties in complying with these financial covenants in
the next 12 months from the year end date.

Subsequent fo the end of the reporting pericd, in February 2025,
the Group renewed the repayment terms of the secured bank
loans of HK$ 191,125,000 to repayment periods from 2025 to
2030.

FAF] / Annual Report F#R 2024

25. wt B R AT B At i 3k

et -

(c)

(d)

#)

RIEZWE+—B=+—H ElK
=T 4 A R #83,000,0007T (8 & i
88,298,000 7t) BEALIR FIRTTLUAER
iﬁ% (ZB-=F:.Mm) o

A TE_ME+"A=+—H &&H
AR EE A A RH83,000,0007T (HHE
ﬁ’\88 298,000#87T) (ZE-=%F: &)
ETEREREENRT ZBRERE (TH
iﬁ%%ﬁ BEIRF HREIAy#th 2 $R 1T DUAEY
BE - ARBEFERS ~EBREE
RERREER (BERRRRIEARZE
WER) > FHit > AEBEERDILIRE
BRI EERGEREREZH
B o WRAEE 5 RBTRAME
U B THESBRL IR RIR 2 ARRIIRITER o
RERE > AEETERBEREREZK
ERIARBEZER > SERAEMEMSE
ZHHE BRAERZEMRER -
RIZZZWME+ZF=+—H AR
EiEmAEsE  MIRERRIRITR )\EEE@
48%E 288,298,000 T (ZE 2=

) o

RZEZMNFE+Z8=+—H st 2R
TTETAZ;EOIL%J::ZBQ 09,348,000 7T

RUBRERIR > ZFMBEERER
T?cﬁﬁf‘ﬁﬁ%Z%?é FRERLDR

BEREGREATFEZLEERFIENE
FREKF » URAERBEREZTZ
REZBABBERERFEFRREALF
ZETEDL - BAEEMA » BF#E
HEEsTRR 12188 W@ T2 E M #5258
A AT I RS

RB|EMARE ZEEAR S -HFZ
B 191,1250008 2 BIRIFRITE
ﬁZlﬁTAHﬂL%%—V—EE?—g:
B
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26. Other Payables and Accruals

26. L A JE AF ik JH B E w1 sk H

2024 2023

—ElmE —T_-=fF

Notes HK$’000 HK$'000
Ktz FHET FET

Other payables H AT FRIE (a) 46,992 54,709

Accruals FEETERIE 79,077 100,397

Contract liabilities HHBEE (b) 10,947 10,851

Total “ast 137,016 165,957

less: Amount classified as current portion 78 : 1|2 ENHAER A B 58 (134,762) (163,703)

Amount classified as non-current portion 1) BNEBZR(R U %8 2,254 2,254

Notes: BfeE -

(@)  The amounts of HK$169,000 (2023: HK$3,696,000) o) XXEBREMENSKEMESEDN
included in other payables of the Group were due fo related 169,000 87T (ZE =4 : 3,696,000
companies as at 31 December 2024. These balances were BT AR ZE_MFE+"B=+—H
unsecured, inferestfree and repayable in accordance with FERAE R T ZIE o ZFEARARID
normal frading terms (note 13(al(i)). N BEKREZ—REBKRIER (M

13[alfi))
Other payables are non-inferestbearing. HMEARIERA TR o
(b)  As at 31 December 2023 and 31 December 2024, the b)) RZE2EZ=F+Z"ZB=+—HMZ=Z

contract liabilities included deferred revenue arising from the
loyalty points VIP programme of the Group and short-term
advances received from customers for the sale of goods of
HK$10,851,000 and HK$ 10,947,000, respectively.

“HE+ZRA=+T—H’> aNaEER
73 5110,851,000# 7540 10,947,000 7%
TEEFEEREEHEESHEESE
BYIRIE W DU L 84 & fm ) & R LY
AURZRAZAAR o
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27. Deferred Tax

The movements in deferred tax liabilities/(assets) during the

year are as follows:

Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)

75 e 2 W 5 ()
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27 . 9% 4t B IH

FRIELEREERE(BE) #FH0T -

Temporary Withholding
difference faxes on Temporary Tox losses
arising from undistributed ~ difference of availoble
the Unrealised profits on impairment, for offsetting
Revaluation Relocation profitof  Mainland China provisions against future
of properfies  Arrangement inventories subsidiaries ~ and accruals Others  taxable profits Total
10 AR
HEMBAR Bk RRERR
WEsHEE e RER fEstaoa it 5
NRE( ZERES 34 B ZERES Eft g At
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$000 HK$000 HK$000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$000
TEn TEn THn T#n THn FHn THn THn
At T January 2023 RZE-=%-F-H 12,564 104,504 [24,036) 26,905 (49,735 (130) (19,783 50,289
Deferred fox debied fo equity ~ ERERRINGZ
duing the year EXERE 2407 = = = = = = 2407
Deferred fox charged/[crediied)  EREMERINR/
fo the income siafement (%) Z BB
duing the year fnole 12] (i 12) 7 = (3,836] 1,444 3712 817 [23,446) [21,087)
Poyments during the yeor Rz = = = (1,444) = 731) = 2,175)
Exchange relignment ERsE (303) 2297) 570 (592) 725 52) 689 1262
At 31 December 2023 RIBZ=E
+-A=+-H 14,888 102,207 27,302) 26,313 (45,298) (96) (42,540) 28172
At T January 2024 RZZ-mE-B-A 14,888 102,207 (27,302 26,313 (45,298 (%) (42,540) 28172
Deferied fox debied fo equity ~ EREBEIIRZ
during e year BT 835 = = = = = = 835
Deferred fox charged/[crediied] £ MR/
fo the income siafement (%) Z BB
during the year fnole 12] (HzE12) (7,559) (9,864) (1,201) 46 2,621 697 (8,277) (23,59)
Reversol of deferred fox ossels  LUATEEREAM
recognised in prior years EfGHEESD
fnote 12) (Hz12) = = = - - - 2849 28490
Paymen's during fhe year ERR AT - - - (4.231) - (547) = (4.778)
Exchange realignment ERAE (193] (3,052) 898 (750) 851 (24) 2,162 (108)
At 31 December 2024 RIBTmE
+ZA=1-H 1917 89,91 (27,665) 21378 (41,826) 30 (20,165} 29,020
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27. Deferred Tax (continved) 27 EREBIH (1)
The following is an analysis of the deferred tax balances of the UTAEAEERMFERRME ZIRERIE
Group for financial reporting purposes: MEER DT
2024 2023
“BINE T =fF
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET THET
Net deferred fax assets recognised in the RSB RER 2
consolidated statement of financial position TPIRIEIRIEE A (74,169) (98,499
Net deferred fax liabilities recognised in the  RARE B RRER 2
consolidated statement of financial position FIRERIAG R 103,189 126,671
Net deferred tax liabilities FRIERIEEE 29,020 28,172
The Group has tax losses arising in Hong Kong of ~EBREBELEZ fﬁ B E? B4

approximately HK$495,251,000 (2023: HK$471,735,000)
that are available indefinitely for offsetting against future
taxable profits of the companies in which the losses arose.
The Group also has tax losses arising in Mainland China
of approximately HK$236,690,000 (2023: Nil) that will
expire in one to five years for offsetting against future taxable
profits, and tax losses arising in Macau of approximately
HK$3,177,000 (2023: HK$2,326,000) that will expire in
three years for offsetting against future taxable profits. Deferred
fax assefs have not been recognised in respect of these losses
as they have arisen in the Company and subsidiaries that
have been loss-making for some time and it is not considered
probable that taxable profits will be available against which
the tax losses can be utilised.

The Group is liable for withholding taxes on dividends
distributed by those subsidiaries estobhshed in the PRC in
respect of earnings generated from 1 January 2008. The
applicable rate is 5% or 10% for the Group. In estimating the
withholding taxes on dividends expected to be distributed by
those subsidiaries established in the PRC in respect of earnings
generated from 1 January 2008, the directors have made
assessments based on the facfors which included the dividend
policy and the level of capital and working capital required for
the Group's operations in the foreseeable future.
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495251,000% w( —Z & Z = F:
471,735,000/%71:)T%BE&H@H&%FE
EHR AR Z RRERMRIEH] - AEBTRE
FhE K REE IR RAY 236,690,000 74
T(CETZF 1 E) RR—ELFRE
w o EIEEEARRIER A > R RPIE
4FRIEE18 3,177,000 8T (T2 =4 :
2,326,000787%) > R =FAN@Ewm > I
HELBBABRRERIRGT o AIZ
FBETREBERFEBRE —BREREZAR
TE’ZW}%/&TE%&D AR EEN SR BRI
m A A HENBIRTARE » A EZFES
EREDIELERIAEE ©

REBAMZ TR PER BN EAT B
“EEN\F-A—HEEENENMDIK
BB BZRBMATAITR - REERBEAREK
73 5% 8% 10% o fiy 51 8% 35 B 7 [ A% 32 B9 Ff
BAREHRML T N\F—H—BIEFR
EENBNMY KR SENRE » £
BIREBEEEREBRIAEEN A RR K
REMBENEAREEERKTEEREE
S ©
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27. Deferred Tax (continved)

At 31 December 2024, the aggregate withholding tax
amount arising from the temporary differences associated with
these subsidiaries in Mainland China for which deferred tax
liabilities have not been recognised fotalled approximately

HK$18,091,000 (2023: HK$22,167,000).

There are no income fax consequences atfaching to the
payment of dividends by the Company fo its shareholders.

27. W HE B E (1)
ATE_NE+_B=+—H #%
3 72 HR 3 K BaE B9 B JB8 - B) AE R T o FiE 57
EERESENERFEINRAEZEZRE
H4518091,008 T (Z ==
22,167,0003#7T) o

. 0> 84 48

/A E LR BTRA B 8 R 25
EBRRBHBE o

28. Share Capital 28. kA
2024 2023
—E-mE -—T—=#
HKS’000 HK$'000
F#ET FET
Authorised: ETE
1,000,000,000 ordinary shares of 1,000,000,000 &= mEE
HK$0.01 each 0.01 BT iER 10,000 10,000
Issued and fully paid: BERITARERE !
422,416,638 (2023: 422,416,638 422,416,638 (CE =4 :
ordinary shares of HK$0.01 each 422,416,638 %) EEE
0.01 BrohIEER 4,224 4,224

29. Reserves

The amounts of the Group's reserves and the movements
therein for the current and prior years are presented in the
consolidated statement of changes in equity of the financial
sfatements.

The contributed surplus of the Group represents (i) the excess
of the nominal value of the shares of the subsidiaries acquired
pursuant to the reorganisation of certain members of the Group
which took place on 31 December 1992, over the nominal
value of issued shares of Embry Group Limited ("EGL") in
exchange therefor; (i) the premium arising from the shares
issued by EGL for setlement of the amount due to the ultimate
holding company of HK$15,841,000; (iii] the premium
arising from the acquisition of Embry (H.K.) Limited (“Embry
HK") from the non-controlling interests of HK$5,000,000; and
(iv) the excess of the nominal value of the share capital of the
subsidiaries acquired pursuant to the group reorganisation,
over the nominal value of the share capital of the Company
issued in exchange therefor and the then existing 10,000,000
shares of HK$0.01 each credited as fully paid at par.
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29. Reserves (continved) 29. i &)
In accordance with the relevant regulations applicable in the RAR P EARARRARR G > AR IRHE
PRC, subsidiaries of the Company established in the PRC are AR IR B A B AR HE TR D HEAIERR
required to transfer a certain percentage of their profits affer ®imd (MNA) EERRIELEF 2 KA
fax, if any, fo the enterprise expansion and statutory reserve BECEBEREICHERES B3R H
funds, which are non-distributable, before profit distributions DIK) c BENEREBEFTZENBATN
fo shareholders. The amounts of the transfers are subject fo the EEGHERTIMEE ©

approval of the boards of directors of these subsidiaries.

The Group applied the transitional provision of HKFRS 3 which FEBESRBEBMBREENE 35N
permits goodwill in respect of acquisitions which occurred WEREY ) A _EE—F—HA—HA
prior fo 1 January 2001, to remain eliminated against the ETWBEENEmEERFERaRE
consolidated reserves. The amount of goodwill remaining NEE -  RERGERERNE T —
in consolidated reserves, arising from the acquisition of F-A—HAKWEBNBAIEENEE
subsidiaries prior to 1 January 2001, was stated at cost, SREREASME RS2 _NE+_H
which amounted to HK$3,168,000 (2023: HK$3,168,000) =+—H#%3,168,0008T(ZE =% :
as at 31 December 2024. 3,168,000 #7T) °

30. Share Option Scheme 30. 1 B BE w1 3
The Company has adopted a share option scheme on 28 RRABNZZBZBFRR "+ /\ BN
May 2020 (the ""Share Option Scheme”) for the purpose of RSt (TRERRESTE)) » UmAaRER
providing incentives and rewards to eligible participants who MR IHEH BRI & B8 2 M E R HERE
confribute fo the success of the Group's operations. Fe#EE o
Share Option Scheme BBt &
Eligible participants of the Share Option Scheme include BRESINGERSHEEREIEAR
(i) any employee (whether full time or part time, including 8] ~ HNE A B S PrE A B B E R 25
directors but excluding any non-executive director) of the HEBES (BIEES > BFEFEEME
Company, ifs subsidiaries or invested entfity; (i) any non- HITESF) ; li|xAE -~ HNB A B ST
executive directors (including independent non-executive CERNBIRERIFRITES (BEBILIF
directors) of the Company, its subsidiaries or invested entity; (iii) HITESE) ; (i) SNEBHAIRE AT NE
any supplier or customer of the Group or any invested entfity; FEERZED ; (iVERARERIE
(iv) any person or entity that provides research, development RIPFIRE AT IR ~ FE s E il
or other technological support to the Group or any invested SENEASRE ; kv AEEEAR
entity; and (v) any shareholder of any member of the Group BRBHMREATNEAKE A EE
or any invested entity or any holder of any securities issued by Eﬁﬁﬁﬁ@ﬂ IR B A B P 3 1T E A
any member of the Group or any invested entity. The Share BENFAEA  c BREABN _ZZF
Option Scheme became effective on 28 May 2020 and, _:EL)%_‘F/\EEEAZ FRIEMSEIH DB LE »
unless otherwise cancelled or amended, will remain in force SR BEMRRERTFEE_S=SF1H
for a period of fen years to 27 May 2030. “+tH-
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30. Share OptiOIl Scheme (continved)

Share Option Scheme (continued)

The maximum number of shares to be issued upon the exercise
of all outstanding options granted and yet to be exercised
under the Share Option Scheme and any other share option
scheme of the Group must not in aggregate exceed 30% of
the shares of the Company in issue at any time. The maximum
number of shares issuable under share options to each eligible
participant in the Share Option Scheme within any 12-month
period, is limited to 1% of the shares of the Company in issue
at any time. Any further grant of share opfions in excess of
this limit is subject to shareholders’ approval in a general
meeting. Share options granted to a direcfor, chief executive
or substantial shareholder of the Company, or to any of
their associates, are subject to approval in advance by the
independent non-executive directors of the Company.

In addition, any share options granted to a substantial
shareholder or an independent non-executive director of the
Company, or to any of their associates, in excess of 0.1% of
the shares of the Company in issue at any time and with an
aggregate value (based on the closing price of the Company’s
shares at the date of the grant] in excess of HK$5,000,000,
within any 12-month period, are subject to shareholders’
approval in advance in a general meeting.

The offer of a grant of share options may be accepted within
28 days from the date of offer, upon payment of a nominal
consideration of HK$1 in total by the grantee. The exercise
period of the share options granted is deferminable by the
direcfors, which period may commence from the date of the
offer of the share options, and ends on a dafe which is not
later than ten years from the date of the offer of the share
options or the expiry date of the Share Option Scheme, if
earlier.

The exercise price of the share options is deferminable by the
directors, but shall not be less than the highest of (i) the closing
price of the Company’s shares as quoted on daily quotations
sheet of the Stock Exchange on the date of the offer of the
share options; (i) the average closing prices of the Company’s
shares as quoted on the Stock Exchange’s daily quotations
sheets for the five trading days immediately preceding the date
of offer; and (iii) the nominal value of the Company’s shares.
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30. Share Opti()ll Scheme (continved)

Share Option Scheme (continued)

There are no cash setlement alternatives. The Group does not
have a past practice of cash setlement for these share options.
The Group accounts for the Share Option Scheme as an
equity-setiled plan.

Share options do not confer rights on the holders to dividends
or to vofe at shareholders” meetings.

Set out below are the outstanding share options under the

30. i B HE 5t B @)
FEietEst 2l (4
REEEURSAEE o AEEBEL L
REFEEZEMAM - AEESBRME
PN S NENES ek T

FERR M A TR AR B S AR R
KRG ERREHRER]

MTF&EINN _E_MFE+_—_B=+—H
RRIESTEITR T i RITERIMEARAE -

Share Option Scheme as af 31 December 2024

Number of share options
BRESR
At Granted lopsed ~ Concelled  Exercised At Exercise price of
Vanvary ~~ during during  during the during 31 December Date of grant of Exercise period of share options
Name or category of parficipant 2024 theyear  theyear year  theyear 2024 share opfions share options® HKS per share!!
RZE-mE RIE-mE BRETER
SHEHRNER -A-B EARY  ER%R EARE  ERRE +ZRS+-B ERESLED BT ShERT
Execufive directors e
Madom Ngok Ming Chu Es%LT 1,300,000 - - - - 1,300,000 30 December 2020 30 December 2021 fo 1.02
“ERELCAS1A 29 December 2025
T2C-E+TA=HAE
“BCREFCACTAA
Ms. Cheng Pk Holiza g2yt 1,220,000 = - = = 1,220,000 30 December 2020 30 December 2021 o 102
TZCRELIAS1H 29 December 2025
“ZC-HtCAS1HE
“ETRETZACTAR
M. Cheng Chuen Chuen BE2gE 295,000 - - - - 295,000 30 December 2020 30 December 2021 o 102
“ZCRELIASHH 29 December 2025
“EC-EtCAS1RE
ZECRFTCACHAA
Ms. Ly Qun EHLT 665,000 - - - - 665,000 30 December 2020 30 December 2021 fo 102
ZZCEETAS1H 29 December 2025
ZE-EPAZ1RE
ZECREFCACTNA
Independent non-execufive directors ~ BiIEHITES
Mr. lau Siv Ki AERE 100,000 - - - - 100,000 30 December 2020 30 December 2021 to 102
2 a2 | 29 December 2025
TRC-E+IRZHRE
“ECREFCACNA
M. Lee Kwan Hung B3]y 100,000 - - - - 100,000 30 December 2020 30 December 2021 to 102
Z2TZE+TR=1H 29 December 2025
TRC-E+TRSHRE
“ECRE+CACNA
Prof. lee T.5. SREHR 100,000 - - - - 100,000 30 December 2020 30 December 2021 to 1.02
“ECRELCASTA 29 December 2025
ZZC-E1CPAZ1HE
ZECRETIACTAA
Substanial shareholder and IERFERE
his associate BRA
M. Cheng Man Tai ¥ BEELED 1,430,000 - - - - 1,430,000 30 December 2020 30 December 2021 to 102
|deceased) (E%) “2-2&+-F=+A 29 December 2025
TRC-E+TASHRE
ZECREFCACNA
Ms. Cheng Tsz Kwan' gemytu 185,000 - - - - 185,000 30 December 2020 30 December 2021 fo 1.02
ki gl 29 December 2025
T2C-E£+TA=HAE
ZBCREFCACTAE
Other employees ftifES
In aggregate ot 12,060,000 - [135,000) - - 11,925,000 30 December 2020 30 December 2021 fo 102
TZTRELIASHH 29 December 2025
“EC-HtCAS1HE
"B RETCACTAR
17455000 ~ 300 - T 173000
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30. Share Option Scheme (continved)

Share Option Scheme (continued)
Notes:

(1)

(2)

(3)

(4)

The closing price of the shares of the Company immediately
before the date of grant of the share options was HK$1.00.

Share options granted under the Share Option Scheme shall
vest in the granfees in accordance with the timefable below:

—  30% of such options were vested on 30 December
2021 with an exercise period from 30 December 2021
to 29 December 2025;

—  30% of such options were vested on 30 December
2022 with an exercise period from 30 December 2022
to 29 December 2025; and

—  the remaining 40% of such options were vested on
30 December 2023 with an exercise period from 30
December 2023 to 29 December 2025.

The late Mr. Cheng Man Tai had been the consultant of the
Company and the spouse of Madam Ngok Ming Chu.

According to the rules of the Share Option Scheme, in the
event that the grantee ceases o be a participant by reason of
death, the legal personal representativels) of this grantee shall
be entifled within a period of 12 months from the date of death
[or such longer period as the Board may defermine| fo exercise
the option (to the extent which has become exercisable and not
already exercised).

Ms. Cheng Tsz Kwan is the Senior Sales and Marketing
Manager and granddaughter of the late Mr. Cheng Man Tai
and Madam Ngok Ming Chu.
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30. Share OptiOIl Scheme (continved)

Share Option Scheme (continued)

The following share options were outstanding under the Share

30. 1% Jie BE 5T 81 ()
FEietEstEl (4
ST A4 PORSAR AT BUIE T 1 SR AT (ERO RS

Option Scheme during the year: Pt
2024 2023
—E_MmE “BC=F
Weighted Weighted
average average
exercise exercise
price price
Ty INAEF13
T6EE TEE
HKS Number HK$ Number
per share of options per share of options
Sl fEREHE BRET BREUE
At T January nr—RA—H 1.02 17,455,000 1.02 18,090,000
lapsed during the year F R 1.02 (135,000) 1.02 (635,000)
At 31 December n+ZB=+—H 1.02 17,320,000 1.02 17,455,000

No share options were granted under the Share Option

Scheme during the year (2023: Nil).

The Company recognised a share option expense of

FRTEREBRESERDERE (T

TT-FIE) o

70N

HE_E-_=—F+-A=1+—HIFE>

HK$413,000 during the year ended 31 December 2023.

At the end of the reporting period, the Company had
17,320,000 share options outstanding under the Share
Option Scheme. The exercise in full of share options would,
under the present capital structure of the Company, result
in issue of 17,320,000 additional ordinary shares of the
Company and additional share capital of approximately
HK$173,000 and share premium account of approximately
HK$ 17,493,000 [before issue expenses).

At the date of approval of these financial statements, the
Company had 17,320,000 share options outstanding under
the Share Opfion Scheme, which represented approximately
4.10% of the Company's shares in issue as af that date.

AT MESDIEIRFIZ 413,000 BT ©

REEER > ZABNBRESEIRETA
17,320,000 BB B #E 1 RAT M © IRIF A
ABRITERGERE » BHITEERITER
FBIREREHEITEAIN 7,320,000 7
ANBEBRRERINRAL 173,000 BT K
R1n & E17,493,0008 T (Rt &E1TH
SZAf) o

RABHZREREHLEER A28 AF
17,320,00017 fE ie tE 51 8T8 T B9 B A
HAR1TE > HEREBNARATEETR
A#94.10% ©
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31. Commitments 31. %%
At the end of the reporting period, the Group had the REIRSHEEER - XEBZFTHEIEN
following contractual commitments: T
2024 2023
—EBImE T =F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET THET
Acquisition of property, plant and equipment  BEEY% « ME KRR E 102,346 105,725
32. Contingent Liabilities 32. KA AR
At the end of the reporting period, confingent liabilities not E?%E%,HHEE » MFFRARP A EEHEREE
provided for in the financial statements were as follows: HARBMT
2024 2023

—ECNE —ZT_=4F
HK$’000 HK$'000

FHET FHET
Bank guarantees given in lieu of property ABREYEBERE R ALK
rental deposits and ufility deposits S FTIZ 2 $RITIER 646 646
33. Notes to the Consolidated Statement 3 3. % & Bl & il 5 % W it
of Cash Flows
(a) During the year, the Group had non-cash additions (o) R ZEERVEREHEE
to right-of-use assets and lease liabilities of ZHNEREEERBEESRIE
HK$29,257,000 (2023: HK$44,373,000) and BERE DR A29,257,000% 7T
HK$29,257,000 (2023: HK$44,373,000), (ZZ =4 1:44,373,0007% 75)
respectively, in respect of lease arrangements for F%2 29,257, 0008 T (ZE =
properties and stores. 44,373,00087T) °
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33. Notes to the Consolidated Statement

of Cash Flows (confinued)

33. 55 B W8 LW @

(b)  Changes in liabilities arising from financing activities h) RMEIHELEEE

Interest-

bearing bank

lease and other

liabilities borrowings

FHEIRTT

HEaE KEMER

HK$'000 HK$'000

FHET FET

At 1 January 2023 W_E_=F—H—H 56,577 327,472

Changes from financing cash flows MERSRNEEH (44,822) (56,641)

New leases wAE 44,373 -

Termination of leases ®IFME (3,181) -

Interest expenses FEBY 2,478 17,481
Covid-19-related rent concessions EHEAIRMEE Covid-19%15

from lessors HENEEER (273) -

Exchange realignment E R FHEE (1,131) -
At 31 December 2023 and RIE_=F+"_HA=+—H

1 January 2024 R_E_WE—H—H 54,021 288,312

Changes from financing cash flows RERS B (41,663) 20,871

New leases RS 29,257 -

Termination of leases #KIEFRE (2,386) -

Interest expenses FERL 2,280 15,403

Exchange realignment bE R EE (1,328) (1,333)

At 31 December 2024 PR _E_NFE+_A=+—H 40,181 323,253

(c)  Total cash outflow for leases

(c)

The total cash outflow for leases included in the statement

HERE RN AL

SEAREAERNEERE AL

of cash flows is as follows: ZBUNTF -
2024 2023
—EIlmE —T_=fF
HKS’000 HK$'000
F#ET FHET
Within operating acfivities K TEE 209,728 245,787
Within financing activities B EFHR 41,663 44,822
Total 4Bt 251,391 290,609
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34. Financial Instruments by Category 34. BN B 2 &k T H
The carrying amounts of each of the categories of financial RS HEEEHS RS T ANKREE
instruments as at the end of the reporting period are as follows: mr:
Financial assets EHMEE

Financial assets at
amortised cost

-~

-

&

HissH At EZ
EMEE
2024 2023
—EomE T =F
HK$000 HK$'000
FHET FET
Trade receivables FEW & 5 BR R 38,015 45,204
Financial assets included in prepayments, PIBTANRIE HEK

deposits and other receivables HABWGRIE SRS E 29,296 29,888
Cash and cash equivalents HeRIESZEY) 163,434 283,610
Total HaET 230,745 358,702

Financial liabilities

TRaE

Financial liabilities at
amortised cost

ISR AT EZ
ERAE
2024 2023
—EME —“T"=F
HK$’000 HK$’000
F#ET FET
Inferestbearing bank and other borrowings st ESRTT R EfhfE TR 323,253 288,312
Lease liabilities HEaE 40,181 54,021
Trade and bills payable FET B 5 AR FE T R4 39,020 69,124
Financial liabilities included in other B EEREMENTIEK

payables and accruals FEstTIEz SRa s 70,535 97,363
Totdl st 472,989 508,820
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35. Financial Risk Management

35. B % B b A B H B K BOR

Objectives and Policies

The Group's principal financial instruments comprise cash,
short-term deposits and interest-bearing bank and other
borrowings. The main purpose of these financial instruments
is to raise finance for the Group's operations. The Group
has various other financial assefs and liabilities such as trade
receivables and trade and bills payable, which arise directly
from its operations.

The main risks arising from the Group's financial instruments
are interest rate risk, foreign currency risk, credit risk and
liquidity risk. The directors review and agree policies for
managing each of these risks and they are summarised below.

Interest rate risk

Cash flow inferest rate risk is the risk that the future cash flows
of a financial instrument will fluctuate because of changes in
market interest rates. The Group is exposed to both fair value
and cash flow interest rate risks. The Group's exposure to
market risk for changes in interest rates relates primarily to the
Group's bank borrowings with floating inferest rates.

At present, the Group does nof infend to hedge ifs exposure
fo interest rate fluctuations. However, the Group will constantly
review the economic situation and its interest rate risk profile,
and will consider appropriate hedging measures in future as
may be necessary.

At 31 December 2024, the loss before tax of the Group
would have been increased/decreased by approximately
HK$ 1,616,000 (2023: HK$1,442,000) if the interest rate
had been increased/decreased by 50 basis points with all
other variables held constant.

FEBEZTESHTACERS  BHF
st BIRTTREMMER - ILFERTH
TEANRATERKEEHTHE - A8
BEHMTRATMEERER  NEWE
PIRARNENEZRRREMNRE > TV E
BBRBKEEBEE -

FEESRMTI A FTERMBATRRRE
SNERRR - EERRAABERZRAR - &
SERTHEEZEU LS ERRR ZBER
ERERMIT -

B
RERENXARAEM T ARRRER
ERTHAEREECMRBVER - AEH
FIR AR AFERIBERENEER &
EEPAZHXECHTIBEE 0 TE2H
RERBFFHNXGENRITERER ©

BT NEEEEHIPTARZ IR
B) o 28T > ANEEER EHRET BRI
HFREBRR  TEEEHREEHRE
Bt iE RV hE o

M= _EF RS0 EEL - ArA EtEA
EZREAE RIE_NE+_/B=+—
B> AEBERRAIGEEBIENRL
1,616,000/ (ZE =4 : 1,442,000
BIT) ©
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35. Financial Risk Management

Objectives and Policies (continved)

Foreign currency risk

The Group carries on its sale and purchase fransactions mainly
in Hong Kong dollars and RMB. The Group does nof use
derivative financial instruments to profect against the volatility
associated with foreign currency transactions and other
financial assets and liabilities created in the ordinary course
of business. However, as the Group's net loss is reported in
Hong Kong dollars, there will be a translation gain as a result
of the RMB appreciation, and vice versa. The majority of the
Croup's operating assefs are located in Mainland China and
are denominated in RMB.

The following table demonstrates the sensitivity at the end of
the reporting period to a reasonably possible change in the
RMB exchange rafe, with all other variables held constant, of
the Group's loss before fax (due to changes in the fair value of
monetary assets and liabilities).

Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)
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35. B % B b i B H B K BUR ()

SIEE & B
FEETEUBTRARBETEER
5 o REEWEITE SR T REREHH
EEBBREZIINERZREAMERMEEK
BB 2K E) o M » ARAEEZ
EHRUBTEY  HARBIHER H2RE
Tl 0 RZINA - ZEBKRBNEEE
EIIMLF P EIARE » WIUARBIIR

TRIRRBEMMAER - EHA L
AIRREERTENIERT - AEEHR
ARSI A RISER A4 LR A EES
ZHEE (R ESEER A ENATE
28 o

Embry Holdings Limited 275K A

2024

I Hong Kong dollar weakens against RMB
If Hong Kong dollar strengthens against RMB

2023

If Hong Kong dollar weakens against RMB
If Hong Kong dollar strengthens against RMB

Increase/ Increase/
(decrease) (decrease)
in RMB rate in loss
AR before tax
EELrR B350 ]
(F:@) i&hn, GRL)
% HK$'000
FET
—TmE
HWAETREAREERE 5 (615)
HWAETREAREHE (5) 615
TEBC=H
WHAETREARERE 5 (874)
HAETREAREHE (5) 874
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35. Financial Risk Management

35. B % B b i B H B K BUR ()

Objectives and Policies (continved)

Credit risk

The Group frades only with recognised and creditworthy
customers. It is the Group's policy that all customers who
wish fo trade on credit terms are subject to credit verification
procedures. In addition, receivable balances are monitored
on an ongoing basis and on an individual basis. Each of the
customers has been attached with a trading limit and any
excess of the limit must be approved by the general manager
of the operation unit. Under the tight control of the credit terms
and defailed assessment of the creditworthiness of individual
cusfomers, the Group's exposure to bad debts is maintained af
minimal.

Maximum exposure and year-end staging

The tables below show the credit quality and the maximum
exposure fo credif risk based on the Group's credit policy,
which is mainly based on past due information unless other
information is available without undue cost or effort, and year-
end sfaging classification as at 31 December.

The amounts presented are gross carrying amounts for financial
assefs.

As at 31 December 2024

EERRE
FEBEENZREERFNETRETR
5 o REAEENER  ERARUEE
ERETRZNERIIAKBEERE
2R o ItSh » REBITFFEEREIERU
TIRAERR c AEEHRZEPRUEHIR
38 BUHIRBEZ#W ARSI ZEEU A
AEIEHEE - N AEERIEEER > 1A
HERE R ZEEFFRTL > WEAER
ZIRAR A SRR o

ERARE R F 4L A
TRETENRAEREERRNERER
EREREERE > ZEEBREEZERN
TZR=+—HEBEAHER (FRIFEM
ERBAMH T ORI AE SRR E
%) U FRDEINE o

2IEEATHEENIREEBE -

H-—E-mE+=-A=+—8H

12-month
ECLs Lifetime ECLs
12{8 B 7818
586518 2HFEMEERHE
Simplified
Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 approach Total
BI1RER B 206 FIMEER 5[ p @t
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$'000
F#7 F#E7 FEw F#r F#T
Trade receivables* FEW B SaRT * - - - 42,865 42,865
Financial assefs included in HATEMNEHIE  HER
prepayments, deposits and HitEREZIE
other receivables LHBEE
— Normal** — EE** 29,296 - - - 29,296
— Doubfful** — RER** - 7,094 - - 7,094
Cash and cash equivalents RERREEEBY
— Not yet past due — HREH 163,434 - - - 163,434
Total fast 192,730 7,094 - 42,865 242,689
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Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)
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35. Financial Risk Management
Objectives and Policies (continved)
Credit risk (continued)

Maximum exposure and year-end staging (continued)
As at 31 December 2023

35. B % B b i B H B K BUR ()

EEEE @)
AR Ezﬂiﬁf‘ﬁﬁﬁ (#)
R-E_=F+"RA=+—H

12-month
ECLs Lifetime ECLs
1216RBH
FEBR THEHEERR
Simplified
Stage | Stage 2 Stage 3 approach Tofal
% 1 IBE #2288 #IBE Btr st
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FET F#T FET FET F#7T
Trade receivables* FEWE RERAT = = = 49437 49437
Financial assefs included in SABMNEZIE BER
prepayments, deposits and H it EURIER
ofher receivables SHEE
— Normal** — g 20,888 = = = 29,888
— Doubfful** — RE** - 7328 - - 7,328
Cash and cash equivalents B4 RBELZEY
— Not yef past due — HAEH 283,610 = = = 283,610
Tofal st 313,498 7,328 = 49,437 370,263
*  For frade receivables to which the Group applies the simplified * ?j'$$?”ﬁﬁ BERETENEBWES
approach for impairment, information based on the provision ARR » BB RV E R 5 R S

matrix is disclosed in note 21 to the financial statements.

**  The credit quality of the financial assets included in

prepayments, deposits and other receivables is considered
to be “normal” when they are not past due and there is no
information indicating that the financial assefs had a significant
increase in credit risk since initial recognition. Otherwise,
the credit quality of the financial assefs is considered to be

"doubtful”.

Liquidity risk

Liquidity risk is the risk of non-availability of funds to meet
all contractual financial commitments as they fall due. The
Group's objectives are to maintain a prudent financial policy,
to monitor liquidity ratios against risk limits and to maintain
a contingency plan for funding to ensure that the Group
maintains sufficient cash to meet ifs liquidity requirement.
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35. Financial Risk Management
Objectives and Policies (continved)
Liquidity risk (continued)
The Group continued fo enjoy adequate cash position with cash
and cash equivalents amounting to HK$ 163,434,000 (2023:
HK$283,610,000) as at 31 December 2024. The Group
financed ifs operations and investment activities by internally
generated cash flows and bank and other borrowings. The
maturity profile of the Group's financial liabilities as at the end
of the reporting period, based on the confractual undiscounted
payments, was as follows:

35. B % B b i B H B K BUR ()

RBE TR (&)

R_ZE_NFE+-A=+—Q0 > ~&EE#
BEARERSZMBRMR Eﬁ%&fﬁ
EEEWA 103,434,000 T (22 2=
F 1 283,610,000/ L) ° K%@LLW
WEEZRBERRIRTREMER > HH
EERRELHRHEES - RIRSHBGE
BH  AERREBESORERMRGAEZ
THRERIARWT :

Within

1 year or
ondemand 1105 years Total

—ERE
HEREE —ERfF st

HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FET FAET

2024 —E-mE

Inferestbearing bank and other borrowings 5t B IR{T R E B 223,430 110,415 333,845
lease liabilities HEARE 30,505 13,527 44,032
Trade and bills payable BN EZRAKENRE 39,020 - 39,020
Other payables and accruals HihE [ IE R st IE 68,281 2,254 70,535
Total izt 361,236 126,196 487,432
2023 k- S

Inferestbearing bank and other borrowings 5t BIR{T R EME™ 110,501 204,138 314,639
lease liabilities HEEE 34,330 22,167 56,497
Trade and bills payable BN EZRMRENRE 69,124 - 69,124
Other payables and accruals HETIB R e B 95,109 2,254 97,363
Tofal 18t 309,004 228,559 537,623

The Group is also exposed to liquidity risk through the granting
of financial guarantees, further details of which are disclosed
in note 32 fo the financial statements.

BIBRUMHER > XEBTHBERBE
AR > HE—TFBRERMHRRKN
320
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Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)
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35. Financial Risk Management

Objectives and Policies (continved)

Capital management

The Group manages ifs capital to ensure that the Group will
be able to confinue as a going concem while maximising the
retun to the owners through the optimisation of the debt and
equity balance where appropriate. No change was made

in the objectives, policies or processes for managing capital
during the years ended 31 December 2024 and 2023.

The capital structure of the Group consists of net debt which
includes bank and other borrowings and equity attributable
fo owners of the Company. Equity atfributable to owners of
the Company comprises issued share capital and reserves as
disclosed in the consolidated statement of changes in equity.

The Company monitors capital using a gearing ratio, which
is total bank and other borrowings divided by the equity
aftributable to owners of the Company. The gearing ratios as
at the end of the reporting periods were as follows:

35. B % B b i B H B K BUR ()

BEXEE
AEESEEEANURGRAERESES
B BRTEEERERE LER RS
BRNBER) BEEANLREER K o
REE_Z_=FKRK_ZT_NFE+_H
=+—HIEFE > EBEAZBE Y BXK
W2 S H) o

FEBENERUEEH FRATEER
TREMERR T AT ER NEILRE
EREHEA NEBERECSEGRS DS
RFTRBHIE S ITIRA R ©

AT EBEEGRILRRE (AIRTTR
HAERABERFR U A A B A AFEEARE)
BEEEA - RBESHARBEERRLRD
T

2024 2023
—ECNE T =F
HKS’000 HK$'000
FET FET

Inferestbearing bank and other borrowings

stREIRTT R E A

323,253 288,312

Equity affributable to owners
of the Company

AT R ANE G D

1,722,552 2,158,382

Gearing ratio BEAEBHXR

18.8% 13.4%
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36. Statement of Financial Position of 36. 7 2 7 B4 5 ik P %
the Company
Information about the statement of financial position of the TRATEREHARI BRI T

Company at the end of the reporting period is as follows:

2024 2023
—ECME T _—F
HKS’000 HK$'000

FE FET
NON-CURRENT ASSETS EREBEE
Interests in subsidiaries R B A G Z Em 905,662 911,692
CURRENT ASSETS RBEE
Prepayments FAFRIE 264 86
Cash and cash equivalents HeRIESZEY) 280 282
Total current assets MBEERAE 544 368
CURRENT LIABILITIES hEAE
Other payables and accruals HithE B ESt R IE 1,902 2,240
Net current liabilities MEIBEFE (1,358) (1,872)
Net assefs BEESE 904,304 009,820
EQUITY g
Share capital s 4,224 4,224
Reserves (Note) =5 (Hfat) 900,080 005,596
Total equity A e 904,304 Q09,820
Note: MaE -
A summary of the Company's reserves is as follows: RREREBEREWNT
Share
premium Contributed  Share option Retained
account surplus reserve profits Total
R HER EQRR FRiRRERE fREis it
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FET FET FHT FET
At 1 Jonuary 2023 RZE_=%—F—H 386,512 381,248 3,055 141,372 912,187
Loss for the year and fofal FEFBEREEIERRAE
comprehensive expenses for the year - - - [7,004) 7,004
Share options lapsed BIRERN - - (73 75 -
Equitysetled share option armangements REEERERERH = = 413 = 413
At 31 December 2023 RIB-=F+-B=+-H
and 1 January 2024 kR-E-_mE—-B—H 386,512 381,248 3,393 134,443 905,596
Loss for the year and totcl FEFBREESERSASE
comprehensive expenses for the year - - - (5,516) (5,516)
Share options lapsed IR - - (26) 26 -
At 31 December 2024 RZE_ME+_A=+—H 386,512 381,248 3,367 128,953 900,080
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36.

37.

Embry Ho|o||ngs Limited &5

Statement of Financial Position of
the Company (continved)
Note: (Continued)

The contributed surplus of the Company represents the excess of
the then net assefs of the subsidiaries acquired by the Company
pursuant to the group reorganisation, over the nominal value of the
share capital of the Company issued in exchange therefor and the
then existing 10,000,000 shares of HK$0.01 each credited as
fully paid at par. Under the Companies Act of the Cayman Islands,
the share premium and confributed surplus may be distributed to the
shareholders of the Company, provided that immediately following
the date on which the dividend is proposed fo be distributed, the
Company will be in a position to pay off its debts as and when they
fall due in the ordinary course of business.

Particulars of Principal Subsidiaries

Particulars of the Company’s principal subsidiaries are as
follows:

36. 7 2 W) I IR P % ()

fist - ()

FRBNBHEGFHALBDREBEREHKE
NEARNEREEFHEBL AR ET
RN R AEE U REEARIIEHE
SREEOC.OI BTHNERI
BRG - REFASBESREE  ROBERK
A DIRTAATIRE > ERE
KIRREBHAR > ARABEMAREEEEATEE

#910,000,000 f&

BEEE

B E|AAEE -

37. EE W 2 7 R
AATE BB AR BEENT

Place of
incorporation/ Issued and Percentage of
regisiration and fully paid share/ equity atiributable
Name business registered capital to the Company Principal activities
ML BETRERE
%8 MR SRS iR E FATELEET AL TEEH
2024 2023
ZEomE =2 =f

Embry Asia Limited Hong Kong HK$100 100 100 Invesiment holding

ZHBEMBERAE B 100%7T BREER

Embry (Changzhou) Gaments Lid. PRC/ RMB176,200,000 100 100 Manufacture of ladies brassieres,
("Embry CZ")** Mainland China - AR# 176,200,000 7% panties,swimwear and sleepwear
ZH5 (7 H)ﬁﬁﬁﬁﬂ FRE/HEIARE and property investment
(TRFFSEIMI) ** B MEIE

PR R R ER S

Embry (China) Garments Lid. PRC/ HK$ 11,000,000 100 100 Troding of ladies’ brassieres, panties,
("Embry SZ')** Mainland China 11,000,000 %7t swimwear and sleepwear
215 (PE) FREEAR e/ TR AR BELMME I ATRREER
(T3 F) **

Embry (H.K.) Limited Hong Kong  Ordinary HK$45,000 100 100 Troding of ladies’ brassieres, panties,
("Embry HK) &E *Non-oting deferred swimwear and sleepwear and
ZH5 (BER) BIRAR HK$4,500,000 property investment
(=B EB) EiBAZ 45,0008 BEELME - A

* RS ERERIER KRR ERE
4,500,000 87T

Embry (Macau) Fashion Company Macau MOP100,000 100 100 Trading of ladies” brassieres, panties,

Limited [Embry [Macau) s 100,000 P91 swimwear and sleepwear

Pronto A Vestir, Limitada)
ZHI5 (RP9) BEARAR

175 ARAE / Annual Report F38 2024
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37. LEWE » 6 & F @)

37. Particulars of Principal Subsidiaries
(continued)

FABEEZMBABFELT @ (&

Particulars of the Company’s principal subsidiaries are as

follows: [continued)

Place of
incorporation/ Issued and Percentage of
registration and fully paid share/ equity attributable
Name business registered capital to the Company Principal activities
AT BRTRER
i AR REENE Rfn,/ &S TAREGEEE A TELEH
2024 2023
—ECmE C“ZC°=F
Embry (Shandong] Garments PRC/ US$28,000,000 100 100 Manufacture and trading of
Limited ["Embry SD"|** Mainland China 28,000,000t ladies" brassieres, panties,
ZH5 (L) REBRAT R/ HREIARE swimwear and sleepwear
(T LIsR)) ** REREEYHHE
PR KRR
Embry (Shandong| Trading Limited PRC/ RMB3,000,000 100 100 Trading of ladies’ brassieres, panties,
("Embry Trading’) Mainland China AR 3,000,0007¢ swimwear and sleepwear
ZH5 (LE) BRER R/ HREIARE BELILHE - 7 -
Gesapzi=t2N) TR BT
Embry (Shanghai) Company PRC/ HK$238,000,000 100 100 Design, research and development
Limited ["Embry SH')** Mainland China 238,000,000%7c and trading of ladies' brassieres,
ZHE (L8 BRAS R/ HREIARE panties, swimwear and sleepwear
(TREE L)) ** and property invesiment
Rt R BHEREELHM
B ~ iE KRR RER R R E
Embry (jinan| Technology Development PRC/ RMB1,000,000 100 100 Provision of services for corporate events
Limited ["Embry Development’)* ** Mainlond China ~ AE¥ 1,000,000t RIEREEBRT
ZH% (Em) BRERBRAR R/ HREIARE
( BHBHER)
Embry Garments Limited BVI USS$1 100 100 Investment holding
HERELHE 1 %70 REER
Embry Group Limited | “EGL”) BVI US$472 100 100 Investment holding
HERELHE 472%7 REER
Embry Intemnational Limited BVI Us$1 100 100 Investment holding
ZHBERBRAT HERELHE 1 %7 REER
Gallin Invesiments Limited Hong Kong HK$2 100 100 Investment holding
EEREBRAR & 2% REER
Whisfleblower Limited BVI US$1 100 100 Holding of trademarks
HEBELHE 1 %7 FEHER
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37. Particulars of Principal Subsidiaries
(continued)

* The non-oting deferred shares carry no rights to dividends (other

than for any financial year during which the net profit of Embry
HK available for dividend exceeds HK$ T,000,000,000,000),
no rights fo vote at general meetings and no rights fo receive any
surplus in refurn of capital in a winding-up in respect of the first

HK$500,000,000,000,000.

**  Embry CZ, Embry SZ, Embry SD, Embry Trading and Embry SH
are registered as whollyforeignowned enterprises under the PRC
law.

*** Embry Development is registered as a private company with

limited liability under the PRC law.

Except for EGL, all of the above subsidiaries are indirectly held
by the Company.

The above table lists the subsidiaries of the Company which,
in the opinion of the directors, principally affected the results
for the year or formed a substantial portion of the net assets of
the Group. To give defails of other subsidiaries would, in the
opinion of the directors, result in particulars of excessive length.

38. Approval of the Financial Statements

The financial statements were approved and authorised for
issue by the board of directors on 28 March 2025.
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* ERZERIELRI N EF AR
B (R 2575 & B 8] 1R S B9 FI 18
1,000,000,000,000 & 7T B9 1F fa] B L 4F
BN ~ IRIRRA & LRERISFEEF
W E 500,000,000,000,000 87T [2]

BRHIE R ER ©

O ZFEEIN S ZFEFY ~ ZFFUIR
ZHEE G RZFH L AGIIIRE B
BB EINEEE

A RRRIRTPELEGIZEMAMAE
RAE] e

PRECLSN » LHFRE B ATIRARTF
BERA o

EXRFIFATNBLRE  EFDBREZEF
MEBARETEXELFEEENBREE
EEEFENETERD c EFRA 0 = H
HthM B AR BERERREER

38. it B B W R
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